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of acquiring, holding, or disposing of Securities, including the Canadian federal income tax consequences applicable
to a foreign controlled Canadian Company that acquires Securities.
Prospective investors should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus. The Company has not
authorized anyone to provide you with different information. Readers should assume that the information appearing
in this Prospectus is accurate only as of its date, regardless of its time of delivery. The Company’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.
The Company’s head office is located at Suite 501, 543 Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 1X8 and
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GLOSSARY
As used in this Prospectus, the following terms have the respective meaning as specified below:
“9093 Quebec” means 9093-6725 Quebec Inc.;
“Acquisition Payments” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “General Development and Business of the Company
– History of the Company – Acquisition of PEMC Royalties”;
“Administrators” means the administrators of the Share Compensation Plan;
“Advance Notice Provisions” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Directors and Executive Officers – Cease Trade
Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions – Advance Notice Provisions”;
“Annual Financial Statements” means the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2019 attached hereto as 0;
“Audit Committee” means the Company’s audit committee;
“Auditors” means the Company’s independent auditors, Davidson & Company LLP;
“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia);
“Board” means the board of directors of the Company as may be constituted from time to time;
“Cantarito Claim” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “General Development and Business of the Company –
History of the Company – Acquisition of 2.0% Copper NSR on Teck/Newmont’s NuevaUnión Project”;
“Cantarito Royalty” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “General Development and Business of the Company –
History of the Company – Acquisition of 2.0% Copper NSR on Teck/Newmont’s NuevaUnión Project”;
“Cash Commission” means the cash commission paid to certain Finders in connection with the Offering, equal to 5.0% of
the gross proceeds raised by such finders, which aggregately amounted to $180,338;
“CCGC” means the Company’s compensation and corporate governance committee;
“CDS” means the engineering firm Caron, Dufour, Séguin & Associates;
“Centerra” means Centerra Gold Inc.;
“CEO” means chief executive officer;
“CFO” means chief financial officer;
“Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended;
“Common Shares” means the common shares in the capital of the Company;
“Company” or “Nova” means Nova Royalty Corp.;
“Discounted Market Price” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Share Compensation Plan, being the Market Price of
the Common Shares, less a discount of up to 25% if the Market Price is $0.50 or less; up to 20% if the Market Price is between
$2.00 and $0.51; and up to 15% if the Market Price is greater than $2.00;
“Dumont Deposit” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Acquisition of Dumont Royalty”;
“Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project” means the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt project located in the Province of Québec held 98% by
Magneto, a joint venture between Waterton Global Resource Management and Karora;

“Dumont Purchase Agreement” means the Royalty Purchase and Sale Agreement entered into on August 22, 2018 between
Nova and the Dumont Sellers, pursuant to which the Dumont sellers sold, transferred and assigned all of their right, title and
interest in the Dumont Royalty, which entitles the holder to a 2.0% NSR from nickel deposits extracted at the Dumont Deposit;
“Dumont Report” means the technical report prepared for Karora pursuant to NI 43-101 entitled “Technical Report on the
Dumont Ni Project, Launay and Trécesson Townships, Quebec, Canada” dated July 11, 2019, as amended and restated on
December 19, 2019;
“Dumont Royalty” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Acquisition of Dumont Royalty”;
“Dumont Sellers” means, together, Ressources Corbeau and 9093 Québec;
“El Morro Copper-Gold Project” means the El Morro copper-gold project located in the Atacama Region of Chile as referred
to in the El Morro Report and was the predecessor project with respect to the La Fortuna Deposit;
“El Morro Report” means the technical report prepared for Goldcorp Inc. (now known as Newmont Corporation) pursuant
to NI 43-101 entitled “El Morro Copper-Gold Project Atacama Region, Chile NI 43-101 Technical Report” with an effective
date of February 16, 2010;
“Escrow Agent” means Computershare Investor Services Inc.;
“Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement among the Company, the Principals and the Escrow Agent dated August
14, 2020, relating to the Escrowed Securities;
“Escrowed Securities” means the securities of the Company held by the Principals which are subject to escrow;
“Escrowed Shareholders” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to
Contractual Restrictions on Transfer”;
“Event of Termination” means the circumstances in which a person participating in the Share Compensation Plan will cease
to be eligible to participate, being:
(a) receipt of any notice of termination of employment or service (whether voluntary or involuntary and whether
with or without cause);
(b) retirement; and
(c) any cessation of employment or service for any reason whatsoever, including disability and death;
“Exchange” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Options to Purchase Securities – Share Compensation Plan
Administration of the Share Compensation Plan”;
“Existing Warrants” means the 16,101,396 common share purchase warrants issued and outstanding as of the date of this
Prospectus, but excludes the Finder Warrants;
“Fair Market Value” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Options – Other Terms”;
“Finders” means certain parties involved in finding subscribers in connection with the Offering;
“Finders’ Fees” means a cash commission equal to 5.0% of the gross proceeds raised by the Finders and Finder Warrants
equal to 5.0% of the issuances attributable to the Finders in connection with the Offering;
“Finder Warrants” means Common Share purchase warrants issued to Finders in connection with the Offering, each Finder
Warrant being exercisable into one Common Shares at an exercise price of $0.50 and expiring 24 months from the date of
issuance;
“Finder Warrant Share” means Common Share issuable upon the exercise of Finder Warrants;
“First Tranche” means the first tranche of the Offering closed on February 11, 2020;
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“Form 51-102F6V” means Form 51-102F6V – Statement of Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers;
“GDP” means gross domestic product;
“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards;
“ISOs” means incentive stock options;
“Karora” means Karora Resources Inc., formerly Royal Nickel Corporation doing business as RNC Minerals;
“Karora AIF” means Karora’s Annual Information Form dated March 27, 2020;
“La Fortuna Deposit” means the La Fortuna deposit (also previously referred to as El Morro), being one of two deposits
comprising NuevaUnión;
“Listing” means the listing of the Securities on the TSX Venture Exchange;
“Magneto” means Magneto Investments Limited Partnership;
“Market Price” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Share Compensation Plan, being “as of any date, the closing price
of the Common Shares on the Exchange for the last market trading day prior to the date of grant of the Option or if the
Common Shares are not listed on a stock exchange or quotation system, the Market Price shall be determined in good faith by
the Administrators”;
“masl” means meters above sea level;
“MD&As” means the Company’s management’s discussion and analysis for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
March 31, 2018, the year ended December 31, 2019 and for the period from incorporation on July 20, 2018 to December 31,
2018, attached hereto as Schedules B and D;
“Metalla” means Metalla Royalty & Streaming Ltd.;
“Metalla Joint Venture” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Acquisition of 2.0% Copper NSR on Teck/Newmont’s
NuevaUnión Project”;
“Mining Operations” means those mining operations in which Nova holds a royalty interest;
“Mt” means metric tonne;
“Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs” means the named executive officers of the Company, being Alex Tsukernik and
Douglas Reed;
“Newmont” means Newmont Corporation;
“NI 43-101” means National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects;
“Notice Date” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Advance Notice Provisions”;
“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings;
“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees;
“NP 58-101” means National Policy 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices;
“NSOs” means non-qualified stock options;
“NSR” means net smelter return;
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“NuevaUnión” means the NuevaUnión project in the Huasco Province in the Atacama Region of Chile held in a 50-50 joint
venture between Teck and Newmont;
“NuevaUnión Public Disclosure” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “NuevaUnión, Chile”;
“NuevaUnión Royalty” means the 2.0% NSR royalty on future production over copper from the Cantarito Claim, on the La
Fortuna Deposit;
“Offering” means the non-brokered private placements of Special Warrants completed on February 11, 2020 and February 19,
2020;
“Options” means the stock options of the Company;
“Option Holder” means a holder of Options;
“Participant” means a participant of the Share Compensation Plan;
“PEMC” means Pacific Empire Minerals Corp.;
“PEMC Projects” means, collectively, PEMC’s Copper King, NUB East, Pinnacle Reef and NWT projects;
“PEMC Royalties” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “General Development and Business of the Company –
History of the Company – Acquisition of PEMC Royalties”;
“PFS” means prefeasibility study;
“PGE” means platinum group element;
“Preferred Shares” means the preferred shares in the capital of the Company;
“Principals” means, collectively, Alex Tsukernik, Robert Leckie, Denis Silva and Parviz Farsangi;
“Prospectus” means this long-form prospectus of the Company dated August 14, 2020;
“Ressources Corbeau” means Ressources Corbeau Inc.;
“Royalty Commodities” means those metals that are the subject of the Royalties, including nickel, copper, cobalt, tin, lithium,
graphite, lead and zinc;
“RSUs” means restricted share units;
“RSU Agreement” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Restricted Share Units – Vesting Provisions”;
“SCC” means the Standards Council of Canada;
“Second Tranche” means the second tranche of the Offering closed on February 19, 2020;
“Securities” means, collectively, the securities of the Company;
“Share Compensation Plan” means the Company’s amended and restated share compensation plan effective January 3, 2020;
“Special Warrants” means the special warrants of the Company issued pursuant to the Offering and which have been
exercised as of August 14, 2020 such that the holders thereof received one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share
purchase warrant for each Special Warrant formerly held by them;
“Teck” means Teck Resources Limited;
“TSF” means tailings storage facility;
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“TSXV” means the TSX Venture Exchange;
“TSXV Policy 5.4” means TSXV Policy 5.4 – Escrow, Vendor Considerations and Resale Restrictions;
“US Participant” means a participant of the Share Compensation Plan who is a citizen or resident of the United States;
“Warrants” means Common Share purchase warrants; and
“Wood Mackenzie” means Wood Mackenzie Power & Renewables.
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GENERAL MATTERS
Unless otherwise noted or the context indicates otherwise “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company” refer to Nova Royalty Corp.
and, when applicable, its Subsidiaries.
The Company is not offering to sell securities under this Prospectus. Readers should rely only on the information contained
in this Prospectus. The Company has not authorized any other person to provide you with additional or different information.
If anyone provides you with additional or different or inconsistent information, including information or statements in media
articles about the Company, you should not rely on it. You should assume that the information appearing in this Prospectus is
accurate only as at its date. The Company’s business, financial conditions, results of operations and prospects may have
changed since that date.
The Company presents its financial statements in Canadian dollars. Amounts in this Prospectus are stated in Canadian dollars
unless otherwise indicated.
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Prospectus contains forward-looking information and forward-looking statements, within the meaning of applicable
Canadian securities legislation (collectively, “forward-looking statements”), which reflect management’s expectations
regarding the Company’s future growth, results from operations (including, without limitation, future production and capital
expenditures), performance (both operational and financial) and business prospects, future business plans and opportunities.
Wherever possible, words such as “predicts”, “projects”, “targets”, “plans”, “expects”, “does not expect”, “budget”,
“scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “anticipate” or “does not anticipate”, “believe”, “intend” and similar expressions or
statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved,
or the negative or grammatical variation thereof or other variations thereof, or comparable terminology have been used to
identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements relating to:


the timing and closing of the Listing, including the receipt, in a timely manner, of regulatory and other required
approvals;



the listing of the Common Shares on the TSXV, including the Company fulfilling all applicable listing requirements;



the Escrow Agreement, and the escrow of the Escrowed Securities (as such terms are defined herein);



the Company’s goals regarding development of its projects, and regarding raising capital and conducting further
exploration and developments of its properties;



the use of available funds;



the Company’s future business plans;



the Company’s negative cash flows;



expectations generally regarding the ability to raise further capital for corporate purposes;



the market price of Royalty Commodities;



expectations regarding any environmental issues that may affect planned or future exploration and development
programs and the potential impact of complying with existing and proposed environmental laws and regulations plans
regarding;



the ability to retain and/or maintain any require permits, licenses or other necessary approvals for the exploration or
development of its Material Properties and other mineral properties;



the Company’s compensation policy and practices;



the Company’s expected reliance on key management personnel, advisors and consultants; and



plans regarding future composition of the Board.
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Forward-looking statements are not a guarantee of future performance and are based upon a number of estimates and
assumptions of management, in light of management’s experience and perception of trends, current conditions and expected
developments, as well as other factors that management believes to be relevant and reasonable in the circumstances, as of the
date of this Prospectus including, without limitation, the following:


future prices of Royalty Commodities;



the demand for and stable or improving price of Royalty Commodities;



the current COVID-19 pandemic will not have a material adverse effect;



general business and economic conditions will not change in a material adverse manner;



the Company’s ability to procure equipment and operating supplies in sufficient quantities and on a timely basis;



the geology of the Material Properties as described in the Technical Reports;



future currency exchange rates and interest rates;



operating conditions being favourable such that the Company is able to operate in a safe, efficient and effective
manner;



the Company’s ability to attract and retain skilled personnel and directors;



political and regulatory stability;



the receipt of governmental, regulatory and third-party approvals, licenses and permits on favourable terms;



obtaining required renewals for existing approvals, licenses and permits on favourable terms;



requirements under applicable laws;



sustained labour stability; stability in financial and capital goods markets; and



availability of equipment.

While we consider these assumptions to be reasonable, the assumptions are inherently subject to significant business, social,
economic, political, regulatory, competitive and other risks, uncertainties, contingencies and other factors that could cause
actual actions, events, conditions, results, performance or achievements to be materially different from those projected in the
forward-looking statements. Many assumptions are based on factors and events that are not within our control and there is no
assurance they will prove to be correct.
Although we have attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events, conditions, results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, there may be other
factors that cause actions, events, conditions, results, performance or achievements to differ from those anticipated, estimated
or intended. See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain factors investors should carefully consider before deciding to invest.
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of important assumptions and risks, uncertainties and other factors are not
exhaustive. Other events or circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from those estimated or projected and
expressed in, or implied by, the forward-looking information contained herein. There can be no assurance that forward-looking
statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such
information. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements contained herein are made as of the date of this Prospectus and we disclaim any obligation to
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or otherwise,
except as and to the extent required by applicable securities laws.
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EXCHANGE RATE AND CURRENCY INFORMATION
The following table sets forth, for each period indicated, the exchange rate of the Canadian dollar to the US dollar at the end
of such period and the average, high and low exchange rates for such period (such rates, which are expressed in Canadian
dollars, are based on the daily exchange rate for US dollars reported by the Bank of Canada).
Year Ended December 31
2019
2018
High for period.....................................................
Low for period .....................................................
Average for period ...............................................
Rate at end of period ............................................

0.7699
0.7353
0.7537
0.7699

0.8138
0.7330
0.7721
0.7330

On August 13, 2020, the last business day before the date of this Prospectus, the Bank of Canada daily exchange rate for the
purchase of one Canadian dollar using US dollars was US$0.7566 (US$1.00 = $1.3217).
All dollar amounts in this Prospectus are expressed in Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated. References to “$” or
“dollars” are to Canadian dollars and references to “US$” are to US dollars. The Company presents its financial statements in
Canadian dollars.
COMMODITY PRICE INFORMATION
The following table sets forth, for each period indicated, the average, high and low spot commodity price of copper.
Year Ended December 31
2019
2018
High for period.....................................................
Low for period .....................................................
Average for period ...............................................

$3.00
$2.50
$2.70

$3.30
$2.60
$2.90

THIRD PARTY AND TECHNICAL INFORMATION
The Company considers its Royalty interests in the Dumont Deposit and NuevaUnión to be its only material mineral properties
for the purposes of NI 43-101. Information included in this prospectus with respect to these material assets have been prepared
in accordance with the exemption set forth in section 9.2 of NI 43-101.
Unless otherwise noted, the disclosure contained in this Prospectus of a scientific or technical nature for:


Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project is based on the technical report entitled “Technical Report on the Dumont Ni Project,
Launay and Trécesson Townships, Quebec, Canada” having an effective date of July 11, 2019 which technical report
was prepared for Karora, and filed under Karora’s SEDAR profile on www.sedar.com, and information that has been
provided by Karora and/or has been sourced from their news releases with respect to the Dumont Deposit.



NuevaUnión is based on the technical report entitled “El Morro Copper-Gold Project Atacama Region, Chile
NI 43-101 Technical Report” having an effective date of February 16, 2010 which technical report was prepared for
Goldcorp Inc. (now known as Newmont Corporation), and filed under Goldcorp Inc.’s SEDAR profile on
www.sedar.com, and information that has been provided by Teck, including in Teck’s Annual Information Form,
and/or has been sourced from their news releases with respect to NuevaUnión.

Christian Rios, AIPG Certified Professional Geologist is a consultant to the Company and a “qualified person” under
NI 43-101 and has reviewed and approved the scientific and technical disclosure contained in the prospectus.
This Prospectus includes market, industry and economic data which was obtained from various publicly available sources and
other sources believed by the Company to be true. Although the Company believes it to be reliable, neither the Company has
not independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Prospectus, or analyzed or verified the
underlying reports relied upon or referred to by such sources, or ascertained the underlying economic and other assumptions
relied upon by such sources. The Company believes that its market, industry and economic data is accurate and that its
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estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there can be no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness thereof. The
accuracy and completeness of the market, industry and economic data used throughout this Prospectus are not guaranteed and
the Company does not make any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of such information.
ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS AGAINST FOREIGN PERSONS
Alex Tsukernik, President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of the Company, resides outside of Canada and has
appointed Nova Royalty Corp. at Suite 501, 543 Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 1X8 as agent
for service of process in Canada.
Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any person
or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside
of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process.
PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Company presents its financial statements in Canadian dollars. The audited financial statements of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2019 and the period from incorporation on July 20, 2018 to December 31, 2018 as well as the
unaudited financial statements of the company for the three month periods ending on March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Certain financial information set out in this Prospectus is derived from such
financial statements.

-9-

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
The following is a summary of the principal features of this distribution and should be read together with the more detailed
information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.
The Company:

Nova was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) (the “BCBCA”)
on July 20, 2018 as “BatteryOne Royalty Corp.” and changed its name to “Nova Royalty Corp.”
on June 9, 2020. The Company’s head office is located at Suite 501, 543 Granville Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 1X8 and its registered office is located at Suite 2300,
550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2B5. Nova also holds an interest in Nueva
Royalty Ltd. which consists of 50 common shares (representing 50% of the issued and outstanding
common shares) and 75 copper shares (representing 100% of the issued and outstanding copper
shares) of Nueva Royalty Ltd. The copper shares held by Nova entitle Nova to all of the royalties
derived from a 2.0% net smelter return royalty on future copper production from a portion of the
La Fortuna Deposit and prospective exploration grounds forming part of NuevaUnión located in
the Huasco Province in the Atacama region of Chile.
See “Corporate Structure” and “General Development and Business of the Company - Acquisition
of 2.0% Copper NSR on Teck/Newmont’s NuevaUnión Project”.
Nova is a private royalty company focused on acquiring royalties on the copper and nickel deposits
that it sees as necessary for the world’s energy transition from fossil fuels to electricity. The
Company is focused on acquiring royalties on assets in proven and/or prospective geological camps
in mining-friendly jurisdictions. The Company acquires royalties from a variety of vendors,
including private individuals, prospectors, major mining companies, juniors, government agencies,
and other applicable entities.
Copper and nickel frequently occur as a part of extensive multi-metal geological systems. Hence,
the Company will selectively pursue royalties in other commodities that further its core coppernickel strategy. These commodities include other base metals, precious metals, molybdenum,
cobalt, lithium and graphite among others. The Company will also occasionally pursue acquisitions
in less established mining jurisdictions based on its view that they are becoming increasingly more
friendly toward the mining industry and international investors.
Nova does not operate mines, develop projects or conduct exploration. The Company’s business
model is focused on managing and growing its portfolio of royalties. The advantages of this
business model are:


exposure to copper and nickel price optionality;



a perpetual discovery option over large areas of geologically prospective lands with no
additional cost other than the initial investment;



limited exposure to many of the risks associated with operating companies;



a free cash flow business with limited cash calls;



a high margin business that can generate cash through the entire commodity cycle;



a scalable and diversified business in which a large number of assets can be managed with
a small stable overhead; and



a forward looking business in which management focuses on growth opportunities rather
than operational or development issues.

Nova’s financial results in the short term are primarily tied to the price of commodities and the
amount of production from its portfolio of producing assets. Financial results have also been
supplemented by acquisitions of new producing assets. Over the longer term, results are impacted
by the availability of exploration and development capital applied by other companies to expand
or extend Nova’s producing assets. Nova has a long-term investment outlook and recognizes the
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cyclical nature of the industry.
By investing in diversified mining interests with a focus on copper and nickel across a spectrum of
geographies, the Company reduces its dependency on any one asset, project, location or
counterparty. The Company believes that its model provides exposure to any future improvements
in the nickel and copper markets, while at the same time minimizing fixed operating, exploration,
development and sustaining costs associated with directly owning and operating mining projects.
Additionally, as the Company’s interests are non-operational, the Company is exposed to limited
cash calls in order to maintain its interests in such projects. Furthermore, since the Company’s
directors and officers do not handle operational decisions and tasks relating to mining projects,
they are free to focus their time and energy on carrying out the Company’s acquisition strategy and
identifying and executing on growth opportunities.
Since incorporation, the Company has acquired the following royalty assets:
Asset

Description of Royalty

NuevaUnión Royalty

2.0% NSR royalty on future production over copper from
the Cantarito Claim

Dumont Royalty

2.0% NSR royalty on future production over metals from
the Dumont Deposit

PEMC Royalties

1.0% NSR royalty on future production over metals from
the PEMC Projects

The Company is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction and no securities of the Company are
listed or posted for trading on any stock exchange. The TSXV has conditionally approved the
Listing of the Common Shares on the TSXV. The Listing will be subject to the Company fulfilling
all of the listing requirements and conditions of the TSXV.
See “Corporate Structure” and “General Development and Business of the Company”.
Directors &
Executive Officers:

Alex Tsukernik

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Parviz Farsangi

Chairman and Director

Douglas Reed

Chief Financial Officer

Robert Leckie

Director

Denis Silva

Director

Kim Casswell

Corporate Secretary

See “Directors and Executive Officers”.
Available Funds:

This is a non-offering prospectus. The Company is not raising any funds in conjunction with this
Prospectus and accordingly, there are no proceeds to be raised by the Company pursuant to this
Prospectus. The Company had working capital as at June 30, 2020 of $2,75,000 (not including the
deferred payment to NuevaUnión). Upon Listing, the principal purposes for the foregoing available
funds will be as follows:
Principal Purposes

Amount

Estimated remaining expenses of the Listing
(regulatory, filing, legal expenses, etc.)

$178,000

Deferred Payment to NuevaUnión (1)

$991,275

Estimated general and administrative expenses
for 12 months(2)

$569,000

Unallocated working capital

$536,725
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Total

$2,275,000

Notes:
(1) The deferred payment to NuevaUnión is in the amount of US$750,000 and will be paid in US dollars by February
18, 2021 in connection with the Cantarito Royalty, but has been expressed here in Canadian dollars (converted as of
the date of this Prospectus) for convenience. See “General Development and Business of the Company – Acquisition
of 2.0% Copper NSR on Teck/Newmont’s NuevaUnión Project”.
(2) Estimated based on the following amounts: consulting and management fees of $432,000 (consisting of $180,000
payable to Alex Tsukernik, President and CEO of the Company, $150,000 payable to Seabord Services Corp. and
$102,000 payable to certain consultants of the Company), professional fees of $40,000, transfer agent, regulatory
and listing fees of $37,000, and office expenses and travel of $60,000. See “Executive Compensation”.

It is anticipated that the available funds will be sufficient to achieve the Company’s objectives over
the next 12 months. The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this
Prospectus. There may be circumstances, however, where for sound business reasons a reallocation
of funds may be necessary. Use of funds will be subject to the discretion of management. Until we
use the unallocated funds, we will hold them in cash and/or invest them in short-term,
interest-bearing, investment-grade securities. For the year-ended December 31, 2019 and the three
months ended March 31, 2020, the Company had negative cash flow from operations. See “Risk
Factors” for further detail.
See “Available Funds and Principal Purposes”.
Risk Factors:

An investment in the securities offered hereunder should be considered highly speculative due to
the nature of the Company’s business. An investment in the Company’s securities is suitable only
for those knowledgeable and sophisticated investors who are willing to risk a loss of their entire
investment. Investors should consult with their professional advisors to assess an investment in the
Company’s securities.
The following risk factors should be considered in connection with an investment in the Company:
the timing and closing of the Listing, including the receipt, in a timely manner, of regulatory and
other required approvals; the listing of the Common Shares on the TSXV, including the Company
fulfilling all applicable listing requirements; the Company’s goals regarding development of its
projects, and regarding raising capital and conducting further exploration and developments of its
properties; the use of available funds; the Company’s future business plans; the Company’s
negative cash flow from operations; expectations generally regarding the ability to raise further
capital for corporate purposes; the market price of Royalty Commodities; expectations regarding
any environmental issues that may affect planned or future exploration and development programs
and the potential impact of complying with existing and proposed environmental laws and
regulations plans regarding; the ability to retain and/or maintain any require permits, licenses or
other necessary approvals for the exploration or development of its Material Properties and other
mineral properties; dilution; no history of dividends; political, economic and financial market
changes; and uninsurable risks. See “Risk Factors”.

Summary of Financial The following table sets forth selected financial information of the Company for the periods or as
at the dates indicated. This summary financial information should be read in conjunction with the
Information:
financial statements and notes attached to and forming part of this Prospectus and the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” as included elsewhere in this Prospectus.
For the year ended
December 31, 2019
(audited)
($)
Total current assets
Total non-current
assets
Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Deficit

168,159
3,567,203
3,735,362
262,190
262,190
(1,005,519)
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For the period from
incorporation to
December 31, 2018
(audited)
($)
1,572,846
222,725
1,795,571
139,295
139,295
(78,079)

For the three month
period ending
March 31, 2020
(unaudited)
($)
2,905,759
7,856,796
10,762,555
1,492,317
1,492,317
(1,545,772)

CORPORATE STRUCTURE
Name, Address and Incorporation
Nova was incorporated under the BCBCA on July 20, 2018 as “BatteryOne Royalty Corp.” and changed its name to “Nova
Royalty Corp.” on June 9, 2020. The Company’s head office is located at Suite 501, 543 Granville Street, Vancouver, British
Columbia, Canada V6C 1X8 and its registered office is located at Suite 2300, 550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British
Columbia, Canada V6C 2B5.
Intercorporate Relationships
Nova holds an interest in certain securities of Nueva Royalty Ltd.

Nova Royalty Corp.

See Note 1

Nueva Royalty Ltd.

Note:
(1) Nova’s interest in Nueva Royalty Ltd. consists of 50 common shares (representing 50% of the issued and outstanding common shares) and 75 copper
shares (representing 100% of the issued and outstanding copper shares) of Nueva Royalty Ltd. The copper shares held by Nova entitle Nova to all of the
royalties derived from a 2.0% net smelter return royalty on future copper production from a portion of the La Fortuna Deposit and prospective exploration
grounds forming part of NuevaUnión located in the Huasco Province in the Atacama region of Chile. See “General Development and Business of the
Company – Acquisition of 2.0% Copper NSR on Teck/Newmont’s NuevaUnión Project”.

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY
Overview of the Company
Nova is a royalty company focused on acquiring royalties on the copper and nickel deposits that it sees as central for the
world’s energy transition from fossil fuels to electricity. The Company is focused on acquiring royalties on assets in proven
and/or prospective geological camps in mining-friendly jurisdictions. The Company acquires royalties from a variety of
vendors, including private individuals, prospectors, major mining companies, juniors, government agencies, and other
applicable entities.
Copper and nickel frequently occur as a part of extensive multi-metal geological systems. Hence, the Company will selectively
pursue royalties in other commodities that further its core copper-nickel strategy. These commodities include other base
metals, precious metals, molybdenum, cobalt, lithium and graphite among others.
Principal Operations
Nova does not operate mines, develop projects or conduct exploration. The Company’s business model is focused on managing
and growing its portfolio of royalties. The advantages of this business model are:


exposure to copper and nickel price optionality;



a perpetual discovery option over large areas of geologically prospective lands with no additional cost other than the
initial investment;



limited exposure to many of the risks associated with operating companies;

- 13 -



a free cash-flow business with limited cash calls;



a high-margin business that can generate cash through the entire commodity cycle;



a scalable and diversified business in which a large number of assets can be managed with a small stable overhead;
and



a forward-looking business in which management focuses on growth opportunities rather than operational or
development issues.

Nova’s financial results in the short-term are primarily tied to the price of commodities and the amount of production from its
portfolio of producing assets. Financial results have also been supplemented by acquisitions of new producing assets. Over
the longer-term, results are impacted by the availability of exploration and development capital applied by other companies
to expand or extend Nova’s producing assets. Nova has a long-term investment outlook and recognizes the cyclical nature of
the industry.
By investing in diversified mining interests with a focus on nickel and copper across a spectrum of geographies, the Company
reduces its dependency on any one asset, project, location or counterparty. The Company believes that its model provides
exposure to any future improvements in the nickel and copper markets, while at the same time minimizing fixed operating,
exploration, development and sustaining costs associated with directly owning and operating mining projects. Additionally,
as the Company’s interests are non-operational, the Company is exposed to limited cash calls in order to maintain its interests
in such projects. Furthermore, since the Company’s directors and officers do not handle operational decisions and tasks
relating to mining projects, they are free to focus their time and energy on carrying out the Company’s acquisition strategy
and identifying and executing on growth opportunities.
Since incorporation, the Company has acquired the following royalty assets:
Asset

Description of Royalty

NuevaUnión Royalty

2.0% NSR royalty on future production over copper from the
Cantarito Claim in the La Fortuna Deposit

Dumont Royalty

2.0% NSR royalty on future production over metals from the
Dumont Deposit

PEMC Royalties

1.0% NSR royalty on future production over metals from the
PEMC Projects

The Company is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction and no securities of the Company are listed or posted for trading on
any stock exchange. The TSXV has conditionally approved the Listing of the Common Shares on the TSXV. Listing will be
subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements and conditions of the TSXV.
History of the Company
Nova was incorporated under the BCBCA on July 20, 2018 as “BatteryOne Royalty Corp.” and changed its name to “Nova
Royalty Corp.” on June 9, 2020.
A brief description of the Company’s acquisition history since its incorporation is as follows:
Acquisition of Dumont Royalty
On January 22, 2019, Nova acquired from the original owners of the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt project (the “Dumont Deposit”)
pursuant to the Dumont Purchase Agreement, a 2.0% NSR royalty (the “Dumont Royalty”) on future production over metals
from the Dumont Deposit, a fully permitted, construction-ready mine, which contains one of the world’s largest undeveloped
reserves of nickel and cobalt, located in Québec, Canada.
The area under the royalty covers approximately 21% of the Dumont Deposit. The acquisition price was $2 million in cash
and 3,669,018 Common Shares, which represented at the time a 19% interest in Nova on an undiluted basis. The owner of the
Dumont Deposit has a buyback right to repurchase one-half of Nova’s royalty (the “Dumont Buyback Right”), being 1.0%
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of the 2.0% NSR, for $1 million in cash. The Dumont Royalty is subject to advance royalty payments of $5,000 per year, first
of which was received by the Company on October 22, 2019.
The Dumont Deposit is held 98% by Magneto and 2% by Ressources Quebec. Magneto is a joint venture between Waterton
Global Resource Management (72% owner), a mining-specialist private equity fund with over $1.7 billion of committed
capital, and Karora (28% owner). Karora is the designated operator of the joint venture. Karora changed its name from “Royal
Nickel Corporation” effective on June 16, 2020.
The NSR will provide cash flow to the Company on all metals produced, including nickel, cobalt, platinum and palladium.
Acquisition of PEMC Royalties
On March 4, 2019, Nova signed a definitive agreement to acquire a portfolio of royalties from PEMC on projects that span
over 11,148 hectares in the British Columbia copper belt. The portfolio includes a 1.0% NSR royalty on all metals and minerals
produced (collectively, the “PEMC Royalties”) from PEMC’s Copper King, NUB East and NWT projects. On March 21,
2019, Nova completed the acquisition of the PEMC Royalties. Each of the Copper King, NUB East and NWT projects are
currently exploration-stage projects.
The PEMC Projects are located along the trend of some of the largest copper deposits in British Columbia. These include the
Kemess and Mount Milligan properties held by Centerra, the Kwanika Copper deposit advanced by Posco Daewoo and
Serengeti Resources Inc., and the Stardust project held by Sun Metals Corp., which has attracted Teck as a strategic investor.
The PEMC Royalties will apply to any rights renewing, deriving, replacing or complementing such PEMC Projects at any
time, as well as any other rights that in the future form part of the PEMC Projects that are within two kilometers of the current
outermost boundaries of the PEMC Projects. Payment and performance of the Royalties is secured by title to the mineral
claims.
PEMC also granted to Nova a right to acquire a 1.0% NSR royalty in the future, on all metals and minerals produced from
PEMC’s Pinnacle Reef project in the event the existing option agreement on this property is terminated or expires. PEMC has
also granted Nova a right of first refusal on any future royalty or streaming transactions on the projects.
As consideration for the royalties in respect of the Copper King, NUB East and NWT projects, the Company paid $10,000
cash, and issued 345,000 Common Shares, to PEMC. On August 9, 2019, the Company exercised its option and acquired a
1.0% NSR on the Pinnacle Reef project for $10,000 in cash and 115,000 Common Shares.
Acquisition of 2.0% Copper NSR on Teck/Newmont’s NuevaUnión Project
On February 18, 2020, Nova acquired, pursuant to a royalty purchase agreement executed among Nova, Metalla and Sociedad
Legal Minera Cantarito Una de la Sierra Juntas de Cantaritos de la Estancia Huasco Alto, an existing 2.0% NSR on future
copper production on the Cantarito claim (“Cantarito Claim”) of the La Fortuna Deposit. The La Fortuna Deposit is one of
the two deposits, the other being Relincho, located 40km apart, comprising NuevaUnión in the Huasco Province in the
Atacama Region of Chile.
The acquisition was completed as a joint venture (“Metalla Joint Venture”) between Nova and Metalla with the Metalla
Joint Venture having formed a special purpose vehicle, Nueva Royalty Ltd., to hold the Cantarito royalty (the “Cantarito
Royalty”). Nova will aggregately pay US$6 million to acquire the rights to the copper revenue from the Cantarito Royalty
and Metalla will aggregately pay US$2 million to acquire the rights to the gold revenue from the Cantarito Royalty. The total
acquisition value is US$8 million, with US$3 million cash paid on closing on February 18, 2020, US$1 million cash in
12 months after closing, and US$4 million at commercial production from the Cantarito Claim, to be paid equally in cash and
common shares of the Metalla and Nova (together the “Acquisition Payments”). All Acquisition Payments will be split pro
rata between the Metalla Joint Venture with Nova paying 75% and Metalla 25%. The Company estimates that commercial
production from the Cantarito Claim will commence in 2034.
NuevaUnión
NuevaUnión is a 50-50 joint venture between Teck and Newmont. NuevaUnión is one of the world’s largest copper-gold
development projects. A PFS was completed in April 2018, which disclosed production of 224,000 tonnes of copper,
269,000 ounces of gold, and 1,700 tonnes of molybdenum on average over the first 5 years. Teck disclosed that a feasibility
study was commenced in the third quarter of 2018 for completion during the first quarter of 2020.
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Following the completion of the acquisition of the Cantarito Royalty by the Company, Newmont and Teck, who jointly operate
NuevaUnión, filed an environmental impact statement for NuevaUnión with the Chilean authorities. The filing involves a
planned expenditure of US$152 million for drilling and other work intended to form the basis for development of a mining
plan at La Fortuna.
The Cantarito Royalty is limited to the Cantarito Claim. The Cantarito Claim covers approximately 10% to 15% of the
NuevaUnión mineral resources and mineral reserves disclosed in Teck’s Annual Information Form dated February 26, 2020.
The Company may identify other properties worthy of investment and exploration from time to time.
Financings and Issuances of the Company’s Securities
Unit Financings
On July 20, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 3,900,000 units of the Company, each unit
being comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.01 per unit for
aggregate gross proceeds of $39,000. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share for an exercise
price of $0.10 and expiring on July 20, 2021 subject to certain acceleration provisions.
On September 10, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 2,100,000 units of the Company, each
unit being comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.05 per unit
for aggregate gross proceeds of $105,000. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share for an
exercise price of $0.10 and expiring on September 10, 2021 subject to certain acceleration provisions.
On October 15, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 1,000,000 units of the Company, each
unit being comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.25 per unit
for aggregate gross proceeds of $250,000. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share for an
exercise price of $0.40 and expiring on October 15, 2020 subject to certain acceleration provisions.
On October 25, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 3,112,000 units of the Company, each
unit being comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.25 per unit
for aggregate gross proceeds of $778,000. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share for an
exercise price of $0.40 and expiring on October 25, 2020 subject to certain acceleration provisions.
On December 21, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 1,470,000 units of the Company, each
unit being comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.25 per unit
for aggregate gross proceeds of $367,500. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share for an
exercise price of $0.40 and expiring on December 21, 2020 subject to certain acceleration provisions.
On January 10, 2019, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 2,059,600 units of the Company, each
unit being comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.25 per unit
for aggregate gross proceeds of $514,900. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share for an
exercise price of $0.40 and expiring on January 10, 2021 subject to certain acceleration provisions.
On February 22, 2019, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 330,000 units of the Company, each unit
being comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.25 per unit for
aggregate gross proceeds of $82,500. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share for an exercise
price of $0.40 and expiring on February 22, 2021 subject to certain acceleration provisions.
On March 1, 2019, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 2,069,000 units of the Company, each unit
being comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.25 per unit for
aggregate gross proceeds of $517,250. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share for an exercise
price of $0.40 and expiring on March 1, 2021 subject to certain acceleration provisions.
2020 Special Warrant Financing
In February 2020, a total of 11,693,172 Special Warrants were issued to certain subscribers at a price of $0.50 per Special
Warrant for aggregate gross proceeds of $5,846,586 pursuant to a non-brokered private placement in two tranches (the
“Offering”). The First Tranche of the Offering closed on February 11, 2020 and included the issuance of 7,703,000 Special
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Warrants to subscribers for aggregate gross proceeds of $3,851,500. The Second Tranche of the Offering closed on
February 19, 2020 and included the issuance of 3,990,172 Special Warrants to subscribers for aggregate gross proceeds of
$1,995,086.
On August 14, 2020, the Special Warrants were exercised and the holders thereof received one Common Share and one-half
of one Common Share purchase warrant for each Special Warrant held. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase
one Common Share for an exercise price of $1.00 and expires on August 14, 2022 subject to certain acceleration provisions.
An aggregate of 11,693,172 Common Shares and 5,846,586 warrants were issued upon the exercise of the Special Warrants.
In connection with the Offering, the Finders were paid Finders’ Fees on February 19, 2020 pursuant to certain finders fee
agreements, which included: (i) the Cash Commission equal to 5.0% of the gross proceeds raised by such Finders, which
aggregately amounted to $180,338; and (ii) Finder Warrants equal to 5.0% of the issuances attributable to the Finders, which
amounted to 239,000 Finder Warrants. Each Finder Warrant is exercisable into one Finder Share prior to February 19, 2022
at a price of $0.50 per Finder Share.
COPPER INDUSTRY
Copper Demand
According to Wood Mackenzie, global refined copper demand in 2016 totaled 22.5 million tonnes. In the global copper
consumer market, the construction segment accounted for 31% of copper consumption, followed by the electrical and
electronic products segment (24%), the industrial machinery segment (10%), the transportation equipment segment (11%) and
the consumer products segment (24%), as estimated by Wood Mackenzie for 2016.
According to Wood Mackenzie, for the period of 2016-2021, global refined demand is expected to continue on a moderate
growth path, averaging 1.8% per annum longer term, for the 2016-2035 period as a whole, refined consumption is expected
to grow by 1.2% per annum. This compares with the 2000-2015 average of 2.5% and reflects Wood Mackenzie’s expectation
that the emergence of China as a global economic force and driver of copper demand will not be replicated by any other nation
to anything like this extent for the foreseeable future. Refined copper consumption by geography in 2016 according to Wood
Mackenzie is shown in the chart below. China accounted for 47.6% of consumption.
Copper Supply
According to Wood Mackenzie, global mine production expanded by 5.0% during 2016 reaching 20.1 Mt. This increase
compares with a 3.8% rise seen in 2015. 2017 mine production (after disruptions) is set to fall for the first time since 2011 –
down by just over 2% on 2016 levels. This reflects the announcement of lower production guidance by some producers and a
focus on “profitable tonnes” over “volume.” Growth is forecast to continue until 2020 and will see global production capability
(before disruptions) exceed 21 Mt for the first time by 2018. Beyond 2020, base case copper mine production growth will
decline unless new or expanded capacity is brought into production. According to Wood Mackenzie, long lead times
(7-10 years) are required to bring new capacity into production.
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Copper is refined to the 99.99% cathode form through three broad methods: primary production from copper concentrate or
solvent extraction and electrowinning (SX-EW), and secondary production from scrap. These accounted for a respective 67%,
15% and 18% of global total refined copper production in 2017.

Chinese copper consumption to peak after 2027.
According to Antaike, the research arm of the China Nonferrous Industry Association, China’s copper consumption peak will
come after 2027 and hit more than 10kg per capita. To support the projection, Antaike believes that China can (1) reach
US$16,000 per capita GDP by around 2027, closing gap with industrialised countries, (2) exceed 10kg per capita copper
consumption by around 2030, (3) its tertiary industries can contribute to 59% of its GDP, and that (4) by about 2031, China
can grow its per capita power consumption to 7,534kW per hour, about the middle level in developed countries. With the
growing use of electric vehicles in China set to take a key role in copper demand growth for next decade, DBS forecasted that
Chinese copper demand will grow by a compound annual growth rate of 3.1% by 2022.
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India in very early stage of copper consumption growth.
In 2017, the copper consumption per capita in India was a mere 0.4kg, implying huge growth potential. India’s GDP per capita
was US$1,983 which is ¼ of China’s, while its population, at 1.32bn, was slightly lower than China’s 1.40bn. In light of
India’s economy entering a potential phase of rapid growth, DBS forecasts that copper consumption in India will post one of
the world’s strongest growth rates, at 6.2% during 2017-2022.
NICKEL INDUSTRY
Nickel occurs in nature principally as oxides, sulphides and silicates. Nickel is the fifth most common element on earth with
its highest concentrations found in the core and the lowest in the earth´s crust. Nickel ores are mined in about 33 countries on
all continents, and are smelted or refined in about 30 countries. Primary nickel is produced and used in the form of ferro-nickel,
nickel oxides, NPI, nickel sulphate and other chemicals, and as more or less pure nickel metal. Nickel is also readily recycled
in many of its applications, and large tonnages of secondary or “scrap” nickel are used to supplement newly mined ores.
Nickel has a variety of commercial and industrial uses, including:
1.

Production of stainless steel. Stainless steel typically has nickel content of 8% to 12%, and is used in the construction
industry to produce strong, corrosion-resistant structural and architectural components. Stainless steel is also used in
high-efficiency heating systems, food and beverage storage and production and surgical instruments.

2.

Electronics. Nickel is a critical component of rechargeable batteries, including those produced for hybrid cars. It is
also used in the layering of hard drives and electromagnetic shielding for aircraft and hospitals.

3.

Transport. Nickel alloys are used in jet engines and airframes, and high-strength nickel cobalt steels are used in gears
and drives. Nickel is also used in passenger rail cars.

4.

Energy. Nickel is used in coal scrubbing systems, gearing in wind turbines – there is approximately 500 kg of nickel
per turbine – and in power station turbine blades and pipework.
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MATERIAL PROPERTIES
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company’s royalties on the Dumont Deposit and NuevaUnión are its material assets. A
description of each mine is included below.
Dumont Deposit, Québec
Nova holds a 2.0% NSR interest on the Dumont Deposit, subject to the Dumont Buyback Right.
The following description of the Dumont Deposit has been prepared in reliance, in part, on the Dumont Report and the Karora
AIF, and readers should consult the Dumont Report and the Karora AIF to obtain further particulars on the Dumont Deposit.
The Dumont Report and Karora AIF is available for review under Karora’s profile on SEDAR (www.sedar.com).
While the Company does not have any knowledge that such information is not accurate, the Company has not independently
verified this information and there can be no assurance that such third-party information is complete or accurate.
Property Description, Location and Access
The Dumont Nickel-Cobalt project (the “Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project”) is located in the province of Quebec,
approximately 25 km by road, northwest of the city of Amos, 60 km northeast of the industrial and mining city of
Rouyn-Noranda, 70 km northwest of the city of Val D’Or. Amos has a population of 12,584 (2006 Census) and is the seat of
the Abitibi County Regional Municipality.
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As of the date of the Karora AIF, the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project consists of 235 contiguous mineral claims totalling
9,393 ha. The longitude and latitude for the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project are 48°38’53” N, 78°26’30”W (UTM coordinates
are 5,391,500N, 688,400E within UTM zone 17 using the NAD83 Datum). The mineral resource is located mainly in
Ranges V, VI and VII on Lots 46 to 62 of Launay Township, and in Range V on Lots 1 to 3 of Trécesson Township.
Karora holds 100% beneficial interest in seven claims. Beneficial interest in the remaining 228 claims is held 98% by Karora
and 2% by Ressources Québec Inc. The Dumont Deposit mineral claims are subject to various royalty agreements arising
from terms of property acquisitions by Karora or through the sale of royalties. The details of the underlying mineral claim
agreements are described in the Karora AIF under “General Development of the Business – The Dumont Nickel-Cobalt
Project”.
The Sheridan-Ferderber property comprises an area of 256.47 ha corresponding to six historical contiguous ground-staked
claims. The claims corresponding to the Sheridan-Ferderber property were converted to map staked claims in 2013. The
property was originally held 50% by Terrence Coyle and 50% by Michel Roby, but it was optioned to Patrick Sheridan and
Peter Ferderber under an agreement dated October 26, 2006. The option agreement was subsequently assigned to Karora
through an agreement dated 4 May 2007. Karora’s option to acquire 100% interest in this property was exercised by the
completion of $75,000 in work on the property before October 26, 2008 and by paying $10,000 to Coyle-Roby by October
26, 2007 and $30,000 to Coyle-Roby by October 26, 2008. The claims were transferred 100% to Karora on August 25, 2008.
Following the exercise of the Coyle-Roby Option, the property became subject to a 2.0% NSR royalty payable to Terrence
Coyle (1%) and Michel Roby (1%). On January 22, 2019, Nova purchased this royalty from Coyle-Roby.
The climate at the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project is continental with mean temperatures ranging from -17.3°C in January to
+17.2°C in July, with an annual mean temperature of 1.2°C. Total average annual precipitation is 918 mm. While field
exploration work can be conducted year-round, drill access in low-lying boggy areas is best during the frozen winter months.
Also, periodic heavy rainfall or snowfall can hamper exploration at times during the summer or winter months. The climate
at the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project would be suitable to year-round open-pit mining operations. The climate setting is
analogous to that of the former Dome Mine open-pit near Timmins, Ontario or Osisko’s Canadian Malartic open-pit mine
60 km to the south of the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project.
The principal economic activities in the region are agriculture and forestry. The sustainable nature of these industries has
contributed to a stable population. As a result, Amos is well serviced by a large number of businesses and industrial suppliers.
The Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project would require construction of additional accommodation in town, but the municipal
economy is sufficiently evolved and diversified that responsibility for the investment in, and construction of, additional
accommodation would likely be provided by third parties. The existing infrastructure in town is likely adequate to support the
expanded population.
Amos has a municipal airport but is not serviced by regularly scheduled commercial flights. The nearest cities with airports
serviced by regularly scheduled flights are Rouyn-Noranda (2016 Census population 42,334), which is 120 km by road to the
southwest, and Val d’Or (2016 Census population 33,871), which is 90 km by road to the southeast. Both Rouyn-Noranda
and Val d’Or have traditionally been centres for the mining industry, and there is a large base of skilled mining personnel
resident within the region.
The project site is well serviced with respect to other infrastructure, including:


Road – Provincial Highway 111 runs along the southern boundary of the property.



Rail – The Canadian National Railway (CNR) runs through the property, slightly to the north of Highway 111, but
south of the engineered pit.



Power – The provincial utility, Hydro-Québec, has indicated that it would be feasible to extend the powerline to site
from the high voltage line that runs 5 km south of Highway 111 and that power from the grid would be made available
to the project.



Water – The project concept includes a closed system for water, with water that would be reclaimed from tailings
being reused in the process plant.



Natural Gas – Although the use of natural gas is not considered in the Feasibility Study, an existing pipeline extends
to within approximately 25 km to the south of the property.

- 21 -

The Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project exhibits low to moderate relief up to a maximum of 40 m and lies between 310 and 350 m
above sea level. The Arctic-Atlantic continental drainage divide runs along the northern boundary of the property. Water for
the diamond drilling programs is obtained from several creeks which run through the property and is generally pumped to the
drill sites. However, fresh water can also be supplied by the nearby Villemontel River. Wildlife on the property consists of
moose, black bear, beaver, rabbit and deer. Some logging has been conducted on the property with the wood being used
primarily for pulp.
Karora is not aware of any outstanding environmental liabilities attached to the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project and was not
able to comment on any remediation that may have been undertaken by previous companies.
History
Exploration & Development Work
While the presence of ultramafic and mafic rocks has been known on the property comprising the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt
Project since 1935, the presence of nickel within the rock sequence was only discovered in 1956. It was not until the 1970s
that the existence and potential of the large low-grade nickel mineralization was first recognized. Readers should refer to the
Dumont Report and Karora AIF for a summary of the major exploration phases for the Dumont Nickel Cobalt Project with
the exploration and associated work listed in point form by year.
Historical Mining and Production
No historical mining or production has been conducted on the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project. However, the Val d’Or –
Rouyn-Noranda region surrounding the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project has been a prolific mining area for the past 100 years.
Several mineral resource estimates have been completed for the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project, including in April 2008,
October 2008, April 2010, August 2010, December 2011 and April 2012.
Geological Setting, Mineralization and Deposit Types
The Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project lies within the Abitibi subprovince of the Superior geologic province of the Archean age
Canadian Shield. The Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project is covered by a layer of glacial overburden and muskeg. Mineralization
subcrops approximately 30 m below the surface. Contacts between the Dumont Deposit’s sill and its host rocks have not been
observed in outcrop but, in overall attitude, the body appears to be conformable to the layering of the volcanic rocks. This is
consistent with the interpretation of the Dumont Deposit’s ultramafic body as a sill but is also consistent with alternate
interpretations for conformable ultramafic bodies that occur in ophiolitic associations. Pillowed basalts exposed at the eastern
end of the sill clearly indicate a northeast facing direction. Offsets in the magnetic contours and internal stratigraphy of the
ultramafic zone along with oriented drill hole data have provided evidence for a number of faults at a high angle to the long
axis of the sill consistent with the northeast, northwest and east-trending regional faults. Structural logging has also identified
several faults parallel to the strike of the intrusion. Based on other offsets in mineralization and alteration, there are
undoubtedly other faults which have not yet been recognized.
The sill considered to be a layered mafic-ultramafic intrusion is comprised of a lower ultramafic zone and an upper mafic
zone. Although less than 2% of the bedrock surface of the intrusion is exposed in outcrop, the boundaries of the ultramafic
zone can be drawn with some confidence based on a magnetometer survey and diamond drilling.
Based on the identified prominent northwest (NW) and northeast (NE) trending faults, the sill can be divided into structural
blocks/domains. The true thickness of the upper mafic and lower ultramafic zone varies by location or fault block though the
sill. The north-western end of the body has not been outlined precisely; however, the ultramafic zone is a lenticular mass at
least 6,600 m in length with an average true thickness of 450 m, with a maximum of 600 m in the central region to a minimum
of 150 m in the extreme southeast. The true dip of the ultramafic zone also varies with location in the sill from 60° to 70°. The
extent of the mafic zone is much less well defined due to the low density of drill hole data intersecting this zone and its contact
with the host rock. An estimated thickness of 200 m is given to this unit based on the limited drill hole data and outcrop
locations. No feeder to the Dumont sill has been observed to date.
Two types of mineralization have been identified historically within the Dumont sill, the primary, large low-grade to
medium-grade disseminated nickel deposit and the contact type nickel-copper-PGE occurrence discovered in 1987. Drilling
by Karora has also identified discontinuous PGE mineralization associated with disseminated sulphides at lithological contacts
in the layered intrusion and within the dunite.

- 22 -

The ultramafic rocks have been serpentinized to varying degrees from partial to complete serpentinization. Along the basal
contact of the sill (outside the resource envelope) serpentinization is frequently overprinted by varying degrees of
talc-carbonate alteration. The predominant secondary assemblage is lizardite + magnetite + brucite + chlorite + diopside ±
chrysotile ± pentlandite ± awaruite ± heazlewoodite. Antigorite is developed locally, particularly in the uppermost ultramafic
zone. Native copper occurs in and along major fault systems and alongside intercumulus nickel sulphide and awaruite
mineralization, more frequently this has been observed in zones that are partially serpentinized. Trace millerite can occur in
the steatitized rocks of the basal contact zone and more rarely in large fault zones. The mafic zone is ubiquitously altered to
the assemblage actinolite + epidote + chlorite ± quartz. Primary textures are pseudomorphously preserved throughout most of
the intrusion.
Serpentinization proceeded isovolumetrically on the microscopic scale. On the microscopic scale, serpentinization was
isochemical. However, on the whole, as the major elements are re-partitioned into new phases during the process, with the
addition of hydrogen, oxygen (water) and chlorine to the system, some phases can be dissolved and transported. The extent
of this process is not well described in literature; however, within the Dumont Deposit’s sill, Karora has observed some
evidence (areas of lower than expected whole rock assays) indicating losses to the system, namely calcium and sulphur.
The textures and assemblages of the secondary minerals are indicative of retrograde, low temperature (<350°C) alteration that
may well have occurred as a result of an influx of water during the initial cooling of the intrusion. The sill was faulted and
tilted into a steeply inclined attitude during the Kenoran event but no penetrative deformational fabric is evident, and the
effects of regional metamorphism are minimal.
The age of the Dumont Deposit’s sill is not explicitly known. In early 2010, the Geological Survey of Canada attempted to
date the upper mafic zone, but was unsuccessful due the lack of dateable minerals. The conformable nature of the body,
together with the character of its differentiation, suggests that it was emplaced as a virtually horizontal sill that was folded and
faulted during the Kenoran event. It is reasonable to conclude that the Dumont sill is of late Archean age, but is only slightly
younger than the enclosing lavas; that are approximately 2,700 million years.
Disseminated Nickel Mineralization
Nickel-bearing sulphides and a nickel-iron alloy are enriched (grades > 0.35% nickel) in stratiform bands within the dunite
subzone and are also broadly disseminated at lower concentrations throughout the dunite and lower peridotite subzones. The
number and thickness of these bands varies from place to place in the deposit. Nickel sulphide and alloy concentrations
decrease gradationally away from the centre of these bands toward the interbedded zones where mineralization continues at
lower concentrations. The total nickel contained in these rocks occurs in variable proportions in sulphides, alloy and silicates
depending on primary magmatic nickel mineralogy and the degree of serpentinization of the rock.
Disseminated nickel mineralization is characterized by disseminated blebs of pentlandite ((Ni,Fe)9S8), heazlewoodite
(Ni3S2), and the ferronickel alloy, awaruite (Ni2.5Fe), occurring in various proportions throughout the sill. These minerals
can occur together as coarse agglomerates, predominantly associated with magnetite, up to 10,000 μm (10 mm), or as
individual disseminated grains ranging from 2 to 1,000 μm (0.002 to 1 mm). Nickel can also occur in the crystal structure of
several silicate minerals including olivine and serpentine.
The observed mineralogy of the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project is a result of the serpentinization of a dunite protolith, which
locally hosted a primary disseminated (intercumulus) magmatic sulphide assemblage. The serpentinization process whereby
olivine reacts with water to produce serpentine, magnetite and brucite creates a strongly reducing environment where the
nickel released from the decomposition of olivine is partitioned into lowsulphur sulphides and newly formed awaruite. Nickel
also occurs in remnant olivine and newly formed serpentine with the concentration of nickel in these minerals being dependent
on the degree of serpentinization of the rock.
Millerite (NiS) is rare but can be present in lesser amounts near host rock contact zones and in major fault zones. It typically
occurs as fine secondary overgrowths, characteristically overprinting pentlandite and heazlewoodite in intercumulus blebs.
Mineralized zones containing pentlandite, awaruite, and heazlewoodite, are classified as the following mineralization
assemblages: sulphide dominant, alloy dominant and mixed. Karora’s mineralogical sampling program provides a quantitative
analytical measure of the whole-rock mineralogy on a crushed and homogenized 1.5 m core sample, which is the basis for
understanding the combination of nickel mineral phases that constitutes these three assemblages.


Alloy mineralization is dominantly awaruite ± lesser heazlewoodite ± lesser pentlandite.
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Mixed mineralization consists of sulphides and alloy in similar proportions. Specific sub-types are heazlewoodite
and awaruite in similar proportions; pentlandite and awaruite in similar proportions; or heazlewoodite + pentlandite
and awaruite in similar proportions.



Sulphide mineralization is dominantly heazlewoodite and/or pentlandite, with or without lesser awaruite.

As noted above, nickel in silicates occurs in varying proportions throughout the deposit. In certain portions of the deposit, a
very low proportion of the nickel in the rock is contained in sulphide or alloy minerals. In these areas, the nickel in the rock
occurs primarily in silicate minerals such as serpentine or olivine. These non-mineralized areas are generally low-grade
(< 0.25% Ni) and contain no sulphides. Nickel occurring in this mode would not be recoverable through the flotation and
magnetic separation methods considered by Karora for Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project.
Exploration
Exploration for nickel mineralization on the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project has been completed primarily by diamond drilling
due to the lack of outcrop over the ultramafic portions of the Dumont Deposit’s intrusive which host the nickel mineralization.
This drilling was initially targeted using data from historical drilling and airborne electromagnetic and magnetic surveys. No
continuous trench samples were taken from the Dumont Deposit. Non-drilling exploration work carried out on the Dumont
Deposit is described below.
Drilling
Upon acquiring the Dumont Deposit, Karora conducted an initial exploration drilling program which consisted of 5 twin holes
to confirm the historic drilling results in 2007. Results from this drilling campaign confirmed the historical drilling results and
encouraged Karora to embark on an extensive drilling campaign to fully evaluate the Dumont Deposit. Karora has since
conducted core diamond drilling on the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project for the purposes of exploration, resource definition,
metallurgical sampling and bedrock geotechnical investigation. Karora has also conducted core drilling and cone penetration
testing for the purpose of overburden geotechnical characterization.
Sampling, Analysis and Data Verification
Descriptions of the historical sampling methods and approaches at the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project have been discussed
above and are further discussed in the Karora AIF and Dumont Report. Prior to the initial drilling program conducted in 2007,
Karora did not conduct any sample preparation or analysis, as no samples were collected from the property during the period
leading up to the drilling program. Since initiating field exploration work in March 2007, Karora has maintained strict sample
preparation and security procedures and a Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) program following industry best
practices.
Sample preparation, analyses, and security procedures were reviewed and the QA/QC program was discussed with Karora
staff during the site visit in 2011. Independent data analyses verification checks were performed as described below and the
results of the QA/QC program for the 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 Technical Reports were reviewed .
In the opinion of SRK Consulting (Canada) Inc. (“SRK”) the sampling preparation, security and analytical procedures used
by Karora are consistent with generally accepted industry best practices and are therefore adequate.
The Feasibility Study noted that there had been no change to core drilling assay/geochemical, mineralogical mapping, mini
pilot plant sampling methods, electron microprobe determinations, comminution testwork, and geochemical characterization
of the Dumont Deposit’s rocks and tailings described below since the Technical Report entitled “Technical Report on the
Dumont Property, Launay and Trécesson Townships, Quebec, Canada” (June 2012). New sampling campaigns for chrysotile
quantification has since been initiated and is described in the Karora AIF.
Quality Assurance & Quality Control Programs
Quality assurance and quality control programs are typically set in place to ensure the reliability and trustworthiness of
exploration data. They include written field procedures and independent verifications of aspects such as drilling, surveying,
sampling and assaying, data management and database integrity. Appropriate documentation of quality control measures and
regular analysis of quality control data are important as a safeguard for project data and form the basis for the quality assurance
program implemented during exploration.
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Analytical control measures typically involve internal and external laboratory control measures used to monitor the precision
and accuracy of sampling, sample preparation and assaying. They are also important to prevent sample mix-up and to monitor
the voluntary or inadvertent contamination of samples. Assaying protocols typically involve regular duplicate and replicate
assays and the insertion of quality control samples to monitor the reliability of assaying results throughout the sampling and
assaying procedures. Check assaying is typically performed as an additional reliability test of assaying results. Check assaying
involves re-assaying a set number of rejects and pulps at a secondary umpire laboratory.
Karora has implemented external analytical control measures since commencing drilling programs at the Dumont
Nickel-Cobalt Project in 2007. Analytical control measures consist of the insertion of quality control samples (field blanks,
field duplicates and certified reference material samples) in all sample batches submitted for assaying as well as check
assaying. Karora only began regularly inserting quality control samples beginning with drill hole 07-RN-04.
Data Verification
SRK conducted site visits; Karora uses database verifications and SRK has verified the logging procedures and performed
statistical tests; verifications of analytical and quality control data were made by SRK and data sets did not present obvious
evidence of analytical bias; SRK conducted independent verification sampling as described in the Karora AIF.
Mineral Processing and Metallurgical Testing
The objective of the feasibility metallurgical study was to quantify the metallurgical response of the Dumont Deposit’s
ultramafic nickel mineralization. The program was designed to develop the parameters for process design criteria for ore flow
characteristics, comminution, desliming, flotation and dewatering in the processing plant. Data from the metallurgical studies
was integrated into the geological and resource model for the Dumont Deposit in order to evaluate the quality of the resource.
The metallurgical program was performed on the following composites and samples: metallurgical variability samples;
mineralization composites (sulphide, alloy and mixed); metallurgical domain composite samples; outcrop sample; and
grindability samples. Overall, once the rougher and cleaner recovery equations were applied, the average nickel recovery over
the life of the project is 43%.
The process plant and associated service facilities will process ore delivered to primary crushers to produce nickel concentrate
and tailings. The proposed process encompasses crushing and grinding of the ore (run of mine or stockpiled), desliming via
hydrocyclone circuit, slimes rougher flotation, slimes cleaner flotation, nickel sulphide rougher flotation, nickel sulphide
cleaning flotation, magnetic recovery of sulphide rougher and cleaner tailings, regrinding of magnetic concentrate and an
awaruite recovery circuit (consisting of rougher and cleaner flotation stages). Concentrate will be thickened, filtered and
stockpiled on site prior to being loaded onto railcars or trucks for transport to third-party processing facilities. The magnetic
separation tailings and awaruite rougher tailings will be combined in the coarse tailings thickener. The majority of the
thickened coarse tailings will be sent to the TSF, while a small portion will be mixed with the slimes flotation tailings to help
settle the material in the slimes tailings thickener. The thickened slimes tailings will also be sent to the TSF in a dedicated
pipeline. The process plant will be built in two phases. Initially, the plant will be designed to process 52.5 kt/d with allowances
for a duplicate process expansion to increase plant capacity to 105 kt/d. Common facilities will include concentrate thickening
and handling and sulphuric acid off-loading and containment.
Mineral Resource and Reserves Estimate
A mineral resource estimate for the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project was prepared. The effective date of the current resource
estimate is May 30, 2019. The mineral resource estimate considers drilling information available to December 31, 2012, as
no new drilling information is available beyond that date and was evaluated using a geostatistical block modelling approach
constrained by seven sulphide mineralization wireframes. The mineral resources have been estimated in conformity with the
CIM “Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserves Estimation Best Practices” guidelines and were classified according to the CIM
Standard Definition for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves guidelines. SRK is unaware of any environmental,
permitting, legal, title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, and political or other relevant issues that may materially affect
the mineral resources.
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Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project, Quebec, SRK Consulting (Canada) Inc., May 30, 2019*
Quantity
(kt)

Grade Ni
(%)

Measured

372,100

0.28

112

1050

2,310

40

92

Indicated

1,293,500

0.26

106

3,380

7,441

140

302

Measured + Indicated

1,665,600

0.27

107

4,430

9,750

180

394

Inferred

499,800

0.26

101

1,300

2,862

50

112

Resource Category

Quantity
(kt)

Grade Pd
(g/t)

Grade Pt
(g/t)

Measured

372,100

0.024

0.011

288

126

Indicated

1,293,500

0.017

0.008

720

335

Measured + Indicated

1,665,600

0.020

0.009

1,008

461

499,800

0.014

0.006

220

92

Resource Category

Inferred

Quantity
(kt)

Grade Co
(ppm)

Grade Magnetite
(%)

Resource Category

Contained Nickel

Contained Cobalt

(kt)

(kt)

(M lbs)

Contained Palladium Contained Platinum
(koz)
(koz)

Contained
Magnetite
(kt)

Measured

–

–

–

Indicated

1,114,300

4.27

47,580

Measured + Indicated

1,114,300

4.27

47,580

832,000

4.02

33,430

Inferred

(M lbs)

________________________________________
Note:
(1) *Reported at a cut-off grade of 0.15 percent nickel inside conceptual pit shells optimized using nickel price of US$7.50 per pound, average metallurgical
and process recovery of 43 percent, processing and G&A costs of US$4.33 per tonne milled, exchange rate of C$1.00 equal US$0.77, overall pit slope
of 42 degrees to 50 degrees depending on the sector, and a production rate of 105,000 tonnes per day. The qualified person considers that the conceptual
pit shells would not be materially different to that if current (2019) conceptual pit optimization assumptions were considered. The technical parameters
would be unchanged and with the metal price in Canadian dollars constant due to the decrease in US$ nickel price assumption compensated by
corresponding decrease in US$:CAD$ exchange rate, the qualified person considers the reporting cut-off grade of 0.15 percent nickel to be reasonable.
Values of cobalt, palladium, platinum and magnetite are not considered in the cut-off grade calculation as they are by-products of recovered nickel. All
figures are rounded to reflect the relative accuracy of the estimates. Mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not have demonstrated economic
viability. The Measured and Indicated Mineral Resources are inclusive of those Mineral Resources modified to produce Mineral Reserves.

Mineral Reserves Statement* (May 30, 2019)
Grades
Category

(kt)

Contained Metal

Ni
(%)

Co
(ppm)

Pt
(g/t)

Pd
(g/t)

Ni
(M lb)

Co
(M lb)

Pt
(koz)

Pd
(koz)

Proven

163,140

0.33

114

0.013

0.031

1,174

41

67

162

Probable

864,908

0.26

106

0.008

0.017

4,908

202

220

466

1,028,048

0.27

107

0.009

0.019

6,082

243

287

627

Total

________________________________________
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Note:
(1) Reported at a cut-off grade of 0.15% nickel inside an engineered pit design based on a Lerchs-Grossmann (LG) optimized pit shell using a nickel price
of US$4.05 per pound, average metallurgical recovery of 43%, marginal processing and G&A costs of US$4.10 per tonne milled, long-term exchange
rate of C$1.00 equal US$0.75, overall pit rock slopes of 40° to 50° depending on the sector, and a production rate of 105 kt/d. Mineral Reserves include
mining losses of 0.33% and dilution of 0.43% that will be incurred at the contact between mineralization and waste. The life of mine stripping ratio is
1.02:1. The Proven Reserves are based on Measured Resources included within run-of-mine (ROM) mill feed. Probable Reserves are based on Measured
Resources included within stockpile mill feed plus Indicated Resources included in both ROM and stockpile mill feed. All figures are rounded to reflect
the relative accuracy of the estimates.

In addition to nickel, SRK modelled the abundance distribution of seven other main elements: calcium, cobalt, chromium,
iron, palladium, platinum and sulphur as well as specific gravity.
To facilitate Karora’s evaluation of nickel recovery, SRK also constructed estimation models of mineral abundances.
Specifically, SRK modelled the abundance distribution of awaruite, brucite, coalingite, high iron serpentine, heazlewoodite,
serpentine, low-iron serpentine, magnetite, olivine and pentlandite. The mineral model was constructed to support ongoing
metallurgical studies. The mineral abundance model is coextensive and of identical dimensions to the element model.
Reserve estimates were based on the mineral resource block. Reserves are contained within an engineered pit design that is
based upon a Lerchs-Grossmann optimized pit shell generated using a nickel price of US$4.05/lb, which is considerably lower
than the long-term forecast of US$7.75/lb. Reserves include dilution of 0.43% and mining losses of 0.33%.
Mining Operations
The open pit mine has been designed to provide ore to the plant in a manner that optimises net present value.
A high level summary of the mining sequence is as follows:


Phase 1 is the starter Quarry, which targets the only outcrop and will provide waste rock for construction purposes
along with ore to be stockpiled and used for commissioning the mill. The void created by mining of Phase 1 will also
serve as a temporary reservoir to hold the start-up water requirements for the mill. Longer term, while the Main Pit
(Phases 2-7) is in operation, the Quarry will also provide contingent surge storage capacity for the freshet and other
periods of higher precipitation.



Additional construction rock will be provided by Phase 2, which is located within the South East Extension (“SEE”)
immediately west of the ‘Saddle’ separating it from the Quarry.



Phase 3 is the highest value portion of the entire pit and is targeted as soon as sufficient construction rock has been
liberated from Phases 1 & 2.



Phases 4 and 5 are Main Pit pushbacks to the hanging wall and footwall.



Phase 6 is an extension to the final limits of the SEE.



Phase 7 is the final phase of the Main Pit, extending to the west, hanging wall and at depth.



During phase 8, following completion of the Main Pit, tailings will be impounded inpit and there will no longer be a
requirement for the contingent water storage within the Quarry. Phase 8 is an extension to the ultimate limits of the
Quarry. A rock pillar will remain between this satellite pit and the SEE immediately adjacent.

A key component of the mine plan is the accelerated release of ore from the pit, with higher value ore being fed directly to the
mill and lower value material being temporarily stockpiled. During the life of pit, a total of 511 Mt will be loaded to the lowgrade stockpiles. Of this, 112 Mt of the highest value stockpile material will be reclaimed during the initial 19 years that the
main pit is active. The remaining 398 Mt will be reclaimed after completion of the Main Pit, extending the life of project to a
total of 30 years and 3 months. For simplicity, the remainder of this document refers to project life as 30 years.
Infrastructure, Permitting and Compliance Activities
Infrastructure
The project site is well serviced with respect to other infrastructure, including:
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Road – Provincial Highway 111 runs along the southern boundary of the property.



Rail – The Canadian National Railway (CNR) runs through the property, slightly to the north of Highway 111, but
south of the engineered pit.



Power – The provincial utility, Hydro-Québec, has indicated that it would be feasible to provide electrical power to
the mine site via a 10.5 km long 120 kV overhead powerline to be constructed, which would be connected as a teeoff to an existing line. The line will enter the property from the south near the security entrance gate and runs up to
the process plant main 120 kV substation.



Water – The project concept includes a closed system for water, with water that would be reclaimed from tailings
being reused in the process plant. Make-up water would be taken from the quarry and, if required under exceptional
circumstances, from the Villemontel River, at a point located approximately 5 km from the planned site for the mill.



Gas – Although the use of propane gas delivered by tanker truck is considered for heating buildings in this study, an
existing natural gas pipeline extends to within approximately 25 km from the south edge of the property which could
be considered for future requirements.



Both the initial and expansion phases of the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project will require three 120:13.8 kV
60/80 MVA main transformers. The new 120 kV substation and six main transformers will be installed near the SAG
Mill Feed Conveyor. The 13.8 kV medium voltage network will be used for the primary electrical distribution and
for feeding large loads such as the SAG mill and ball mills.



A rail spur that services the process plant is proposed for the project. The total length of the rail spur is 6 km. The
rail spur consists of a fuel drop-off and pick up siding near the mining truck shop and the main track extends north
of the process plant. A rail car drop-off and pickup siding is located north of the main security entrance, northwest
of the water treatment plant for dropping off and picking up the rail cars used to deliver consumables for the mill and
nickel concentrate. The process plant area consists of the crushing facility, covered stockpile and process plant
building. The overall process plant enclosed structure is approximately 350 m long, and consists of four connected
buildings: grinding, flotation, cleaning, and filtration.



The TSF is located approximately 400 m west of the process plant and consists of a tailings impoundment and a
Recycle Water Basin (RWB). It is designed to store approximately 596 Mt of tailings over nineteen (19) years. Once
mining at the open pit has ceased, stockpiled ore will be processed for approximately 12 years and those tailings,
approximately 428 Mt, will be deposited in the open pit.

Environmental
An Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (“ESIA”) was performed as part as the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project
permitting process and integrates a number of studies performed by Karora and its consultants over the past twelve years.
Biophysical data come mainly from three distinct fieldwork programs performed from 2007 to 2009, with some
complementary information extracted from the baseline studies designed to support the Environmental and Social Impact
Assessment in 2011 and 2012. Karora has hired consultants over the past 5 years to optimize the project and consequently,
additional data were acquired from 2013-2018 by consultants or Karora.
These environmental baseline studies have not identified any specific inordinate environmental risk to project development.
Environmental sensitivities are primarily related to potential impacts associated with the scale and footprint of the proposed
operation, and the composition of materials being handled and impounded on the site. Principal impacts anticipated at this
stage relate to air quality, wetlands, fish habitat, water resources (surface and groundwater), and the social environment.
Although, there are some sensitive elements in the surrounding footprint, the optimization work conducted on the mining plan
and design significantly eliminate or reduce significantly the effect of the project on these components.
Exploration, Development and Production
Project Implementation
Since completion of the feasibility study, economic conditions have impacted and are continuing to impact the timing of the
financing process as well are the foregoing milestones. Taking such delays into consideration, Karora has targeted the
following key milestones to achieve the development of the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project:
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Completion of partnership and financing arrangements;



Estimated construction schedule of 24 months post securing of financing and completion of detailed engineering;
and



Project commissioning is expected to begin in ten to eleven quarters after financing is in place.

Karora will also continue to work with the local community to maintain excellent communications and relationships
throughout all phases of the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt Project development.
NuevaUnión, Chile
Nova holds a 2.0% NSR interest on the La Fortuna Deposit, which is part of NuevaUnión. NuevaUnión, is comprised of two
orebodies, the Relincho deposit and the La Fortuna Deposit.
The El Morro Report entitled “El Morro Copper-Gold Project Atacama Region, Chile NI 43-101 Technical Report” having
an effective date of February 16, 2010 was prepared for Goldcorp Inc. (now known as Newmont Corporation), and filed under
Goldcorp Inc.’s SEDAR profile on www.sedar.com on March 19, 2010, and information that has been provided by Goldcorp
Inc. and/or has been sourced from their news releases with respect to NuevaUnión. Readers should consult the El Morro
Report to obtain further particulars on NuevaUnión, and in particular the La Fortuna Deposit (which previously formed part
of the El Morro Copper-Gold Project as set forth in the El Morro Report).
The following description of NuevaUnión has been prepared in reliance, in part, on the El Morro Report and public disclosure
(the “NuevaUnión Public Disclosure”) of Teck, including Teck’s Annual Information Form dated February 26, 2020, and
Newmont, who are the joint venturers of NuevaUnión, and readers should consult the El Morro Report and the NuevaUnión
Public Disclosure to obtain further particulars on NuevaUnión. The El Morro Report is available for review under Goldcorp
Inc.’s profile on SEDAR and the NuevaUnión Public Disclosure is available for review under Newmont’s and Teck’s profiles
on SEDAR (www.sedar.com).
While the Company does not have any knowledge that such information is not accurate, the Company has not independently
verified this information and there can be no assurance that such third-party information is complete or accurate.
El Morro Report
Summary
Newmont (previously Goldcorp Inc.) prepared the El Morro Report for the El Morro Copper-Gold Project, located in the
Atacama Region of Chile.
At the time of the El Morro Report, Newmont held 70% of the El Morro Copper-Gold Project and was operator. The remaining
30% was held by New Gold Inc.
The El Morro property encompasses three separate centers of porphyry style copper-gold mineralization which are referred to
as the La Fortuna, El Morro, and El Negro areas. A feasibility study was completed on the El Morro Copper-Gold Project in
2008 to assess the economics of exploiting the La Fortuna Deposit.
Project Description, Location and Access
Current access to the El Morro Copper-Gold Project is through the town of Vallenar, which is situated at kilometer 663 of the
Pan-American Highway, north of Santiago. From Vallenar, 72 km of paved road leads east to Chanchoquin and then continues
another 73 km to the east-northeast via the Totoral gravel/dirt road. The proposed mine site is approximately 15 km from the
Chilean border with Argentina.
The closest community is El Transito with a population of 1,000, located approximately 75 km by road from the El Morro
Copper-Gold Project. The nearest commercial airport is located close to Copiapó. Chilean airlines have daily flights to and
from Santiago.
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Project Setting and Infrastructure
The prevailing climate is of the high cordillera type, with freezing temperatures and moderate snowfalls from March to
October and dry, cool summers. Mining operations are expected to be able to be conducted year-round.
The El Morro Copper-Gold Project lies in the high Andes, between 3,800-4,250 masl, and the El Morro Copper-Gold Project
area is characterized by a relatively mild relief.
A skilled labour force is available in the Copiapó region and surrounding mining areas of northern Chile. Fuel and supplies
are expected to be provided from nearby communities such as Copiapó.
Accommodation on site is currently restricted to the exploration camp.
The terrain surrounding the deposits is adequate for construction of administration, camp, mine, plant, tailings, and waste rock
disposal facilities. Newmont holds sufficient tenure that the required infrastructure can be built.
Planned mine site infrastructure to support proposed operations will include, in addition to the future plant site at the mine,
mine access road construction and upgrades, a desalination plant, concentrate filtration plant, and construction of major
receiving, storage, and transfer facilities at different locations in Chile en-route to the mine.
In the 2008 feasibility study, Xstrata proposed construction of an entirely new access route to the Pan American highway from
the El Morro Copper-Gold Project. This access route will also serve as the concentrate and water pipeline route, and the
preferred location for the El Morro Copper-Gold Project powerline.
Electric power required for the El Morro Copper-Gold Project was planned to be supplied by the Chilean central power grid
from a new substation to be installed at Algarrobal located 50 km north of the existing Maintencillo substation near Vallenar.
Due to the shortage of water in the proposed mine area, Xstrata concluded in the 2008 feasibility study that a seawater
desalination plant would offer the most reliable water supply over the lifetime of the mine operation.
History
Initial exploitation of the El Morro Copper-Gold Project mineralization consisted of development of shallow open pits and
underground workings to extract high-grade copper sulphide mineralization, some time prior to 1931. There is no record
available of the tonnages or grades of material that was exploited.
From 1992, exploration activity has included geological mapping, Landsat and airphoto interpretations, talus and PIMA
sampling, MMI and enzyme leach soil sampling, stream sediment and rock chip sampling, ground and airborne geophysical
surveys, trenching, RC and core drilling, mineral resource estimation, and construction of an exploration decline to provide
bulk metallurgical samples.
Companies performing this work included BHP, Metallica Resources Inc., Noranda Chile Ltda (Noranda), Falconbridge
Limited (Falconbridge), and Xstrata plc (Xstrata). Each was in turn the El Morro Copper-Gold Project operator.
A pre-feasibility study was completed on behalf of Xstrata and Metallica in 2007, and a feasibility study in 2008.
New Gold Inc. acquired the Xstrata 70% interest in the El Morro Copper-Gold Project in late 2009 for a consideration of
$463 million, which amount was loaned by Newmont. After acquisition of the 70% interest by a New Gold Inc. subsidiary,
New Gold Inc. sold that subsidiary to Newmont. Concurrent with the sale of the New Gold Inc. subsidiary to Newmont on 16
February 2010, Newmont made a $50 million payment to New Gold Inc. and the parties amended the terms of the existing El
Morro Shareholders Agreement.
Geological Setting, Mineralization and Deposit Types
The La Fortuna Deposit is considered to be an example of a primary gold–copper porphyry system, with strong affinities to
high sulphidation, volcanic-hosted gold systems.
The La Fortuna copper-gold porphyry system extends over an 850 m by 450 m north-south elongated area and is intrusive
into Tertiary-age volcanic/volcano sedimentary sequences. The mineralization, including that which extends into the host
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country rocks, consists of an 800-900 m diameter, subvertical, cylinder-shaped mineralized zone which extends downward to
depths of 1 km below surface and remains open at depth.
The deposit is significantly affected by a major northwest-trending fault system that includes the La Fortuna and Cantarito
faults which largely define the northern and southern limits of the La Fortuna porphyry stock and attendant alteration system.
The La Fortuna Deposit is localized within a northwest elongated alteration zone measuring approximately 2.5 km long by up
to 1.5 km wide along the southeastern flank of Cerro La Fortuna. The outcropping portion of the deposit clearly shows a
telescoped suite of events, which goes from the deep, high temperature-high pressure potassic alteration type into the
intermediate argillic, phyllic and finally advanced argillic types, all in a vertical distance of no more than 200 m.
The deposit is characterized by four distinct mineral zones which include, from the top down, an upper leached cap horizon,
a transitional assemblage of secondary supergene copper oxides, an intermediate assemblage of secondary supergene copper
sulphides (enrichment blanket) and deeper assemblage of primary hypogene sulphides. Copper and gold mineralization is
hosted in variable intensities of quartz veinlet swarms, breccia zones and rarely large vein zones developed in the porphyry
phases.
Mineralogy in the oxide portion of the deposit consists of both green copper oxides and a mixed assemblage of copper
oxides and secondary copper sulphides. Copper oxide minerals include atacamite, chrysocolla and minor cuprite and
copper wad. Mineralogy within the secondary zone is characterized by chalcocite and/or digenite and lesser covellite which
partially replace primary pyrite and chalcopyrite. Principal copper-bearing sulphides in the primary zone include
chalcopyrite and bornite, along with locally minor amounts of tetrahedrite-tennantite. Pyrite is also abundant. Gold occurs
throughout the primary hypogene zone and has a very strong correlation to copper content.
NuevaUnión Public Disclosure
Teck’s Annual Information Form dated February 26, 2020
NuevaUnión is a 50/50 partnership between Teck and Newmont, consisting of the copper-gold La Fortuna Deposit and the
copper-molybdenum Relincho deposit and located approximately 40 kilometres apart in the Huasco Province in the Atacama
region of Chile. In 2019, NuevaUnión continued to advance its feasibility study, which is expected to be completed during
the first quarter of 2020. The partners agreed to defer submission of the Environmental Impact Assessment from the previously
announced fourth quarter of 2019 time frame. Work in 2020 will focus on a review of study results and an assessment of
optimization opportunities.
Mineral Reserves and Resources
See “Notes to Mineral Reserves and Resources Tables” below, after the Mineral Resources tables.
MINERAL RESERVES as at December 31, 2019(1)
Proven

Probable

Total

Tonnes
(000’s)

Grade
(%)

Tonnes
(000’s)

Grade
(%)

Tonnes
(000’s)

Grade
(%)

La Fortuna
(Copper)

396,900

0.57

285,400

0.41

682,200

0.51

La Fortuna
(Gold)

396,900

0.54(g/t)

285,400

0.37(g/t)

682,200

0.47(g/t)
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MINERAL RESOURCES as at December 31, 2019(1)
Measured

Indicated

Inferred

Tonnes
(000’s)

Grade
(%)

Tonnes
(000’s)

Grade
(%)

Tonnes
(000’s)

Grade
(%)

La Fortuna
(Copper)

6,600

0.38

151,800

0.53

533,900

0.37

La Fortuna
(Gold)

6,600

0.31(g/t)

151,800

0.62(g/t)

533,900

0.37(g/t)

Notes to Mineral Reserves and Resources Tables
(1) Mineral reserves and resources are mine and property totals and are not limited to Teck’s proportionate interests.
(2) Recoverable Metal refers to the amount of metal contained in concentrate or cathode copper.

As of the end of 2019, a feasibility study on the NuevaUnión project was nearing completion. Reserves and resources for one
deposit, La Fortuna have been updated above based on the results of this study. Reserves at the La Fortuna Deposit considers
a bulk open-pit mining operation that will be developed in three production phases that will alternate mining operations
between the La Fortuna Deposit and the Relincho deposit.
La Fortuna mineral reserves and open pit mineral resources are reported using an average net smelter return cut-off of
US$9.14.0/tonne and US$9.12.0/tonne, respectively. It assumes metal prices of US$ 3.00/lb copper and US$ 1,200/oz gold.
Mineral resources outside of the mineral reserve pit are defined using a conceptual underground mining envelope. This
approach assumes the same recoveries, metal prices, processing and general & administration costs as used for the open pits
but with mining costs and dilution assumptions that are more appropriate to bulk underground mining.
Teck’s Management Discussion & Analysis, dated February 26, 2020
In 2019, the NuevaUnión joint venture continued to advance its feasibility study, which it expected to be completed in the
first quarter of 2020. The partners agreed to defer submission of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) from the
previously announced fourth quarter of 2019 time frame. Work in 2020 will focus on a review of study results and assessment
of optimization opportunities.
As a result of current market conditions and Teck’s focus on optimization work, expenditures on the NuevaUnión asset is
expected to be significantly reduced in 2020. Teck’s 2019 capital expenditures for NuevaUnión, which is accounted for as an
equity investment, was $67 million. Funding in 2020 to NuevaUnión is expected to be $17 million.
Teck’s Management Discussion and Analysis for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
At the end of the first quarter of 2018, a PFS on the NuevaUnión project was completed which incorporates key design changes
to improve project economics and respond to community and Indigenous peoples’ input. NuevaUnión is a joint venture owned
50% by Teck and 50% by Goldcorp (now Newmont).
The PFS confirms the synergies expected through combining Teck and Newmont’s previously separate Relincho and
La Fortuna (formerly El Morro) projects and the benefits of ongoing early engagement with communities and Indigenous
peoples, including:


Long-life asset that can operate through multiple price cycles;



Phased development approach that reduces initial capital investment and execution risk;



Low C1 cash costs in the first phases of development;



Extended mine life from 32 to 36 years, not including 205 million tonnes of inferred resources contained within the
current pit designs;



Reduced environmental footprint, infrastructure requirements and energy and water use;
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The use of desalinated water during operations to protect freshwater resources;



Relocation of the tailings facility to the Relincho site in response to concerns expressed by local communities of the
previously proposed El Morro tailings facility location within the agriculturally important Huasco River watershed;
and



Significant further resource expansion potential and project optimization opportunities.

The PFS estimates an initial capital cost for the Phase 1 development of the project on a 100% basis of US$3.4 to
US$3.5 billion (not including working capital or interest during construction). Phase 2 development of the project will require
additional capital investment to link in the La Fortuna site. Mining the higher-grade portions of Relincho in Phase 1 will allow
the project to help fund Phase 2 from project cash flows. Initial production from the La Fortuna mine in Phase 2 will also
focus on higher grade areas, providing significant cash flows in the early years of this phase.
The Relincho and La Fortuna Deposits will be bulk open-pit mining operations that will be developed in three production
phases. Phase 1 (operating years 1-3) sees mining activities and construction of processing and ancillary facilities at the
Relincho site. The proposed nominal ore-processing rate in Phase 1 is 104,000 tonnes per day. In Phase 2 (operating
years 4-18), mining activities transfer to the La Fortuna site utilizing an ore conveyance system to transport ore to the
processing facilities at Relincho. The proposed nominal ore-processing rate is 116,000 tonnes per day in Phase 2. Phase 3
(operating years 19-36) sees mining activities transfer back to Relincho with an expansion to the processing and ancillary
facilities increasing the nominal ore processing rate to 208,000 tonnes per day.
The PFS design covers a processing plant, tailings management facilities and ancillary facilities at the Relincho site and a
conveyor system to transport ore from the La Fortuna mine to the concentrator at Relincho. It also includes power transmission
lines and substations, a desalination plant, concentrate filtration plant, port and marine structures on the coast and both
desalinated water and concentrate pipeline and pumping systems between the coast and the concentrator site.
NuevaUnión is a multi-generational, long-life development opportunity. Numerous opportunities to improve project
economics were identified in the PFS, some of which are included in the current project design, such as the use of High
Pressure Grinding Rolls in the comminution circuit. Evaluation and optimization of these opportunities will continue in a
value-creation phase over the next three to four months before starting feasibility level engineering in the second half of 2018.
Detailed project economics will be released with the completion of the Feasibility Study.
Social and environmental baseline work is ongoing, and a potential EIA permit application could be submitted during the
Feasibility Study phase, which is expected to last approximately twelve months. Teck looks forward to continuing to build
meaningful relationships with communities, Indigenous peoples and other stakeholders that will help guide the project’s
development and create greater value for all parties.
ROYALTIES AND STREAMS GENERALLY
What is a Royalty?
A royalty is a payment to a royalty holder by a property owner or an operator of a property and is typically based on a
percentage of the minerals or other products produced or the revenues or profits generated from the property. The granting of
a royalty to a person usually arises as a result of paying part of the consideration payable to land owners, prospectors or junior
mining companies for the purchase of their property interests; providing capital in exchange for granting a royalty; or
converting a participating interest in a joint venture relationship into a royalty.
Royalties are not typically working interests in a property. Therefore, depending on the nature of the royalty interest and the
laws applicable to the royalty and project, the royalty holder is generally not responsible for, and has no obligation to
contribute, additional funds, including, but not limited to, operating or capital costs, or environmental or reclamation liabilities.
Typically, royalty interests are established through a contract between the royalty holder and the property owner, although
many jurisdictions permit the holder to also register or otherwise record evidence of a royalty interest in applicable mineral
title or land registries. The unique characteristics of royalties may provide royalty holders with special commercial benefits
not available to the property owner because the royalty holder may enjoy the upside potential of the property with reduced
risk.
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Royalties can be commodity specific and, for instance, apply only to nickel or copper, or have varying royalty structures for
different commodities from the same property. Royalties can be restricted or varied by metallurgy, ore type or even by
stratigraphic horizon.
Generally, the contract terms for royalties in the oil and gas business are more standardized than those found in the mineral
business.
Revenue-Based Royalties
GRR (gross revenue royalties) and GORR (gross overriding royalties) are based on the total revenue stream from the sale of
production from the property, which can sometimes include deductions. GPR (gross proceeds royalties) are, for the purposes
of this discussion, comparable to GRR.
NSR (net smelter return) royalties are based on the value of production or net proceeds received by the operator from a smelter
or refinery. These proceeds are usually subject to deductions or charges for transportation, insurance, smelting and refining
costs, as set out in the royalty agreement. This type of royalty generally provides a cash flow that is free of any operating or
capital costs or environmental liabilities. A smaller percentage NSR in a project can effectively equate to the economic value
of a larger percentage profit or working interest in the same project.
NSR royalties are the type of royalties currently held by Nova.
Profit-Based Royalties
NPI royalties (net profit interest royalties) are based on the profit realized after deducting costs related to production. Although
the royalty holder is generally not responsible for providing capital, covering operating losses or environmental liabilities,
increases in production costs will affect net profits and, as a result, the royalties payable.
Fixed Royalties
Fixed royalties are paid based on a set rate per tonne mined, produced or processed or even a minimum for a period of time
rather than as a percentage of revenue or profits. These types of royalties are more common for iron ore, coal and industrial
minerals and usually do not have exposure to changes in the underlying commodity price.
PRs (production royalties) are typically based on metal produced, often at a predetermined fixed price.
AVAILABLE FUNDS AND PRINCIPAL PURPOSES
Available Funds and Principal Purposes
This is a non-offering prospectus. The Company is not raising any funds in conjunction with this Prospectus and accordingly,
there are no proceeds to be raised by the Company pursuant to this Prospectus. The Company had working capital as at June
30, 2020 of $2,275,000 (not including the deferred payment to NuevaUnión). Upon Listing, the principal purposes for the
foregoing available funds will be as follows:
Principal Purposes

Amount

Estimated remaining expenses of the Listing
(regulatory, filing, legal expenses, etc.)

$178,000

Deferred Payment to NuevaUnión (1)

$991,275

Estimated general and administrative expenses
for 12 months(2)

$569,000

Unallocated working capital

$536,725

Total

$2,275,000

Notes:
(1)
The deferred payment to NuevaUnión is in the amount of US$750,000 and will be paid in US dollars by February 18, 2021 in
connection with the Cantarito Royalty, but has been expressed here in Canadian dollars (converted as of the date of this
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(2)

Prospectus) for convenience. See “General Development and Business of the Company – Acquisition of 2.0% Copper NSR on
Teck/Newmont’s NuevaUnión Project”.
Estimated based on the following amounts: consulting and management fees of $432,000 (consisting of $180,000 payable to
Alex Tsukernik, President and CEO of the Company, $150,000 payable to Seabord Services Corp. and $102,000 payable to
certain consultants of the Company) professional fees of $40,000, transfer agent, regulatory and listing fees of $37,000, and office
expenses and travel of $60,000. See “Executive Compensation”.

It is anticipated that the available funds will be sufficient to achieve the Company’s objectives over the next 12 months. The
Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances, however, where
for sound business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary. In addition, the current COVID-19 pandemic as well as
future unforeseen events may impact the ability of the Company to use the available funds as intended or disclosed. Use of
funds will be subject to the discretion of management. Until we use the unallocated funds, we will hold them in cash and/or
invest them in short-term, interest-bearing, investment-grade securities.
Business Objectives and Milestones
The Company is primarily engaged in the acquisition of royalty interests. The Company will continue to investigate and
acquire additional royalties and similar interests. The Company has sufficient working capital to meet its financial
requirements for at least the next 12 months. See “Risk Factors – Uncertainty of Use of Available Funds”.
The Company anticipates achieving its objectives through the following means: (i) by acquiring assets through the issuance
of common shares; (ii) by raising additional capital through the issuance of treasury shares or the exercise of existing
convertible securities and (iii) by securing credit facilities to fund acquisitions.
Negative Operating Cash Flow
For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and the year-ended December 31, 2019, the Company had negative cash flow
from operations. If the Company continues to have negative cash flow into the future, net proceeds may need to be allocated
to fund this negative cash flow. The Company anticipates it will continue to have negative cash flow from operating activities
in future periods until such time as the projects underlying its royalties or other future interests generate revenues. Future cash
flows from such interests are dependent upon the underlying projects achieving production. There can be no assurance that
such production will ever be achieved. See “Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” for further
detail.
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The following table sets out selected financial information for Nova. The following information should be read in conjunction
with the reviewed interim financial statements of the Company for the three month period ended March 31, 2019 and
March 31, 2020, and the audited financial statements of the Company as at December 31, 2018, December 31, 2019. The
following information should be read in conjunction with those financial statements and the accompanying notes found
elsewhere in this Prospectus.
For the year ended
December 31, 2019
(audited)
($)

Total current assets
Total non-current assets
Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Deficit

168,159
3,567,203
3,735,362
262,190
262,190
(1,005,519)
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For the period
from
incorporation to
December 31, 2018
(audited)
($)
1,572,846
222,725
1,795,571
139,295
139,295
(78,079)

For the three
month period
ending
March 31, 2020
(unaudited)
($)
2,905,759
7,856,796
10,762,555
1,492,317
1,492,317
(1,545,772)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
The following financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and MD&A are included as schedules to this
Prospectus:
Schedule A:

Audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the period from
incorporation on July 20, 2018 to December 31, 2018.

Schedule B:

Management’s discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Schedule C:

Interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2020.

Schedule D

Management’s discussion and analysis for the three months ended March 31, 2020.

The financial statements listed above have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Certain information included in the MD&A is forward-looking and based upon assumptions and anticipated results that are
subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties materialize or should the underlying assumptions prove
incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those expected. See “Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”.
DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL
The following describes material terms of our authorized share structure. The following description may not be complete and
is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the terms and provisions of our Articles.
Common Shares
The Company’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares of which 36,434,074 Common Shares
are issued and outstanding as at the date of this Prospectus. The holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive notice
of and to attend and vote at all meetings of shareholders (other than meetings at which only holders of another class or series
of shares are entitled to vote). Each Common Share carries the right to one vote. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or
winding-up of the Company or any other distribution of the assets of the Company among its shareholders for the purpose of
winding-up its affairs the holders of the Common Shares will, subject to the rights of the Preferred Shares and any other class
of shares in the Company entitled to receive property and assets of the Company upon such a distribution in priority to the
holders of the Common Shares, be entitled to receive, on a pro rata basis, all remaining property and assets of the Company.
The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Board in respect of the Common
Shares on a pro rata basis. Upon the Company becoming a reporting issuer, there will be no pre-emptive, redemption,
retraction, purchase or conversion rights attached to the Common Shares.
Preferred Shares
The Company’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of Preferred Shares of which there are no Preferred Shares
issued and outstanding as at the date of this Prospectus. Except for such rights relating to the election of directors on a default
in payment of dividends as may be attached to any series of the Preferred Shares by the directors of the Company, holders of
the Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of, or to attend or vote at, any general meeting of shareholders of
the Company. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, or any other distribution of the assets
of the Company among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, the holders of the Preferred Shares shall be
entitled to receive, before any distribution is made to the holders of the Common Shares, the amount paid up with respect to
each Preferred Share held by them, all accrued and unpaid cumulative dividends (if any and if preferential) thereon, whether
or not earned or declared, and all declared and unpaid non-cumulative dividends (if any and if preferential) thereon. After
payment to the holders of the Preferred Shares of the amounts so payable to them, they shall not, as such, be entitled to share
in any further distribution of the property or assets of the Company except as specifically provided in the special rights and
restrictions attached to any particular series.
Warrants
As of the date of this Prospectus, there are 16,101,396 common share purchase warrants (the “Existing Warrants”). Each
Existing Warrant is exercisable for 2 years, 3 years or 5 years, as the case may be, from the date of issuance and entitles the
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holder thereof to purchase one Common Share at a range of exercise prices. There are also 239,000 Finder Warrants entitling
the holder to one Common Share per Finder Warrant prior to February 19, 2022 at a price of $0.50 per Finder Share.
As of the date of this Prospectus, there are aggregately 16,340,396 common share purchase warrants outstanding including
the Existing Warrants and the Finder Warrants.
See “Options to Purchase Securities – Warrants” for a description of the material terms of the Existing Warrants.
Options and RSUs
As of the date of this Prospectus, 2,750,000 Options have been granted pursuant to the Share Compensation Plan to officers,
directors, employees, and consultants of the Company.
As of the date of this Prospectus, 1,800,000 RSUs have been awarded pursuant to the Share Compensation Plan to officers,
and directors of the Company.
See “Options to Purchase Securities – Share Compensation Plan” for a description of the material terms of the Options and
RSUs and the Share Compensation Plan.
Finder Warrants
In connection for services performed by the Finders under the Offering, the Company issued an aggregate of 239,000 Finder
Warrants. Each Finder Warrant is exercisable for 24 months from the date of issuance and entitles the holder to purchase one
Common Share at $0.50 per Common Share.
DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has not, since the date of its incorporation, declared or paid any dividends or other distributions on its Common
Shares, and does not currently have a policy with respect to the payment of dividends or other distributions. While there are
no restrictions precluding the Company from paying dividends, it has no source of cash flow, and anticipates using all available
cash resources toward its stated business objectives. As such the Company does not anticipate the payment of dividends in
the foreseeable future. At present, the Company’s policy is to retain earnings, if any, to finance its business operations. The
payment of dividends in the future will depend upon, among other factors, the Company’s earnings, capital requirements and
operating financial conditions.
CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION
Other than as described in this Prospectus, there have been no material changes in the share capitalization or the indebtedness
of the Company since March 31, 2020. The following table sets out the capitalization of the Company as at March 31, 2020
and the date of this Prospectus. See “Prior Sales” and “Options to Purchase Securities”. The following table must be read in
conjunction with our Annual Financial Statements and Interim Financial Statements.

Designation
Common Shares(1)
Options(2)
RSUs(2)
Special Warrants(3)
Warrants(4)
Finder Warrants(5)
Total

Amount
Authorized
Unlimited
–
–
–
–
–

Amount
Outstanding as of
March 31, 2020
23,494,898
3,150,000
Nil
11,693,172
10,854,810
239,000
49,431,880

Amount
Outstanding as of
the Date of this
Prospectus
36,434,074
2,750,000
1,800,000
Nil
16,101,396(6)
239,000
57,324,470

Notes:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

See “Description of Share Capital – Common Shares”.
See “Description of Share Capital – Options and RSUs” and “Options to Purchase Securities”.
See “General Development and Business of the Company – History of the Company – Financings and Issuances of the Company’s Securities”.
See “Description of Share Capital – Warrants”.
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(5)
(6)

See “Description of Share Capital – Finder Warrants”.
Warrants do not include Finder Warrants.

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES
Options and RSUs
As of the date of this Prospectus, there were 2,750,000 Options issued and outstanding entitling the holder to acquire one
Common Share at an exercise price of $0.25 expiring on March 1, 2024.
As of the date of this Prospectus, there were 1,800,000 RSUs issued and outstanding entitling the holder of a vested RSU to
acquire one Common Share without payment of any additional consideration and vesting over two years after the issuance
date, with the last vesting date occurring on April 28, 2022
Number
of Options
Held

Exercise Price
($ per Common
Share)

500,000

Directors (who are not also executive officers)
of Nova, as a group(2)
Other employees of the Company, as a group

Holder of Options

Issue Date

Expiry Date

$0.25

March 1,
2019

March 1,
2024

400,000

$0.25

March 1,
2019

March 1,
2024

–

–

–

–

Consultants of Nova, as a group

1,850,000

$0.25

March 1,
2019

March 1,
2024

Total

2,750,000

–

–

–

Executive officers of Nova, as a group

(1)

Notes:
(1)
(2)

This information applies to one executive officer of the Company.
This information applies to three directors of the Company.

The following table summarizes the allocation of RSUs of Nova held by the following groups up to the date of this Prospectus:

Number of
RSUs Held

Price ($ per
Common
Share)

Executive officers of Nova, as a group(1)

800,000

Directors (who are not also executive officers)
of Nova, as a group(2)
Other employees of the Company, as a group

Holder of RSUs

Consultants of Nova, as a group
Total

Issue
Date

Final
Vesting
Date(3)

$0.50

April 28,
2020

April 28,
2022

220,000

$0.50

April 28,
2020

April 28,
2022

–

–

–

–

780,000

$0.50

April 28,
2020

April 28,
2022

1,800,000

–

–

–

Notes:
(1)
(2)
(3)

This information applies to one executive officer of the Company.
This information applies to three directors of the Company.
The RSUs vest over two years after the issuance date, with the last vesting date occurring on April 28, 2022.

Share Compensation Plan
On January 3, 2020, the Board adopted the amended and restated share compensation plan (the “Share Compensation Plan”).
The Share Compensation Plan is a fixed plan pursuant to which the number of Common Shares which may be issued pursuant
to restricted share units (“RSUs”) and stock options (“Options”) granted under the Share Compensation Plan, which are
comprised of incentive stock options (“ISOs”) and NSOs, is a maximum of 6,952,558 in aggregate or such additional amount
as may be approved from time to time by the shareholders of the Company and the Exchange. If any Option or RSU subject
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to the Share Compensation Plan is forfeited, expires, is terminated or is cancelled for any reason whatsoever (other than by
reason of exercise of the Options or settlement of the RSUs), then un-purchased Common Shares subject thereto shall again
be available for the purposes of the Share Compensation Plan. The Company has implemented an option acceleration program
to incentive certain optionees to exercise their vested and unvested Options within two months of being provided notice.
The Share Compensation Plan will provide participants (each, a “Participant”), who may include participants who are citizens
or residents of the United States (each, a “US Participant”), with the opportunity, through RSUs and Options, to acquire an
ownership interest in the Company. The value of the deemed issuance price of RSUs will rise and fall in value based on the
value of the Company Shares. Unlike the Options, the RSUs will not require the payment of any monetary consideration to
the Company. Instead, each RSU represents a right to receive one Common Share following the attainment of vesting criteria
determined at the time of the award. See “Restricted Share Units – Vesting Provisions” below. The Options, on the other hand,
are rights to acquire Company Shares upon payment of monetary consideration (i.e., the exercise price), subject also to vesting
criteria determined at the time of the grant. See “Options – Vesting Provisions” below.
Purpose of the Share Compensation Plan
The stated purpose of the Share Compensation Plan is to advance the interests of the Company and its subsidiaries, and its
shareholders by: (a) ensuring that the interests of Participants are aligned with the success of the Company and its subsidiaries;
(b) encouraging stock ownership by such persons; and (c) providing compensation opportunities to attract, retain and motivate
such persons.
The following people will be eligible to participate in the Share Compensation Plan: any officer or employee of the Company
or any officer or employee of any majority-owned subsidiary of the Company and, solely for purposes of the grant of Options,
any director of the Company or any director of any majority-owned subsidiary of the Company, and any Consultant (defined
under the Share Compensation Plan as an individual (other than an employee or a director of the Company) or a corporation
that is not a U.S. Person that: (A) is engaged to provide on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or
other services to the Company or to an affiliate of the Company, other than services provided in relation to an offer or sale of
securities of the Company in a capital-raising transaction, or services that promote or maintain a market for the Company’s
securities; (B) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or the affiliate and the individual or the
Company, as the case may be; (C) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of
time and attention on the affairs and business of the Company or an affiliate of the Company; and (D) has a relationship with
the Company or an affiliate of the Company that enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of
the Company.
Administration of the Share Compensation Plan
The Share Compensation Plan will be administered by the Board or such other persons as may be designated by the Board
(the “Administrators”) based on the recommendation of the CGCC. The Administrators will determine the eligibility of
persons to participate in the Share Compensation Plan, when RSUs and Options will be awarded or granted, the number of
RSUs and Options to be awarded or granted, the vesting criteria for each award of RSUs and grant of Options and all other
terms and conditions of each award and grant, in each case in accordance with applicable securities laws and the requirements
of the stock exchange or quotation system where the Common Shares are listed on or through which the Common Shares are
listed or quoted (the “Exchange”).
Number of Common Shares Issuance under the Share Compensation Plan
The number of Common Shares that will be available for issuance upon the vesting of RSUs awarded and Options granted
under the Share Compensation Plan will be limited to 6,952,558 in aggregate.
Restrictions on the Award of RSUs and Grant of Options
Certain restrictions on awards of RSUs and grants of Options will apply as follows:
(a)

the total number of Common Shares issuable under the Share Compensation Plan or any other share
compensation arrangements of the Company cannot exceed 6,952,558, including the RSUs and Options that
may be awarded thereunder;
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(b)

the total number of Common Shares issuable to any one Participant under the Share Compensation Plan and
any other share compensation arrangements of the Company in a 12 month period cannot exceed 5% of the
Common Shares then outstanding;

(c)

the total number of Common Shares issuable to insiders under the Share Compensation Plan and any other
share compensation arrangements of the Company cannot exceed 10% of the Common Shares then
outstanding;

(d)

the total number of Common Shares issuable to any one Consultant under the Share Compensation Plan and
any other share compensation arrangements of the Company within any 12 month period cannot exceed
2% of the Common Shares then outstanding; and

(e)

the total number of Common Shares issuable under the Share Compensation Plan and any other share
compensation arrangements of the Company within a 12-month period to persons retained to provide
Investor Relations Activities (defined in the Share Compensation Plan as “activities”, by or on behalf of the
Company or shareholder of the Company, that promote or reasonably could be expected to promote the
purchase or sale of securities of the Company, subject to certain exclusions listed therein) shall not, at any
time, exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares; provided, that Options granted to persons
providing Investor Relations Activities must vest in stages over a period of not less than 12 months with no
more than 1/4 of the Options vesting in any three month period.

In the event of any declaration by the Company of any stock dividend payable in securities (other than a dividend which may
be paid in cash or in securities at the option of the holder of Common Shares), or any subdivision or consolidation of the
Common Shares, reclassification or conversion of the Common Shares, or any combination or exchange of securities, merger,
consolidation, recapitalization, amalgamation, plan of arrangement, reorganization, spin off involving the Company,
distribution (other than normal course cash dividends) of Company assets to holders of Common Shares, or any other corporate
transaction or event involving the Company or the Common Shares, the Administrators may in their sole discretion make such
changes or adjustments, if any, as the Administrators consider fair or equitable to reflect such change or event including,
without limitation, adjusting the number of Options and RSUs outstanding under the Share Compensation Plan, the type and
number of securities or other property to be received upon exercise or redemption thereof, and the exercise price of Options
outstanding under the Share Compensation Plan, provided that the value of any Option or RSU immediately after such an
adjustment shall not exceed the value of such Option or RSU prior thereto.
Restricted Share Units
The total number of RSUs that may be awarded shall not exceed 3,476,279 RSUs.
(a)

Mechanics for RSUs
RSUs awarded to Participants under the Share Compensation Plan will be credited to an account that will be
established on their behalf and maintained in accordance with the Share Compensation Plan. After the relevant date
of vesting of any RSUs awarded under the Share Compensation Plan, a Participant shall be entitled to receive and
the Company shall issue or pay (at its discretion): (a) a lump sum payment in cash equal to the number of vested
RSUs recorded in the Participant’s account multiplied by the volume weighted average price of the Common Shares
traded on the Exchange for the five (5) consecutive trading days prior to the payout date; (b) the number of Common
Shares required to be issued to a Participant upon the vesting of such Participant’s RSUs in the Participant’s account
will be, duly issued as fully paid and non-assessable shares and such Participant shall be registered on the books of
the Company as the holder of the appropriate number of Common Shares; or (c) any combination of thereof.

(b)

Vesting Provisions
The Share Compensation Plan provides that: (i) at the time of the award of RSUs, the Administrators will determine
the vesting criteria applicable to the awarded RSUs; (ii) vesting of RSUs may include criteria such as performance
vesting; (iii) each RSU shall be subject to vesting in accordance with the terms set out in an agreement evidencing
the award of the RSU attached as Exhibit A to the Share Compensation Plan (or in such form as the Administrators
may approve from time to time) (each an “RSU Agreement”); and (iv) all vesting and issuances or payments in
respect of an RSU shall be completed no later than December 15 of the third calendar year commencing after the
award date for such RSU.
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It is the current intention that RSUs may be awarded with both time-based vesting provisions as a component of the
Company’s annual incentive compensation program, and performance-based vesting provisions as a component of
the Company’s long-term incentive compensation program.
Under the Share Compensation Plan, should the date of vesting of an RSU fall within a blackout period or within
nine business days following the expiration of a blackout period, the date of vesting will be automatically extended
to the tenth business day after the end of the blackout period, provided that with respect to Restricted Share Units of
U.S. Participants, the Payout Date will not be delayed beyond March 15th of the year following the year in which
the Restricted Share Units are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture for purposes of section 409A of the
U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), unless settlement/payout by such date would violate
applicable law, or unless payment at a later date would be permitted under Treasury Regulation 1.409A-1(b)(4)(ii).
(c)

Termination, Retirement and Other Cessation of Employment in connection with RSUs
A person participating in the Share Compensation Plan will cease to be eligible to participate in the following
circumstances: (i) receipt of any notice of termination of employment or service (whether voluntary or involuntary
and whether with or without cause); (ii) retirement; and (iii) any cessation of employment or service for any reason
whatsoever, including disability and death (an “Event of Termination”). In such circumstances, any vested RSUs
will be issued (and with respect to each RSU of a US Participant, such RSU will be settled and shares issued as soon
as practicable following the date of vesting of such RSU as set forth in the applicable RSU Agreement, but in all
cases within 60 days following such date of vesting; and unless otherwise determined by the Administrators in their
discretion, any unvested RSUs will be automatically forfeited and cancelled (and with respect to any RSU of a US
Participant, if the Administrators determine, in their discretion, to waive vesting conditions applicable to an RSU that
is unvested at the time of an Event of Termination, such RSU shall not be forfeited or cancelled, but instead will be
deemed to be vested and settled and shares delivered following the date of vesting date of such Restricted Share Unit
as set forth in the applicable RSU Agreement). Notwithstanding the above, if a person retires in accordance with the
Company’s retirement policy at such time, the pro-rata portion of any unvested RSUs that remain subject to
performance-based vesting conditions will not be forfeited or cancelled and instead shall be eligible to become vested
in accordance with the vesting conditions set forth in the applicable RSU Agreement after such retirement,
notwithstanding that the Participant is no longer employed by the Company or an Affiliate on such date, but only if
the performance vesting criteria, if any, have been met on the applicable date, and such date will be the Vesting Date.
For greater certainty, if a person is terminated for just cause, all unvested RSUs will be forfeited and cancelled.

Options
The total maximum number of Common Shares that may be issued on exercise of Options (comprising of the ISOs and the
NSOs), together with any other share compensation arrangements of the Company, shall not exceed 3,476,279.
(a)

Mechanics for Options
Each Option granted pursuant to the Share Compensation Plan will entitle the holder thereof to the issuance of one
Common Share upon achievement of the vesting criteria and payment of the applicable exercise price. Options
granted under the Share Compensation Plan will be exercisable for Common Shares issued from treasury once the
vesting criteria established by the Administrators at the time of the grant have been satisfied, which criteria shall,
among others include for U.S. Participants, whether the Option is an ISO or a NSO. However, the Company will
continue to retain the flexibility through the amendment provisions in the Share Compensation Plan to satisfy its
obligation to issue Common Shares by making a lump sum cash payment of equivalent value (i.e., pursuant to a
cashless exercise), provided there is a full deduction of the number of underlying Common Shares from the Share
Compensation Plan’s reserve.
The aggregate number of Common Shares available for ISOs is 1,500,000, subject to adjustments and other
requirements under the Share Compensation Plan. Each Option Agreement with respect to an Option granted to a
U.S. Participant shall specify whether the related Option is an ISO or a NSO. If no such specification is made in the
Option Agreement or in the resolutions of the Administrator under which the Option was granted, the related Option
will be a NSO.
In addition to the other terms and conditions of the Share Compensation Plan, the following limitations and
requirements will apply to an ISO: (i) An ISO may be granted only to an employee of the Company, or an employee
of a subsidiary of the Company within the meaning of Section 424(f) of the Code; (ii) The aggregate Fair Market
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Value of the Common Shares (determined as of the applicable Grant Date) with respect to which ISOs are exercisable
for the first time by any U.S. Participant during any calendar year will not exceed one hundred thousand United
States dollars (US$100,000) or any other limitation subsequently set forth in Section 422(d) of the Code. To the
extent that an Option that is designated as an ISO becomes exercisable for the first time during any calendar year for
Common Shares having a Fair Market Value greater than US$100,000, the portion that exceeds such amount will be
treated as a NSO; (iii) The exercise price per Common Share payable upon exercise of an ISO will be not less than
one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of a Common Share on the applicable Grant Date; provided,
however, that the exercise price per Share payable upon exercise of an ISO granted to a U.S. Participant who is a
10% shareholder (within the meaning of Code Sections 422 and 424) on the applicable Grant Date will be not less
than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value of a Common Share on the applicable Grant Date;
(iv) No ISO may be granted more than ten (10) years after the earlier of (i) the date on which the Share Compensation
Plan is adopted by the Board or (ii) the date on which this Plan is approved by the shareholders of the Company;
(v) An ISO will terminate and no longer be exercisable no later than ten (10) years after the applicable Grant Date;
provided, however, that an ISO granted to a U.S. Participant who is a 10% shareholder (within the meaning of Code
Sections 422 and 424) on the applicable Grant Date will terminate and no longer be exercisable no later than five (5)
years after the applicable Grant Date; (vi) An ISO shall be exercisable in accordance with its terms under the Share
Compensation Plan and the applicable Option Agreement and related exhibits and appendices thereto. However, in
order to retain its treatment as an ISO for United States federal income tax purposes, the ISO must be exercised
within the following time periods: (1) For ISO treatment, if a U.S. Participant who has been granted an ISO ceases
to be an employee due to the Disability of such U.S. Participant (within the meaning of Code Section 22(e)), such
ISO must be exercised by the date that is one year following the date of such Disability; (2) For ISO treatment, if a
U.S. Participant who has been granted an ISO ceases to be an employee for any reason other than the death or
Disability of such U.S. Participant, such ISO must be exercised by such U.S. Participant within three months
following the date of termination; and (3) For purposes of this Section 5.10(c)(vi), the employment of a U.S.
Participant who has been granted and ISO will not be considered interrupted or terminated upon (a) sick leave,
military leave or any other leave of absence approved by the Board that does not exceed ninety (90) days in the
aggregate; provided, however, that if reemployment upon the expiration of any such leave is guaranteed by contract
or applicable law, such ninety (90) day limitation will not apply, or (b) a transfer from one office of the Company to
another office of the Company or a transfer between the Company and any Subsidiary; (vii) An ISO granted to a U.S.
Participant may be exercised during such U.S. Participant’s lifetime only by such U.S. Participant; (viii) An ISO
granted to a U.S. Participant may not be transferred, assigned, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of by
such U.S. Participant, except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution; (ix) In the event the Share
Compensation Plan is not approved by the shareholders of the Company in accordance with the requirements of
Section 422 of the Code within twelve (12) months of the date of adoption of the Share Compensation Plan, Options
otherwise designated as ISOs will be NSOs; (x) The Company shall have no liability to a U.S. Participant or any
other party if any Option (or any part thereof) intended to be an ISO is not an ISO.
(b)

Vesting Provisions
The Share Compensation Plan provides that the Administrators may determine when any Option will become
exercisable and may determine that Options shall be exercisable in instalments or pursuant to a vesting schedule. The
Option Agreement will disclose any vesting conditions prescribed by the Administrators.

(c)

Termination, Retirement and Other Cessation of Employment in connection with Options
A person participating in the Share Compensation Plan will cease to be eligible to participate where there is an Event
of Termination. In such circumstances, unless otherwise determined by the Administrators in their discretion, any
unvested Options will be automatically cancelled, terminated and not available for exercise and any vested Options
may be exercised only before the earlier of: (i) the termination of the Option; and (ii) two months after the date of
the Event of Termination. If a person is terminated for just cause, all Options will be (whether or not then exercisable)
automatically cancelled.

(d)

Other Terms
The Administrators will determine the exercise price and term/expiration date of each Option, provided that the
exercise price in respect of that Option shall not be less than the Discounted Market Price on the date of grant and
provided further that, with respect to Options awarded to U.S. Participants, the exercise price shall not be less than
the closing price of Common Shares on the Exchange on the Grant Date, or if Common Shares are not listed on a
stock exchange, the fair market value as determined by the Administrator in accordance with the valuation principles
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under Section 409A of the Code (in either case, the “Fair Market Value”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Administrator may designate an exercise price less than the Fair Market Value on the Grant Date if the Option is
(i) granted in substitution for a stock option previously granted by an entity that is acquired by or merged with the
Company or an Affiliate, or (ii) otherwise structured to be exempt from, or to comply with, Section 409A of the Code
in the case of Options awarded to U.S. Participants. “Discounted Market Price” is defined in the Share
Compensation Plan as the Market Price of the Common Shares, less a discount of up to 25% if the Market Price is
$0.50 or less; up to 20% if the Market Price is between $2.00 and $0.51; and up to 15% if the Market Price is greater
than $2.00; and “Market Price” is defined in the Share Compensation Plan as “as of any date, the closing price of
the Common Shares on the Exchange for the last market trading day prior to the date of grant of the Option or if the
Common Shares are not listed on a stock exchange or quotation system, the Market Price shall be determined in good
faith by the Administrators”.
No Option shall be exercisable after ten years from the date the Option is granted. Under the Share Compensation
Plan, should the term of an Option expire on a date that falls within a blackout period or within nine business days
following the expiration of a blackout period, such expiration date will be automatically, unless as otherwise provided
in the Share Compensation Plan, extended to the tenth business day after the end of the blackout period.
Unless otherwise determined by the Board, in the event of a Change of Control, any surviving or acquiring
corporation shall assume any Option outstanding under the Share Compensation Plan on substantially the same
economic terms and conditions or substitute or replace similar options for those Options outstanding under the Share
Compensation Plan on substantially the same economic terms and conditions.
Transferability
RSUs awarded and Options granted under the Share Compensation Plan or any rights of a Participant cannot be transferred,
assigned, charged, pledged or hypothecated, or otherwise alienated, whether by operation of law or otherwise.
Reorganization and Change of Control Adjustments
In the event of any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, combination, reclassification or other
distribution of the Company’s equity securities without the receipt of consideration by the Company, of or on the Common
Shares, the Administrators shall proportionately adjust the number of securities purchasable and the exercise price thereof
under each outstanding Option, and the number of securities allocated under each outstanding RSU. In the event of any other
declaration by the Company of any stock dividend payable in securities (other than a dividend which may be paid in cash or
in securities at the option of the holder of Common Shares), or any subdivision or consolidation of Common Shares,
reclassification or conversion of the Common Shares, or any combination or exchange of securities, merger, consolidation,
recapitalization, amalgamation, plan of arrangement, reorganization, spin off involving the Company, distribution (other than
normal course cash dividends) of Company assets to holders of Common Shares, or any other corporate transaction or event
involving the Company or the Common Shares, the Administrators may make such changes or adjustments, if any, as they
consider fair or equitable, to reflect such change or event including adjusting the number of Options and RSUs outstanding
under the Share Compensation Plan, the type and number of securities or other property to be received upon exercise or
redemption thereof, and the exercise price of Options outstanding under the Share Compensation Plan, provided that the value
of any Option or RSU immediately after such an adjustment shall not exceed the value of such Option or RSU prior thereto.
Amendment Provisions in the Share Compensation Plan
The Board may amend the Share Compensation Plan or any RSU or Option at any time without the consent of any Participant
provided that such amendment shall:
(a)

not adversely alter or impair any RSU previously awarded or any Option previously granted, except as
permitted by the adjustment provisions of the Share Compensation Plan and with respect to RSUs and
Options of US Participants;

(b)

be subject to any regulatory approvals including, where required, the approval of the Exchange; and

(c)

be subject to shareholder approval, where required, by the requirements of the Exchange, provided that
shareholder approval shall not be required for the following amendments:
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(i)

amendments of a “housekeeping nature”, including any amendment to the Share Compensation
Plan or a RSU or Option that is necessary to comply with applicable laws, tax or accounting
provisions or the requirements of any regulatory authority, stock exchange or quotation system and
any amendment to the Share Compensation Plan or an RSU or Option to correct or rectify any
ambiguity, defective provision, error or omission therein, including any amendment to any
definitions therein;

(ii)

amendments that are necessary or desirable for RSUs or Options to qualify for favourable treatment
under any applicable tax law;

(iii)

amendments to the vesting provisions of any RSU or any Option (including any alteration,
extension or acceleration thereof), providing such amendments do not adversely alter or impair
such RSU or Option;

(iv)

amendments to the termination provisions of any Option (e.g., relating to termination of
employment, resignation, retirement or death) that does not entail an extension beyond the original
expiration date (as such date may be extended by virtue of a blackout period) providing such
amendments do not adversely alter or impair such Option;

(v)

amendments to the Share Compensation Plan that would permit the Company to retain a broker
and make payments for the benefit of Participants to such broker who would purchase Common
Shares for such persons, instead of issuing Common Shares from treasury upon the vesting of the
RSUs;

(vi)

amendments to the Share Compensation Plan that would permit the Company to make lump sum
cash payments to Participants, instead of issuing Common Shares from treasury upon the vesting
of the RSUs;

(vii)

the amendment of the cashless exercise feature set out in the Share Compensation Plan; and

(viii)

change the application of the Change of Control provisions in section 6.2 or the Reorganization
Adjustments provisions in section 6.3).

For greater certainty, shareholder approval will be required in circumstances where an amendment to the Share Compensation
Plan would:
(a)

increase the fixed maximum percentage of issued and outstanding Common Shares issuable under the Share
Compensation Plan, other than by virtue of the adjustment provisions in the Share Compensation Plan, or
change from a fixed maximum percentage of issued and outstanding Common Shares to a fixed maximum
number of Common Shares;

(b)

increase the limits referred to above under “Restrictions on the Award of RSUs and Grant of Options”;

(c)

reduce the exercise price of any Option (including any cancellation of an Option for the purpose of
reissuance of a new Option at a lower exercise price to the same person);

(d)

extend the term of any Option beyond the original term (except if such period is being extend by virtue of a
blackout period); or

(e)

amend the amendment provisions in Section 6.4 of the Share Compensation Plan.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Share Compensation Plan, unless otherwise exempted from the provisions of the
California securities laws, all Options and RSUs granted or proposed to be granted under the Share Compensation Plan to, or
held by, residents of the State of California are subject to the certain additional provisions as described in the Share
Compensation Plan.
Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company, the Company intends to adopt a 10% “rolling” stock option plan
in 2021.
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Warrants
As of the date of this Prospectus, there are 16,101,396 Warrants outstanding. See “Description of Share Capital – Warrants”.
The following table summarizes the allocation of Warrants of Nova held by the following groups up to the date of this
Prospectus:
Number of
Warrants Held

Exercise Price
(C$ per
Common Share)

Issue Date

Expiry Date

Executive officers of Nova, as a
group (1)

300,000
100,000

$0.10
$0.10

July 20, 2018
September 10, 2018

July 20, 2021
September 10, 2021

Directors (who are not also
executive officers) of Nova, as a
group (2)

500,000

$0.10

July 20, 2018

July 20, 2021

Employees of the Company, as a
group

-

-

-

-

Consultants of Nova, as a group

625,000
750,000
300,000
100,000
240,000
86,088

$0.10
$0.10
$0.10
$0.40
$0.40
$1.00

July 20, 2018
August 7, 2018
September 10, 2018
October 25, 2018
March 1, 2019
August 14, 2020

July 20, 2021
August 7, 2021
September 10, 2021
October 25, 2020
March 1, 2021
August 14, 2020

Holder of Warrants

Notes:
(1)
(2)

This information applies to one executive officer of the Company.
This information applies to three directors of the Company.

PRIOR SALES
This table sets out particulars of the Common Shares and securities exercisable for or exchangeable into Common Shares
issued within the 12 months prior to the date of this Prospectus.
Date

Type of Security

Number of
Securities

August 9, 2019

Common Shares(1)

115,000

–

–

January 3, 2020

Common Shares(2)

900,000

–

–

Special Warrants

(3)

7,703,000

$0.50

$3,851,500

Special Warrants

(4)

3,990,172

$0.50

$1,995,086

(5)

239,000

$0.50

–

Common Shares

(6)

425,280

$0.50

$212,640

Common Shares

(7)

11,500

$0.50

$5,750

Common Shares

(7)

11,500

$0.50

$5,750

May 31, 2020

Common Shares

(8)

200,004

–

–

June 30, 2020

Common Shares(7)

11,500

$0.50

$5,750

July 31, 2020

Common Shares(9)

600,000

$0.10

$60,000

July 31, 2020

(10)

400,000

$0.25

$100,000

(7)

11,500

$0.50

$5,750

(11)

11,693,172

–

–

5,846,586

–

–

February 11, 2020
February 19, 2020
February 19, 2020
February 19, 2020
April 28, 2020
May 31, 2020

July 31, 2020
August 14, 2020
August 14, 2020
Total

Finder Warrants

Common Shares

Common Shares
Common Shares
Warrants

(12)

32,158,214
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Issue/Exercise
Price

Aggregate Issue
Price

Notes:
(1) Issued as consideration for the purchase of the 1.0% NSR on the Pinnacle Reef project at a deemed price of $0.35 per Common Share.
(2)
Issued as compensation to directors and officer as a result of the vesting of RSUs at a deemed issue price of $0.35.
(3) Issued in the First Tranche at a price of $0.50 per Special Warrant. The Special Warrants were exercised on August 14, 2020.
(4) Issued in the Second Tranche at a price of $0.50 per Special Warrant. The Special Warrants were exercised on August 14, 2020.
(5) Finders’ Fees for the Offering. Each Finder Warrant is exercisable into one Finder Share at a price of $0.50 per Finder Share.
(6) Finders Fees for the purchase of the Cantarito Royalty.
(7) Issued to consultants of the Company pursuant to consulting agreements.
(8) Issued to Seabord Services Corp. to settle $76,430 in debt in connection with financial services provided to the Company pursuant to a consulting
agreement from April 1, 2019 to May 31, 2020, inclusive. 157,146 Common Shares were issued at a deemed price of $0.35 and 42,858 Common Shares
were issued at a deemed price of $0.50.
(9) Issued pursuant to the exercise of Warrants.
(10) Issued pursuant to the exercise of Options.
(11) Issued pursuant to the exercise of the Special Warrants.
(12) Issued pursuant to the exercise of the Special Warrants.

PRINCIPAL SECURITYHOLDERS
The Company does not have any “principal securityholders”, as such term is defined in National Instrument 41-101 – General
Prospectus Requirements.
ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO CONTRACTUAL
RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER
NP 46-201 provides that all securities of an issuer owned or controlled by a Principal must be placed in escrow at the time the
issuer distributes its securities or convertible securities to the public by prospectus, unless the securities held by such Principal
or issuable to such Principal upon conversion of convertible securities held by the Principal collectively represent less than
1% of the total issued and outstanding securities of the issuer after giving effect to the initial distribution. Generally, NP 46201 does not apply to a prospectus that does not offer securities to the public, such as a prospectus that an issuer files with a
securities regulator only to become a “reporting issuer”. However, in Nova’s case, as a market is being developed for its
securities, this Prospectus is to be considered an “IPO prospectus” for the purposes of NP 46-201. As such, the securities held
by the Principals will be held in escrow pursuant to the policies of NP 46-201.
The following table sets forth the securities of the Principals that, as at the date of Listing, will be subject to escrow or that
are currently, or will be, subject to a contractual restriction on transfer and the percentage that number represents of the
outstanding securities of that class.

Designation of Class

Number of Securities Held in Escrow
or that are Subject to a Contractual
Restriction on Transfer

Common Shares
Warrants
Options
RSUs

2,210,000
900,000
900,000
1,020,000

Percentage of Class
6.07%(1)
5.59%(2)
32.73%(3)
56.67%(4)

Notes:
(1) As of the date of this Prospectus, there are 36,434,074 Common Shares issued and outstanding.
(2) As of the date of this Prospectus, there are 16,101,396 Warrants (excluding the 239,000 Finder Warrants) issued and outstanding.
(3) As of the date of this Prospectus, there are 2,750,000 Options outstanding.
(4)
As of the date of this Prospectus, there are 1,800,000 RSUs outstanding.

As at the date hereof, the Company, Alex Tsukernik, Robert Leckie, Denis Silva and Parviz Farsangi (collectively, the
“Principals”), as “Principals” as defined in TSXV Policy 1.1 – Interpretation (the “Escrowed Shareholders”), have entered
into an escrow agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”) with Computershare Investor Services Inc., as escrow agent (the
“Escrow Agent”), pursuant to which the Escrowed Shareholders have collectively deposited 2,210,000 Common Shares into
escrow (the “Escrowed Securities”) with the Escrow Agent, representing 6.07% of the issued and outstanding Common
Shares.
Upon the completion of the Listing, Nova will be an “emerging issuer” pursuant to NP 46-201 and, as such, the Escrowed
Securities will be subject to a three year escrow and subject to the following release scheduled:
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Date

Amount of Escrowed Securities Released

On the Listing Date

1/10th of the Escrowed Securities

6 months after the Listing Date

1/6th of the remaining Escrowed Securities

12 months after the Listing Date

1/6th of the remaining Escrowed Securities

18 months after the Listing Date

1/6th of the remaining Escrowed Securities

24 months after the Listing Date

1/6th of the remaining Escrowed Securities

30 months after the Listing Date

1/6th of the remaining Escrowed Securities

36 months after the Listing Date

1/6th of the remaining Escrowed Securities

The release schedule may be accelerated if the Company, after the Listing, meets “Tier 1 Issuer” listing requirements of the
TSXV or otherwise establishes itself as an “established issuer” as described in NP 46-201.
As of the date of this Prospectus, none of the securities of the Company are or will be at the time of listing subject to the “Seed
Share” restrictions set out in Policy 5.4 – Escrow, Vendor Consideration and Resale Restrictions of the Corporate Finance
Manual of the TSXV (“TSXV Policy 5.4”) other than 157,146 Common Shares issued to Seabord Services Corp. A thirdparty will also be subject to a TSXV Tier 2 Value Security Escrow Agreement representing 2,250,000 Common Shares.
Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement, the Escrowed Securities will not be able to be transferred or otherwise dealt
with during the term of the Escrow Agreement unless the transfers or dealings within escrow are:


transfers to continuing or, upon their appointment, incoming directors and senior officers of the Company or of a
material operating subsidiary, with the approval of the Board;



transfers to a person or company that before the proposed transfer holds more than 20% of the Company’s outstanding
Common Shares, or to a person or company that after the proposed transfer will hold more than 10% of the
Company’s outstanding Common Shares and has the right to elect or appoint one or more directors or senior officers
of the Company or any material operating subsidiary;



transfers to an RRSP or similar trustee plan provided that the only beneficiaries are the transferor or the transferor’s
spouse, children or parents;



transfers upon bankruptcy to the trustee in bankruptcy or another person or company entitled to escrow securities on
bankruptcy; and



pledges to a financial institution as collateral for a bona fide loan, provided that upon a realization the securities
remain subject to escrow.

Tenders of Escrowed Securities to a take-over bid or business combination are permitted provided that, if the tenderer is a
Principal of the successor corporation upon completion of the take-over bid or business combination, securities received in
exchange for tendered Escrowed Securities are substituted in escrow on the basis of the successor corporation’s escrow
classification.
If the Principals acquire any additional securities of the Company of the type listed above, those securities will be added to
the securities already in escrow, to increase the number of remaining Escrowed Securities. Such increased number of
remaining Escrowed Securities will be released in accordance with the release schedule in the table above.
Additionally, securities of the Company may be subject to additional escrow restrictions and restrictions on transfer pursuant
to NP 46-201, or if required by the TSXV (in accordance with TSXV Policy 5.4) or other applicable regulations of any other
stock exchange on which the securities of the Company may be listed for trading in the future. There can be no guarantee that
the Securities will be listed for trading on the TSXV or any other stock exchange.
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Statutory Hold Periods
In addition to the foregoing, securities legislation imposes certain resale restrictions on securities issued within the four months
preceding the Listing, such hold periods are governed by NI 45-102 – Resale of Securities. All certificates representing
securities subject to these restrictions will bear legends indicating the applicable hold periods.
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
To the Company’s knowledge as at the date of this Prospectus, the directors and executive officers of the Company as a group
will beneficially own, control or direct, directly or indirectly, 2,210,000 Common Shares, representing approximately 6.07%
of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.
Director and Executive Officer Profiles
The following table sets forth the name of each director and executive officer of the Company as at the date of this Prospectus,
their province or state and country of residence, their position(s) and office(s) held with the Company, their principal
occupation(s) during the preceding five years, the date they became a director of the Company, if applicable, and the number
and percentage of Common Shares they beneficially own, or control or direct, directly or indirectly. Each director’s term will
expire immediately prior to the next annual meeting of shareholders of the Company.

Name and
Municipality
of Residence

Current
Position(s)
with Nova

Age

Principal Occupation(s)
for the past five years

Director/
Officer of
Nova Since

Number (and
%) of Common
Shares to be
Owned (4)

Alex Tsukernik,
New York, NY,
United States(1)

President, CEO
and Director

41

President & CEO of Nova
Royalty Corp.; Founder
and CEO of Syntella
Partners

July 2018

1,100,000
(3.02%)(5)

Parviz Farsangi,
Oakville, ON,
Canada(1)(2)(3)

Chairman and
Director

59

President of PF Mining and
Metals Inc.; CEO of
Canadian Royalties;

September
2018

650,000(8)(9)
(1.78%)

Robert Leckie,
Toronto, ON,
Canada(1)(2)(3)

Director

40

VP of Dundee Corporation;
Partner of Klein Farber
Corporate Finance Inc.
CEO of Agri Marine
Holdings Inc.; director of
Gowest Gold Ltd.

July 2018

30,000(6)
(0.08%)

Denis Silva,
Vancouver, BC,
Canada(2)

Director

40

Partner of DLA Piper
(Canada) LLP

July 2018

430,000
(1.18%)(7)

Douglas Reed,
Vancouver, BC,
Canada

CFO

42

CFO of Nova Royalty
Corp; CFO of Pacific
Empire Minerals Corp.;
CFO of Revelo Resources
Corp.

June 2019

Nil

Kim Casswell,
Vancouver, BC,
Canada

Corporate
Secretary

63

Corporate Secretary of:
Nova; Atico Mining Corp;
Metalla; Viceroy
Exploration Ltd; Pacific
Empire Minals Corp; Inca
Pacific Resources Inc., and
Revelo Resources Corp.

June 2019

Nil

Notes:
(1) Member of Audit Committee.
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(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

Member of the CCGC.
Independent director.
Based on 36,434,074 Common Shares issued and outstanding as of the date of this Prospectus.
Mr. Tsukernik also holds 500,000 Options exercisable at $0.25 and expiring on March 1, 2024, 300,000 Warrants exercisable at $0.10 and expiring on
July 20, 2021, 100,000 Warrants exercisable at $0.10 and expiring on September 10, 2021 and 800,000 RSUs.
Mr. Leckie also holds 150,000 Options exercisable at $0.25 and expiring on March 1, 2024 and 60,000 RSUs.
Mr. Silva also holds 100,000 Options exercisable at $0.25 and expiring on March 1, 2024, 200,000 Warrants exercisable at $0.10 and expiring on July
20, 2021 and 60,000 RSUs.
Mr. Farsangi also holds 150,000 Options exercisable at $0.25 and expiring on March 1, 2024 as well as 100,000 RSUs.
Mr. Farsangi 600,000 Common Shares through PF Mining & Metals Consulting Inc.

Director and Executive Officer Biographies
Alex Tsukernik, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Mr. Tsukernik co-founded Nova in 2018. He has over 15 years of experience in metals and mining finance as an executive,
investor, and corporate adviser. Before Nova, he spent more than 7 years as an independent principal of his own merchant
banking/advisory firm, Syntella Partners, where he focused on creating value-added investment opportunities in the mining
space. Prior to becoming an independent principal, he co-founded the Metals and Mining investment banking group at Rodman
& Renshaw, where he was Director and Head of Metals and Mining, and involved with over $2bn of completed mergers,
acquisitions and capital raising transactions. Before that, he was a founding professional and Vice President of Miller Mathis,
a merger and acquisition advisory firm focused on the steel industry that was involved in more than $50bn of announced
transactions. He began his career in the investment banking group at J.P. Morgan. He earned a B.A. in Mathematics and
Economics from Cornell University and an M.B.A. with Beta Gamma Sigma Honors from Columbia Business School. He
also holds the CFA Charter.
Mr. Tsukernik is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and intends to dedicate 100% of his professional time to the
affairs of the Company.
Parviz Farsangi, Chairman and Director
Mr. Farsangi has extensive experience and knowledge concerning the operations of the mining industry. He was with
Falconbridge Limited from 1987-2007 in roles that included General Manager, Sudbury Mines/Mill Business Unit and
President of Gramercy Alumina and St. Ann Bauxite. He also served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
of Vale Inco from 2007-2009 where he led the wholly owned global nickel operations with a workforce of 8,000+ people and
oversaw the development and execution of $2B+ operating and $1B+ capital budget for the second largest nickel producer in
the world with annual revenue up to US$11 billion. He held the positions of President, CEO and Director of Scorpio Mining
Corporation from 2010-2012 and acted as the CEO of Canadian Royalties from 2013-2016. Mr. Farsangi is currently President
and a director of PF Mining and Metals Inc., a consulting company for which he has served as President since 2009. Mr.
Farsangi holds a B.Eng. in Mining Engineering from Laurentian University, a M.Eng. in Rock Mechanics and a Ph.D. in
Mining Engineering from McGill University, and an Executive MBA from Queen’s University. Mr. Farsangi intends to
dedicate approximately 20% of his professional time to the affairs of the Company.
Robert Leckie, Director
Mr. Leckie started his career at Aon Hewitt as a Project manager from 2004-2007. From 2007-2008 he was a Corporate
Finance Associate at Integral Wealth Securities Limited. From 2009-2014, Mr. Leckie conducted investing activities through
his holding company CoreCap Inc. In 2014, he joined Dundee Global Investment Management Inc. as a Vice President, where
he was responsible for identifying and developing investment opportunities. Mr. Leckie is Vice-President of Dundee Global
Investment Management Inc., acting Chief Executive Officer of AgriMarine Holdings Inc., a board member of AgriMarine
Holdings Inc. and a board member of True North Nickel Inc. Mr. Leckie has extensive experience in corporate finance,
previously conducting investing activities through his holding company CoreCap Inc., and has sat on the board of various
public and private companies. He obtained his Bachelor of Arts from Dalhousie University in 2004 and completed the
Canadian Securities Course in 2009. Mr. Leckie intends to dedicate approximately 10% of his professional time to the affairs
of the Company.
Denis Silva, Director
Mr. Silva is a corporate and securities partner at law firm DLA Piper (Canada) LLP in Vancouver. Mr. Silva has over 12 years
of experience in corporate, securities, mining and regulatory legal experience and has acted for a wide variety of companies
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listed on Canadian and US exchanges, with a focus on technology and mining. Mr. Silva holds a BA from University of British
Columbia, MPA from Queen’s University and LLB from University of Windsor. Mr. Silva intends to dedicate approximately
10% of his professional time to the affairs of the Company.
Douglas Reed, Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Reed has more than 10 years of accounting experience in the mineral exploration and mining industry focusing on financial
reporting, regulatory compliance, internal control and corporate finance activities. He has also worked in public practice as an
audit manager overseeing the annual audits of public companies and auditor requirements related to various special
transactions. Mr. Reed is also the Chief Financial Officer of Revelo Resources Corp. and Pacific Empire Minerals Corp. and
the Corporate Controller of EMX Royalty Corporation. He was formerly the Chief Financial Officer of Sundance Minerals
Ltd. Mr. Reed holds a Bachelor of Science from the University of Victoria and is a Chartered Professional Accountant, CA.
Mr. Reed is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and intends to dedicate approximately 20% of his professional time
to the affairs of the Company.
Kim Casswell, Corporate Secretary
Ms. Casswell has been the Corporate Secretary of several public companies listed on TSX-V and the Toronto Stock Exchange
since 1994, and has been providing independent corporate secretary services since 1995. Ms. Casswell has played an important
role in the growth of these companies and is familiar with regulations governing public companies in several jurisdictions.
Ms. Casswell has been and currently still is Corporate Secretary of a number of TSX Venture Exchange listed junior
exploration companies.
Ms. Casswell is the Corporate Secretary of the Company and intends to dedicate approximately 10% of her professional time
to the affairs of the Company.
Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions
Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies
No director or officer of Nova is, or within the ten years prior to the date of this Prospectus has been, a director, officer, or
Promoter of any person or company that, while that person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade order
or similar order, or an order that denied the other issuer access to any exemptions under applicable Securities Laws, for a
period of more than 30 consecutive days, or became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy
or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver,
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets.
Penalties or Sanctions
No director or officer of Nova, nor any security holder anticipated to hold a sufficient number of securities of Nova to
materially affect the control of Nova, has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities
legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory
authority; or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body, including a self-regulatory
body, that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable security holder making a decision concerning an
investment in the Company.
Personal Bankruptcies
No director or officer of Nova, nor security holder anticipated to hold a sufficient number of securities of Nova to affect
materially the control of Nova, nor a personal holding company of any such person has, within the ten years before the date
of the Prospectus, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold the assets of such director or officer, or personal holding company of any such person.
Conflicts of Interest
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there are no existing or potential material conflicts of interest between the Company
and any of its directors or officers as of the date hereof. However, certain of the Company’s directors and officers are, or may
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become, directors or officers of other companies with businesses which may conflict with its business. Accordingly, conflicts
of interest may arise which could influence these individuals in evaluating possible acquisitions or in generally acting on the
Company’s behalf. See also “Risk Factors – Conflicts of Interest”.
Pursuant to the BCBCA, directors and officers of the Company are required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to
the best interests of the Company. As required under the BCBCA and the Company’s Articles:


a director or senior officer who holds any office or possesses any property, right or interest that could result, directly
or indirectly, in the creation of a duty or interest that materially conflicts with that individual’s duty or interest as a
director or senior officer of the Company, must promptly disclose the nature and extent of that conflict; and



a director who holds a disclosable interest (as such term is defined under the BCBCA) in a contract or transaction
into which the Company has entered or proposes to enter may generally not vote on any directors’ resolution to
approve such contract or transaction.

Generally, as a matter of practice, directors who have disclosed a material interest in any contract or transaction that the Board
is considering will not take part in any board discussion respecting that contract or transaction. If on occasion such directors
do participate in the discussions, they will refrain from voting on any matters relating to matters in which they have disclosed
a material interest. In appropriate cases, the Company will establish a special committee of independent directors to review a
matter in which directors or officers may have a conflict.
Advance Notice Provisions
We have included certain advance notice provisions with respect to the election of our directors in our Articles (the “Advance
Notice Provisions”). The Advance Notice Provisions are intended to: (i) facilitate orderly and efficient annual general
meetings or, where the need arises, special meetings; (ii) ensure that all Shareholders receive adequate notice of Board
nominations and sufficient information with respect to all nominees; and (iii) allow Shareholders to register an informed vote.
Only persons who are nominated by Shareholders in accordance with the Advance Notice Provisions will be eligible for
election as directors at any annual meeting of Shareholders, or at any special meeting of Shareholders if one of the purposes
for which the special meeting was called was the election of directors.
Under the Advance Notice Provisions, a shareholder wishing to nominate a director would be required to provide us notice,
in the prescribed form, within the prescribed time periods. These time periods include, (i) in the case of an annual meeting of
Shareholders (including annual and special meetings), not less than 30 nor more than 65 days prior to the date of the annual
meeting of Shareholders; provided, that if the first public announcement of the date of the annual meeting of Shareholders
(the “Notice Date”) is less than 50 days before the meeting date, notice must be given not later than the close of business on
the 10th day following the Notice Date; and (ii) in the case of a special meeting (which is not also an annual meeting) of
Shareholders called for the purpose of electing directors (whether or not called for other purposes), not later than the close of
business on the 15th day following the Notice Date, provided that, in either instance, if notice and access (as defined in
National Instrument 54 101 – Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer) is used for delivery
of proxy related materials in respect of a meeting described above, and the Notice Date in respect of the meeting is not less
than 50 days prior to the date of the applicable meeting, the notice must be received not later than the close of business on the
40th day before the applicable meeting.
Other Reporting Issuer Experience
The following table sets out the directors and officers of Nova that are, or have been within the last five years, directors,
officers or Promoters of other reporting issuers in any Canadian jurisdiction:

Name
Parviz
Farsangi

Name and Jurisdiction of
Reporting Issuer
INV Metals Inc.,
British Columbia, Alberta,
Saskatchewan, Manitoba,
Ontario, New Brunswick, Nova

Market or
Exchange
Traded On

Position

From

To

TSX

Director

June 2010

Present
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Name

Market or
Exchange
Traded On

Position

From

To

Wallbridge Mining Company
Ltd., British Columbia, Ontario,
Quebec

TSX

Director

November 2009

Present

Gowest Gold Ltd., British
Columbia, Alberta, Ontario

TSX

Director

October 2019

Present

Revelo Resources Corp., British
Columbia, Alberta, Ontario

TSXV

CFO

March 2016

Present

Pacific Empire Minerals Corp.,
British Columbia, Alberta,
Ontario

TSXV

CFO

May 2015

Present

Fortress Technologies Inc.,
British Columbia, Alberta,
Ontario

TSXV

Director

July 2011

August 2018

Reunion Gold Corporation,
British Columbia, Alberta

TSXV

Director

January 2018

Present

Dundee Acquisition Ltd., Ontario

–

Director

April 2015

May 2017

Draganfly Inc., British Columbia,
Saskatchewan, Ontario

CSE

Director

November 2019

Present

Molystar Resources Inc.

–

Director

April, 2020

Present

Atico Mining Corporation,
British Columbia, Alberta,
Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario

TSXV

Corporate
Secretary

March 2012

Present

Legend Gold Corp.,
British Columbia, Alberta,
Ontario

TSXV

Corporate
Secretary

October 2013

January
2018

Metalla Royalty & Streaming
Ltd., British Columbia, Alberta,
Saskatchewan, Manitoba,
Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia,
New Brunswick, Newfoundland
and PEI

TSXV

Corporate
Secretary

May 2017

Present

Name and Jurisdiction of
Reporting Issuer
Scotia, Prince Edward Island,
Newfoundland

Douglas Reed

Robert Leckie

Denis Silva

Kim Casswell

NYSE
American

Pacific Empire Minerals Corp.,
British Columbia, Alberta,
Ontario

TSXV

Corporate
Secretary

December 2017

Present

Reservoir Minerals Inc.,
Ceased reporting

TSXV

Corporate
Secretary

October 2011

June 2016
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Name

Name and Jurisdiction of
Reporting Issuer
EMX Royalty Corporation,
British Columbia, Alberta

Market or
Exchange
Traded On
TSXV

Position

From

To

Corporate
Secretary

November 2015

February
2018

NYSE
American
Revelo Resources Corp.,
British Columbia, Alberta,
Ontario

TSXV

Corporate
Secretary

February 2013

Present

Lara Exploration Ltd., British
Columbia, Alberta, Ontario

TSXV

Corporate
Secretary

March 2016

Present

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Certain information required by Form 51-102F6V – Statement of Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers
(“Form 51-102F6V”) has been omitted pursuant to Section 1.3(8) of Form 51-102F6V as the Company is not a reporting
issuer in any jurisdiction.
Compensation of Named Executive Officers
Securities legislation requires the disclosure of the compensation received by each Named Executive Officer of the Company.
“Named Executive Officer” is defined by securities legislation to mean: (i) the CEO; (ii) the CFO; (iii) each of the three most
highly compensated executive officers of the Company, including any of its subsidiaries, or the three most highly compensated
individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently completed financial year
whose total compensation was, individually more than $150,000 for that financial year; and (iv) each individual who would
be a “Named Executive Officer” under paragraph (iii) but for the fact that the individual was neither an executive officer of
the Company or its subsidiaries, nor acting in similar capacity, at the end of the most recently completed financial year.
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has the Named Executive Officers (collectively, the “Named Executive
Officers” or “NEOs”) are Alex Tsukernik, President, CEO and Director of the Company, Douglas Reed, CFO of the
Company, and Kim Casswell, the Corporate Secretary of the Company.
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Philosophy
In determining the compensation to be paid or awarded to its executives, it is the objective of the CGCC to attract and retain
highly qualified executives and to link incentive compensation to performance and shareholder value.
The Company’s executive compensation program consists of a combination of base salary and long-term incentives in the
form of participation in the Share Compensation Plan. In making its determinations regarding the various elements of
executive Option grants, the Company will seek to meet the following objectives:
(a)

to attract, retain and motivate talented executives who create and sustain Nova’s continued success within
the context of compensation paid by other companies of comparable size engaged in similar business in
appropriate regions;

(b)

to align the interests of the NEOs with the interests of the Company’s shareholders; and

(c)

to incent extraordinary performance from our key employees.

Base Salary
The base salary for each executive is established by the Board, on the recommendation of the CGCC, based upon the position
held by such executive, competitive market conditions, such executive’s related responsibilities, experience and the NEO’s
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skill base, the functions performed by such executive and the salary ranges for similar positions in comparable companies.
Individual and corporate performance will also be taken into account in determining base salary levels for executives.
Cash Bonuses
Cash bonuses do not form a normal part of Nova’s executive compensation. However, the Company may elect to utilize such
incentives where the role-related context and competitive environment suggest that such a compensation modality is
appropriate. When and if utilized, the amount of cash bonus compensation will normally be paid on the basis of timely
achievement of specific pre-agreed milestones. Each milestone will be selected based upon consideration of its impact on
shareholder value creation and the ability of the Company to achieve the milestone during a specific interval. The amount of
bonus compensation will be determined based upon achievement of the milestone, its importance to the Company’s near and
long-term goals at the time such bonus is being considered, the bonus compensation awarded to similarly situated executives
in similarly situated exploration-stage junior mining companies or any other factors the CGCC may consider appropriate at
the time such performance-based bonuses are decided upon. The quantity of bonus will normally be a percentage of base
salary not to exceed 100%. However, in exceptional circumstances, the quantity of bonus paid may be connected to the
shareholder value creation embodied in the pre-agreed milestones. The Company currently has no expectations of paying cash
bonuses to its NEO’s for the next 12 months, the Company’s determination to pay cash bonuses going forward will be
evaluated on an on going basis by the CGCC.
Participation in the Share Compensation Plan
Options and RSUs are a key compensation element for Nova. Options and RSUs are an important component of aligning the
objectives of Nova’s executive officers and consultants with those of its shareholders, while encouraging them to remain
associated with the Company. Nova expects to provide significant Option and/or RSU positions to its executive officers and
consultants. The precise amount of Options and / or RSUs to be offered will be governed by the importance of the role within
the Company, by the competitive environment within which Nova operates, and by the regulatory limits on Option grants and
RSU awards that cover organizations such as Nova. When considering an award of Options and/ or RSUs to an executive
officer, consideration of the number of Options and / or RSUs previously granted to the executive may be taken into account,
however, the extent to which such prior grants remain subject to resale restrictions will generally not be a factor.
As of the date of this Prospectus, 2,750,000 Options have been granted and 1,800,000 RSUs have been awarded. See “Options
to Purchase Securities – Share Compensation Plan” for a summary of the key terms of the Share Compensation Plan.
Compensation Risks
In making its compensation-related decisions, the CGCC and Board carefully consider the risks implicitly or explicitly
connected to such decisions. These risks include the risks associated with employing executives who are not world-class in
their capabilities and experience, the risk of losing capable but under-compensated executives, and the financial risks
connected to the Company’s operations, of which executive compensation is an important part.
In adopting the compensation philosophy described above, the principal risks identified by the Company are:
(a)

that the Company will be forced to raise additional funding (causing dilution to shareholders) in order to
attract and retain the calibre of executive employees that it seeks; and

(b)

that the Company will have insufficient funding to achieve its objectives.

Hedging by Named Executive Officers or Directors
The Company has no policy with respect to NEOs or directors purchasing financial instruments, including, for greater
certainty, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars, or units of exchange funds that are designed to hedge or
offset a decrease in market value of equity securities granted as compensation or held, directly or indirectly, by the NEO or
director.
Compensation, excluding Options and Compensation Securities
The Company was not a reporting issuer at any time during its most recently completed financial year. The following table
sets out information concerning the expected compensation for the initial period ending December 31, 2020 to be paid to each
director and our NEOs, effective as of Listing.
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Name and Position

Salary,
consulting fee,
retainer or
Fiscal commission
Year
($)

Bonus
($)

Committee
Value of all
Total
or meeting Value of
other
Maximum
fees
perquisites compensation Compensation
($)
($)
($)
($)

Alex Tsukernik,
President, CEO and
Director

2020
2019

180,000
133,562

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

180,000
133,562

Parviz Farsangi,
Chairman and
Director

2020
2019

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Robert Leckie,
Director

2020
2019

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Denis Silva,
Director

2020
2019

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Douglas Reed,
CFO

2020
2019

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Kim Casswell
Corporate Secretary

2020
2019

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities
The following table sets out for each of our NEOs information concerning all option-based awards expected to be outstanding
immediately following the Listing.

Name and Position

Type of
security

Number of
compensation
securities,
number of
underlying
securities, and
percentage of
class

Alex Tsukernik,
President, CEO and Director

Options
RSUs

500,000
800,000

March 1, 2019
April 28, 2020

$0.25
$0.50

-

-

March 1, 2024
April 28, 2022

Robert Leckie,
Director

Options
RSUs

150,000
60,000

March 1, 2019
April 28, 2020

$0.25
$0.50

-

-

March 1, 2024
April 28, 2022

Denis Silva,
Director

Options
RSUs

100,000
60,000

March 1, 2019
April 28, 2020

$0.25
$0.50

-

-

March 1, 2024
April 28, 2022

Parviz Farsangi,
Director and Chairman

Options
RSUs

150,000
100,000

March 1, 2019
April 28, 2020

$0.25
$0.50

-

-

March 1, 2024
April 28, 2022

Douglas Reed,
CFO

Option
RSUs

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

Kim Casswell, Corporate
Secretary

Options
RSUs

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

Date of issue or
grant

Closing price of Closing price of
Issue,
security or
security or
conversion or
underlying
underlying
exercise price security on date security at year
($)
of grant ($)
end ($)

Expiry Dates

Exercise of Options and Compensation Securities by Directors and NEOs
As of the date of the Prospectus, no compensation securities have been exercised by a director of Nova or a NEO.
External Management Companies
Other than as disclosed herein, the Company has not entered into any agreement with any external management company that
employs or retains one or more of the NEOs or Directors and the Company has not entered into any understanding,
arrangement or agreement with any external management company to provide executive management services to the
Company, directly or indirectly, in respect of which any compensation was paid by the Company.
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Pursuant to a management service agreement dated April 1, 2019 between the Company and Seabord Services Corp.
(“Seabord”) of Suite 501, 543 Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, since the commencement of the most recently
completed financial year the Company has paid has paid or accrued $7,000 per month to Seabord in consideration of Seabord
providing office, reception, secretarial accounting and corporate records services to the Company, including the services of
the Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary. The fees to be paid to Seabord over the next 12 months are estimated at
$12,500 per month.
Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements
The Company has not entered into employment agreements with Alex Tsukernik, President and CEO and Douglas Reed, CFO
as of the date of this Prospectus, but anticipates doing so in the near-term based upon recommendations from the CCGC.
Pension Plan Benefits
The Company does not anticipate having any deferred compensation plan or pension plan that provide for payments or benefits
at, following or in connection with retirement.
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
Upon becoming a reporting issuer, Nova intends to have standard compensation arrangements for our non-executive directors;
however, to the date hereof, no compensation has been paid to our non-executive directors.
Nova contemplates that each independent director, if any, will be entitled to participate in the Share Compensation Plan and
any other security-based compensation arrangement or plan adopted by Nova with the approval of the Board and/or Nova’s
shareholders, as may be required by applicable law or TSXV policies.
Nova expects that its directors will be reimbursed for expenses incurred on Nova’s behalf. No additional fees, including
meeting fees will be paid to directors.
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
We carry directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for our directors and officers; however, we are required to obtain a new
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy upon Listing. The Company will apply for limits and deductibles it believes
is appropriate for a company of our type and at our stage of development.
INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
None of our directors, executive officers, employees, former directors, former executive officers or former employees or any
of our subsidiaries, and none of their respective associates, is or has within 30 days before the date of this Prospectus or at any
time since the beginning of the most recently completed financial year been indebted to us or any of our subsidiaries or another
entity whose indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar agreement or
understanding provided us or any of our subsidiaries
AUDIT COMMITTEE
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is comprised of Alex Tsukernik, Robert Leckie and Parviz Farsangi, all of whom are “financially
literate” and majority of whom are independent as defined in NI 52-110.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its obligations relating to the integrity of the internal financial controls
and financial reporting of the Company. The external auditors of the Company report directly to the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee’s principal responsibilities include (i) recommending the external auditor to be nominated for the purpose
of audit, review or attest services for the Company, (ii) recommending the compensation of the external auditor,
(iii) overseeing the work of the external auditor in performing audit, review or attest services for the Company, (iv) reviewing
the Company’s financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis and annual and interim earnings press releases
before the Company publicly discloses this information, and (v) establishing procedures for addressing complaints or concerns
regarding accounting, internal control or auditing matters.
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The text of the Audit Committee’s charter is attached as Schedule E to this Prospectus.
Relevant Education and Experience
Each member of the Audit Committee has adequate education and experience that is relevant to their performance as an Audit
Committee member and, in particular, the requisite education and experience that have provided the member with:
(a)

an understanding of the accounting principles used by the Company to prepare its financial statements and
the ability to assess the general application of those principles in connection with estimates, accruals and
reserves;

(b)

experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and level
of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues
that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements or experience actively
supervising individuals engaged in such activities; and

(c)

an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting.

Alex Tsukernik
Before co-founding Nova in 2018, Mr. Tsukernik began his career in 2001 in the investment banking group at J.P. Morgan
and has advised on more than $50bn+ of transactions. From 2004-2008, he was the founding member of Miller Mathis, an
M&A advisory firm focused on the steel industry. From 2008-2011, he was Director and Head of Metals and Mining at
Rodman & Renshaw where he focused on financing Australian mining issuers in North America. From 2011-2018,
Mr. Tsukernik worked as an independent corporate advisor/merchant banker, focused on finding selected value opportunities
in mining for investors. Mr. Tsukernik earned a B.A. in Mathematics and Economics from Cornell University and an M.B.A.
with Beta Gamma Sigma Honors from Columbia Business School. He also holds the CFA Charter. Mr. Tsukernik has an
understanding of financial statements and is financially literate as that term is defined in NI 52-110.
Robert Leckie
Mr. Leckie started his career at Aon Hewitt as a Project manager from 2004-2007. From 2007-2008, he was a Corporate
Finance Associate at Integral Wealth Securities Limited. From 2009 until 2014, Mr. Leckie conducted investing activities
through his holding company CoreCap Inc. In 2014, he joined Dundee Global Investment Management Inc. as a Vice
President, where he was responsible for identifying and developing investment opportunities. Mr. Leckie is Vice-President of
Dundee Global Investment Management Inc., acting Chief Executive Officer of AgriMarine Holdings Inc., a board member
of AgriMarine Holdings Inc. and a board member of True North Nickel Inc. Mr. Leckie has extensive experience in corporate
finance, previously conducting investing activities through his holding company CoreCap Inc., and has sat on the board of
various public and private companies. He obtained his Bachelor of Arts from Dalhousie University in 2004 and completed the
Canadian Securities Course in 2009. Mr. Leckie has an understanding of financial statements and is financially literate as that
term is defined in NI 52-110.
Parviz Farsangi
Mr. Farsangi has extensive experience and knowledge concerning the operations of the mining industry. He was with
Falconbridge Limited from 1987-2007 in roles that included General Manager, Sudbury Mines/Mill Business Unit and
President of Gramercy Alumina and St. Ann Bauxite. He also served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
of Vale Inco from 2007-2009 where he led the wholly owned global nickel operations with a workforce of 8,000+ people and
oversaw the development and execution of $2 billion operating and $1 billion capital budget for the second largest nickel
producer in the world with annual revenue up to US$11 billion. He held the positions of President, CEO and Director of
Scorpio Mining Corporation from 2010-2012 and acted as the CEO of Canadian Royalties from 2013-2016. Mr. Farsangi is
currently President and a director of PF Mining and Metals Inc., a consulting company for which he has served as President
since 2009. Mr. Farsangi holds a B.Eng. in Mining Engineering from Laurentian University, a M. Eng. in Rock Mechanics
and a Ph.D. in Mining Engineering from McGill University, and an Executive MBA from Queen’s University. Mr. Farsangi
has an understanding of financial statements and is financially literate as that term is defined in NI 52-110.
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Audit Committee Oversight
At no time since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year was a recommendation of the
Audit Committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted by the Board.
Reliance on Certain Exemptions
Since the Company is a Venture Issuer pursuant to applicable Canadian securities legislation, it is relying upon the exemption
provided for at section 6.1 of NI 52-110 in respect of the composition of the Audit Committee.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
The Audit Committee is responsible for the pre-approval of all non-audit services to be provided to the Company or its
Subsidiaries by the Company’s external auditor or the external auditor of the Subsidiaries, unless such pre-approval is
otherwise appropriately delegated by the Audit Committee, or if the Audit Committee adopts appropriate policies and
procedures for the engagement of non-audit services.
External Auditor Service Fees by Category
The fees billed by the Company’s external auditors in each of the last two fiscal years for audit and non-audit related services
provided to the Company or its subsidiaries (if any) were as follows:
Financial Year
Ending
December 31, 2019
December 31, 2018

Audit Fees

Audit Related Fees(1)

Tax Fees(2)

All Other Fees(3)

$25,000
$12,750

–
–

–
–

–
–

Notes:
(1) Fees charged for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of an audit, and not included under Audit Fees.
(2) Fees charged for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning services.
(3) Fees for services other than disclosed in any other column.

COMPENSATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
The Company has formed a Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee (the “CCGC”) comprised of Denis Silva,
Parviz Farsangi and Robert Leckie.
Each member of the CCGC has business and other experience which is relevant to their position as a member of the CCGC.
By virtue of their differing professional backgrounds, business experience, knowledge of the Company’s industry, knowledge
of corporate governance practices and, where appropriate, service on compensation committees and / or corporate governance
committees of other reporting issuers and experience interacting with external consultants and advisors, the members of the
CCGC are able to make decisions on the suitability of the Company’s compensation policies and practices. See “Directors
and Executive Officers – Director and Executive Officer Biographies” for a description of each CCGC members experience
and education.
The text of the CCGC charter is attached as Schedule F to this Prospectus. The charter of the CCGC provides that it is
responsible for, among other things, the following matters:


discharge the Board’s responsibilities relating to compensation of the Company’s executive officers. Among other
things, the Committee will establish and administer the Company’s policies, programs and procedures for
compensating and providing incentives to its executive officers;



identify individuals qualified to become Board members;



recommend qualified candidates to fill Board vacancies and newly created director positions;



recommend whether incumbent directors should be nominated for re-election to the Board upon expiration of their
terms; and
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advise the Board of the appropriate corporate governance procedures that should be followed by the Company and
the Board and monitor whether they comply with such procedures.

While the Board is ultimately responsible for determining all forms of compensation to be awarded to the CEO, other executive
officers and directors, the CCGC will when appropriate review the Company’s compensation philosophy, policies, plans and
guidelines and recommend any changes to the Board. See “Executive Compensation” for a discussion of, among other things,
the process by which the CCGC in collaboration with the Board determines the compensation of the Company’s directors and
officers.
STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Corporate governance relates to the activities of the Board, the members of which are elected by and are accountable to the
shareholders, and takes into account the role of the individual members of management who are appointed by the Board and
who are charged with day-to-day management of the Company. The Company’s approach to issues of corporate governance
is designed with a view to ensuring that the business and affairs of the Company are effectively managed so as to enhance
shareholder value. The Board fulfills its mandate directly and through its committees at meetings held as required.
National Policy 58-201 – Corporate Governance Guidelines establishes corporate governance guidelines to be used by issuers
in developing their own corporate governance practices. The Board is committed to ensuring that the Company has an effective
corporate governance system, which adds value and assists the Company in achieving its objectives.
The Company’s approach to corporate governance is set forth below.
Mandate of the Board
The Board assumes responsibility for the stewardship of the Company and the enhancement of shareholder value. The Board
is responsible for:
(a)

adopting a strategic plan for the Company and reviewing the plan in light of management’s assessment of
emerging trends, the competitive environment, the opportunities for the business of the Company, risk
issues, and significant business practices and products;

(b)

ensuring that the risk management of the Company is prudently addressed;

(c)

reviewing the Company’s approach to human resource management and overseeing succession planning for
management;

(d)

reviewing the Company’s approach to corporate governance, including an evaluation of the adequacy of the
mandate of the Board, director independence standards and compliance with the Company’s Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics; and

(e)

upholding a comprehensive policy for communications with shareholders and the public at large.

The frequency of meetings of the Board and the nature of agenda items may change from year to year depending upon the
activities of Nova. The Board intends to meet at least quarterly and at each meeting there is a review of the business of Nova.
The Board of the Company facilitates its exercise of independent supervision over the Company’s management through
frequent meetings of the Board being held to obtain an update on significant corporate activities and plans, both with and
without members of the Company’s management being in attendance.
Composition of the Board
The Board is composed of four directors, two of whom qualify as independent directors. For this purpose, a director is
independent if he or she has no direct or indirect “material relationship” with Nova, as defined in NI 58-101. A “material
relationship” is a relationship which could, in the view of the Board, be reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of
the director’s independent judgment. An individual who has been an employee or executive officer of the Company within
the last three years is considered to have a material relationship with the Company.
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Of the directors, Robert Leckie and Parviz Farsangi are considered independent for the purposes of NI 58-101. Alex Tsukernik,
as President and CEO of the Company, is not considered independent for the purposes of NI 58-101. Denis Silva is not
considered independent for the purposes of NI 58-101 by virtue of being a partner at DLA Piper (Canada) LLP, legal counsel
to the Company.
Directorships
See “Directors and Executive Officers – Director and Executive Officer Biographies” for a table setting out the directors of
the Company that currently serve on the boards of directors of other reporting issuers in Canada.
The Board has determined that these inter-locking directorships do not adversely impact the effectiveness of Robert Leckie,
Denis Silva, Parviz Farsangi or Douglas Reed on the Board or create any potential for conflicts of interest.
Orientation and Education
Each new director participates in the Company’s initial orientation program and each director participates in the Company’s
continuing director development programs. The Board reviews the Company’s initial orientation program and continuing
director development programs. Nova provides new directors copies of relevant financial, technical, geological and other
information regarding its properties and meetings with management. Board members are encouraged to communicate with
management and auditors, to keep themselves current with industry trends and developments, and to attend related industry
seminars. Board members have full access to the Company’s records.
Ethical Business Conduct
Nova has adopted a written Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which emphasizes the importance of matters relating to
honest and ethical conduct, conflicts of interest, confidentiality of corporate information, protection and proper use of
corporate assets and opportunities, compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations and the reporting of any illegal or
unethical behaviour. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics will be filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Nomination of Directors
The Company has formed a CCGC comprised of Denis Silva, Parviz Farsangi and Robert Leckie. In consultation with the
Chair of the Board, the CGCC identifies and recommends to the Board potential nominees for election or re-election to the
Board as well as individual directors to serve as members and chairs of each committee. See “Compensation And Corporate
Governance Committee”.
Compensation
Compensation matters are currently determined by the Board upon the recommendation of the CCGC. See “Compensation
And Corporate Governance Committee”.
Other Board Committees
The Board has no committees, other than the Audit Committee and the CGCC.
Assessments
The CGCC is responsible for establishing criteria for, and annually implementing, an evaluation process for the Board, the
Chairman of the Board, each committee of the Board, and individual directors in order to assess the effectiveness of the Board
as a whole, the Chair of the Board, each committee and the contribution of individual directors. The Board reviews and
assesses the adequacy of its mandate on, at a minimum, an annual basis to ensure compliance with any rules or regulations
promulgated by any regulatory body.
INVESTMENT POLICY
The text of the Company’s investment policy is attached as Schedule G to this Prospectus.
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RISK FACTORS
Investing in our securities is speculative and involves a high degree of risk due to the nature of our business and the present
stage of its development. The following risk factors, as well as risks currently unknown to us, could materially adversely affect
our future business, operations and financial condition and could cause them to differ materially from the estimates described
in forward-looking statements relating to the Company, or its business, property or financial results, each of which could
cause purchasers of our securities to lose part or all of their investment. The risks set out below are not the only risks we face;
risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Before deciding whether to invest in any securities
of the Company, investors should consider carefully the risks discussed below.
Risks Relating to Nova
Changes in Commodity Prices that underlie Royalties
The price of Nova’s Common Shares may be significantly affected by declines in commodity prices. The revenue derived by
Nova from its asset portfolio will be significantly affected by changes in the market price of commodities that underlie the
Royalties or other investments or interests of Nova. Nova’s revenue is particularly sensitive to changes in the price of metals
that are the subject of the Royalties, including nickel, copper, cobalt, tin, lithium, graphite, lead and zinc (the “Royalty
Commodities”). Any future cash flow derived from our Royalties are 100% dependent on the future price of the Royalty
Commodities. The price of Royalty Commodities fluctuate daily and are affected by factors beyond the control of Nova,
including levels of supply and demand, industrial development, inflation and interest rates, the U.S. dollar’s strength and
geo-political events and global health pandemics. External economic factors that affect commodity prices can be influenced
by changes in international investment patterns, monetary systems and political developments.
The Impact of the current COVID-19 pandemic may significantly impact Nova
The impact of the current COVID-19 pandemic may significantly impact Nova. The current COVID-19 (coronavirus) global
health pandemic is significantly impacting the global economy and commodity and financial markets. The full extent and
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is unknown and to date has included extreme volatility in financial markets, a slowdown
in economic activity, extreme volatility in commodity prices (including the Royalty Commodities) and has raised the prospect
of an extended global recession. As well, as efforts are undertaken to slow the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
operation and development of mining projects may be impacted. To date, a number of mining projects have been suspended
as cases of COVID-19 have been confirmed, for precautionary purposes or as governments have declared a state of emergency
or taken other actions. If the operation or development of one or more of the properties in which Nova holds a royalty, stream
or other interest and from which it receives or expects to receive significant revenue is suspended, it may have a material
adverse impact on Nova’s profitability, results of operations, financial condition and the trading price of Nova’s securities.
The broader impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on investors, businesses, the global economy or financial and commodity
markets may also have a material adverse impact on Nova’s profitability, results of operations, financial conditions and the
trading price of Nova’s securities upon listing on the TSXV.
All commodities, by their nature, are subject to wide price fluctuations and future material price declines will result in a
decrease in revenue and may cause a suspension or termination of production by relevant operators, which would result in a
complete cessation of revenue from applicable Royalties. Even if Nova worked to ensure a diversification of commodities
that underlie its Royalties, the commodity market trends are cyclical in nature and a general downturn in commodity prices
could result in a significant decrease in overall revenue.
Nova Has No Control Over Mining Operations
Nova is not directly involved in the operation of mines. The revenue Nova may derive from its portfolio of Royalty assets is
based entirely on production from third-party mine owners and operators. Nova is a party to copper and nickel royalty
agreements produced by certain mines and operations and operations, however, Nova will not have a direct interest in the
operation or ownership of those mines and projects. The owners and operators generally will have the power to determine the
manner in which the properties are exploited, including decisions to expand, continue or reduce, suspend or discontinue
production from a property, decisions about the marketing of products extracted from the property and decisions to advance
exploration efforts and conduct development of non-producing properties. The interests of third-party owners and operators
and those of Nova in respect of a relevant project or property may not always be aligned. The inability of Nova to control the
operations for the properties in which it has a Royalty or other interest may result in a material adverse effect on the
profitability of Nova, the results of operations of Nova and its financial condition. Except in a limited set of circumstances as
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may be specified in a specific Royalty, Nova will not receive compensation if a specific mine or operation fails to achieve or
maintain production or if the specific mine or operation is closed or discontinued. In addition, a number of Mining Operations
in respect of which Nova holds a royalty interest are currently in exploration stage and may not commence commercial
production and there can be no assurance that if such operations do commence production that they will achieve profitable
and continued production levels. In addition, the owners or operators may take action contrary to policies or objectives of
Nova; be unable or unwilling to fulfill their obligations under their agreements with Nova; have difficulty obtaining or be
unable to obtain the financing necessary to move projects forward; or experience financial, operational or other difficulties,
including insolvency, which could limit the owner or operator’s ability to perform its obligations under arrangements with
Nova. Nova is also subject to the risk that a specific mine or project may be put on care and maintenance or have its operations
suspended, on both a temporary or permanent basis.
The owners or operators of the projects or properties in which Nova holds a royalty interest may from time to time announce
transactions, including the sale or transfer of the projects or of the operator itself, over which Nova has little or no control. If
such transactions are completed it may result in a new operator controlling the project, who may or may not operate the project
in a similar manner to the current operator which may positively or negatively impact Nova. If any such transaction is
announced, there is no certainty that any such transaction will be completed, or completed as announced, and any
consequences of such non-completion on Nova may be difficult or impossible to predict.
Nova is subject to the risk that Mining Operations may shut down on a temporary or permanent basis due to issues including
but not limited to economic conditions, lack of financial capital, flooding, fire, weather related events, mechanical
malfunctions, community or social related issues, social unrest, the failure to receive permits or having existing permits
revoked, collapse of mining infrastructure including tailings ponds, expropriation and other risks. These issues are common
in the mining industry and can occur frequently. There is a risk that the carrying values of Nova’s assets may not be recoverable
if the mining companies operating the Mining Operations cannot raise additional finances to continue to develop those assets.
The exact effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these factors may result in the Mining
Operations becoming uneconomic resulting in their shutdown and closure. Nova is not entitled to purchase gold, other
commodities, receive royalties or other economic benefit from the Mining Operations if no gold or other commodities are
produced from the Mining Operations.
Variations in Foreign Exchange Rates
Foreign exchange rates have seen significant fluctuation in recent years. A depreciation in the value of the Canadian Dollar
against one or more of the currencies in which Nova receives payments under the Royalties could have a material adverse
effect on the profitability of Nova, its results of operations and financial condition.
Nova’s consolidated revenue, expenses and financial position may be impacted by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates as
payments in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian Dollars. Nova has not hedged its exposure to currency fluctuations.
The operations of Nova are subject to foreign currency fluctuations and inflationary pressures, which may have a material
adverse effect on the profitability of Nova, its result of operations and financial condition. There can be no assurance that the
steps taken by management to address such fluctuations will eliminate the adverse effects and Nova may suffer losses due to
adverse foreign currency fluctuations.
Delay Receiving or Failure to Receive Payments
Nova is dependent to a large extent upon the financial viability and operational effectiveness of owners and operators of the
relevant mines and mineral properties underlying Nova’s Royalties. Payments from production generally flow through the
operator and there is a risk of delay and additional expense in receiving such revenues. Payments may be delayed by
restrictions imposed by lenders, delays in the sale or delivery of products, the ability or willingness of smelters and refiners to
process mine products, recovery by the operators of expenses incurred in the operation of the Royalty properties, the
establishment by the operators of reserves for such expenses or the insolvency of the operator. Nova’s rights to payment under
the Royalties must, in most cases, be enforced by contract without the protection of the ability to liquidate a property. This
inhibits Nova’s ability to collect amounts owing under its Royalties upon a default. Additionally, some agreements may
provide limited recourse in particular circumstances which may further inhibit Nova’s ability to recover or obtain equitable
relief in the event of a default under such agreements. In the event of a bankruptcy of an operator or owner, it is possible that
an operator may claim that Nova should be treated as an unsecured creditor and, therefore, have a limited prospect for full
recovery of revenue and a possibility that a creditor or the operator may claim that the Royalty agreement should be terminated
in the insolvency proceeding. Failure to receive payments from the owners and operators of the relevant properties or
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termination of Nova’s rights may result in a material and adverse effect on Nova’s profitability, results of operations and
financial condition.
Third-Party Reporting
Nova relies on public disclosure and other information regarding specific mines or projects that is received from the owners
or operators of the mines or other independent experts. The information received may be susceptible to being imprecise as the
result of it being compiled by certain third parties. The disclosure created by Nova may be inaccurate if the information
received contains inaccuracies or omissions, which could create a material adverse effect on Nova. Further, Nova must rely
on the accuracy and timeliness of the public disclosure and other information it receives from the owners and operators of the
Mining Operations, and uses such information in its analyses, forecasts and assessments relating to its own business and to
prepare its disclosure with respect to the Royalties. If the information provided by such third parties to Nova contains material
inaccuracies or omissions, the Company’s disclosure may be inaccurate and its ability to accurately forecast or achieve its
stated objectives may be materially impaired, which may have a material adverse effect on Nova.
In addition, a Royalty agreement may require an owner or operator to provide Nova with production and operating information
that may, depending on the completeness and accuracy of such information, enable Nova to detect errors in the calculation of
Royalty payments that it receives. As a result, the ability of Nova to detect payment errors through its associated internal
controls and procedures is limited, and the possibility exists that Nova will need to make retroactive revenue adjustments. Of
the Royalty agreements that Nova enters into, some may provide Nova the right to audit the operational calculations and
production data for associated payments; however, such audits may occur many months following the recognition by Nova of
the applicable revenue and may require Nova to adjust its revenue in later periods.
As a holder of an interest in a Royalty, Nova will have limited access to data on the operations or to the actual properties
underlying the Royalty. This limited access to data or disclosure regarding operations could affect the ability of Nova to assess
the performance of the Royalty. This could result in delays in cash flow from that which is anticipated by Nova based on the
stage of development of the properties covered by the assets within the portfolio of Nova.
Disclosure Regarding Operations
Some Royalties may be subject to confidentiality arrangements which govern the disclosure of information with regard to the
Royalty and, as such, Nova may not be in a position to publicly disclose non-public information with respect to certain
Royalties. The limited access to data and disclosure regarding the operations of the properties in which Nova has an interest,
may restrict the ability of Nova to enhance its performance which may result in a material and adverse effect on the profitability
of Nova, results of operations for Nova and financial condition. There can be no assurance that Nova will be successful in
obtaining these rights when negotiating the acquisition of Royalties.
Strategy for Acquisitions
As Nova executes on its business plan it intends to seek to purchase additional Royalties from third parties. Nova cannot offer
any assurance that it can complete any acquisition or proposed business transactions on favourable terms or at all, or that any
completed acquisitions or proposed transactions will benefit Nova.
At any given time Nova may have various types of transactions and acquisition opportunities in various stages of review,
including submission of indications of interest and participation in discussions or negotiations in respect of such transactions.
This process also involves the engagement of consultants and advisors to assist in analyzing particular opportunities. Any
such acquisition or transaction could be material to Nova and may involve the issuance of securities by Nova to fund any such
acquisition. Any such issuance of securities may result in substantial dilution to existing shareholders and may result in the
creation of new control positions. In addition, any such acquisition or other Royalty transaction may have other transaction
specific risks associated with it, including risks related to the completion of the transaction, the project operators or the
jurisdictions in which assets may be acquired.
Additionally, Nova may consider opportunities to restructure its Royalties where it believes such a restructuring may provide
a long-term benefit to Nova, even if such restructuring may reduce near-term revenues or result in Nova incurring transaction
related costs. Nova may enter into one or more acquisitions, restructurings or other Royalty transactions at any time.
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Nova Cash Flow Risk
Nova is not directly involved in the ownership or operation of mines. Nova’s Royalty and other interests in properties or
projects are subject to most of the significant risks of the operating mining company. Nova’s cash flow will be dependent on
the activities of third parties which could create risk that those third parties may, have targets inconsistent to Nova’s targets,
take action contrary to Nova’s goals, policies or objectives, be unwilling or unable to fulfill their contractual obligations owed
to Nova, or experience financial, operational or other difficulties or setbacks, including bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings,
which could limit a third-party’s ability to perform under a specific third-party arrangement. Specifically, Nova could be
negatively impacted by an operator’s ability to continue its mining operations as a going concern and have access to capital.
A lack of access to capital could result in a third-party entering a bankruptcy proceeding, which would result in Nova being
unable to realize any value for its Royalty or other interest.
Rights of other Interest-Holders
Some royalty interests are subject to: (i) buy-down right provisions pursuant to which an operator may buy-back all or a
portion of the Royalty, (ii) pre-emptive rights pursuant to which certain parties have the right of first refusal or first offer with
respect to a proposed sale or assignment of a Royalty to Nova, or (iii) claw back rights pursuant to which the seller of a Royalty
to Nova has the right to re-acquire the Royalty. Holders may exercise these rights such that certain royalty interests would no
longer be held by Nova. Any compensation received as a result may be significantly less than Nova had budgeted receiving
for the applicable Royalty and may have a material adverse effect on Nova’s income and business.
Defects in Royalties
A defect in the Royalties and/or the underlying contract may arise to defeat or impair the claim of Nova to such Royalty.
Change in Material Assets
As at the date hereof, the Dumont Royalty and NuevaUnión Royalty are currently material assets to Nova, although as new
assets are acquired or move into production, the materiality of each of the assets of Nova will be reconsidered. Any adverse
development affecting the operation of, production from or recoverability of mineral reserves from the Dumont Deposit and
NuevaUnión, or any other significant property in the asset portfolio from time to time, such as, but not limited to, unusual and
unexpected geologic formations, seismic activity, rock bursts, cave-ins, flooding and other conditions involved in the drilling
and removal of material, any of which could result in damage to, or destruction of, mines and other producing facilities,
damage to life or property, environmental damage, or the inability to hire suitable personnel and engineering contractors or
secure supply agreements on commercially suitable terms, may have a material adverse effect on the profitability of Nova,
the financial condition of Nova and results of its operations.
Dependence on Key Personnel
Nova is dependent on the services of a small number of key management personnel. The ability of Nova to manage its activities
and its business will depend in large part on the efforts of these individuals. There can be no assurance that Nova will be
successful in engaging or retaining key personnel. The loss of the services of a member of the management of Nova could
have a material adverse effect on the Company. From time to time, Nova may also need to identify and retain additional skilled
management and specialized technical personnel to efficiently operate its business. The number of persons skilled in the
acquisition of Royalties is limited and competition for such persons is intense. Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel is
critical to the success of Nova and there can be no assurance that Nova will be successful in recruiting and retaining the
personnel it needs to successfully operate its business. If Nova is not successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel,
the ability of Nova to execute on its business model and strategy could be affected, which could have a material and adverse
impact on its profitability, results of operations and financial condition.
Negative Cash Flow from Operations
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company had negative cash flow from operating activities. Although the
Company anticipates it will have positive cash flow from operating activities in future periods, to the extent that the Company
has negative cash flow in any future period, unallocated funds may be used to fund such negative cash flow from operating
activities, if any.
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Dividends
Payment of dividends on Nova’s securities is within the discretion of Nova’s board of directors and will depend upon Nova’s
future earnings, cash flows, acquisition capital requirements and financial condition, and other relevant factors. There can be
no assurance that Nova will be in a position to declare dividends in the future due to the occurrence of one or more of the risks
described herein.
Competition
Nova will compete with other companies for Royalties. Other companies may have greater resources than Nova. Any such
competition may prevent Nova from being able to acquire new Royalties. Future competition in the royalty sector could
materially adversely affect Nova’s ability to conduct its business. There can be no assurance that Nova will be able to compete
successfully against other companies in acquiring new royalty interests. In addition, Nova may be unable to acquire Royalties
at acceptable valuations which may result in a material and adverse effect on Nova’s profitability, results of operations and
financial condition.
Project Operators may not Respect Contractual Obligations
Royalties and other interests in properties or projects are contractual in nature. Parties to contracts do not always honour
contractual terms and contracts themselves may be subject to interpretation or technical defects. To the extent grantors of
Royalties and other interests do not abide by their contractual obligations, Nova may be forced to take legal action to enforce
its contractual rights. Such litigation may be time consuming and costly and there is no guarantee of success. Further, any
such litigation may also be required to be pursued in foreign jurisdictions. Any pending proceedings or actions or any decisions
determined adversely to Nova, may have a material and adverse effect on Nova’s profitability, results of operations, financial
condition and the trading price of the Common Shares of Nova.
Unknown Defects
A defect in a Royalty or the underlying contract may arise to defeat or impair the claim of Nova to such Royalty.
Unknown defects in a Royalty may result in a material and adverse effect on Nova’s profitability, results of operations,
financial condition and the trading price of Nova securities.
Enforceability
The status of Royalties at law can be uncertain and varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and in certain jurisdictions a Royalty
may not be a registrable interest which runs with the land. As a result it may be difficult for Nova to enforce its rights with
respect to Royalties against a third party. Such a failure may result in the loss of the Company’s rights to such a Royalty in
the event a third party assigns title to the underlying property.
Conflicts of Interest
Certain directors and officers of Nova also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies that are involved in natural
resource explorations, development and mining operations, and consequently there exists the possibility for such directors and
officers to be in a position where there is a conflict of interest. Any decision made by any such directors and officers will be
made in accordance with their duties and obligations to deal in good faith and in the best interests of Nova and its shareholders.
Each director that is in a conflict of interest is required to declare such conflict and abstain from voting on a matter in which
that director is conflicted in accordance with applicable law.
Global Financial Conditions
Global financial conditions have been characterized by ongoing volatility. Global financial conditions could suddenly and
rapidly destabilize in response to future events, as government authorities may have limited resources to respond to future
crises. Global capital markets have continued to display increased volatility in response to global events. Future crises may be
precipitated by any number of causes, including natural disasters, pandemics, geopolitical instability, changes to energy prices
or sovereign defaults.
Market events and conditions, including the disruptions in the international credit markets and other financial systems, in
China, Japan and Europe, along with political instability in the Middle East and Russia and falling currency prices expressed
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in United States dollars have resulted in commodity prices remaining volatile. These conditions have also caused a loss of
confidence in global credit markets, excluding the United States, resulting in the collapse of, and government intervention in,
major banks, financial institutions and insurers and creating a climate of greater volatility, tighter regulations, less liquidity,
widening credit spreads, less price transparency, increased credit losses and tighter credit conditions. Notwithstanding various
actions by governments, concerns about the general condition of the capital markets, financial instruments, banks and
investment banks, insurers and other financial institutions caused the broader credit markets to be volatile and interest rates to
remain at historical lows. These events are illustrative of the effect that events beyond the Company’s control may have on
commodity prices, demand for metals, including gold, silver, copper, lead and zinc, availability of credit, investor confidence,
and general financial market liquidity, all of which may adversely affect the Company’s business. Global financial conditions
have always been subject to volatility. Access to public financing has been negatively impacted by sovereign debt concerns
in Europe and emerging markets, as well as concerns over global growth rates and conditions.
Any sudden or rapid destabilization of global economic conditions could negatively impact Nova’s ability, or the ability of
the operators of the properties in which Nova holds Royalties or other interests, to obtain equity or debt financing or make
other suitable arrangements to finance their projects.
These factors may impact the ability of Nova to obtain both debt and equity financing in the future and, if obtained, on terms
favourable to Nova. Increased levels of volatility and market turmoil can adversely impact the operations of Nova and the
value and the price of the Common Shares of the Company could be adversely affected.
Public Health Crisis
Global or national health concerns, including the outbreak of pandemic or contagious diseases, such as the recent COVID-19
(coronavirus), may adversely affect Nova. Nova’s business, operations and financial condition could be materially adversely
affected by the outbreak of epidemics or pandemics or other health crises. In December 2019, COVID-19 was reported to
have surfaced in Wuhan, China. On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak a global health
emergency and on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak a pandemic. In China, reactions to
the spread of COVID-19 have led to, among other things, significant restrictions on travel within China, temporary business
closures, quarantines and a general reduction in consumer activity. The outbreak has spread throughout Canada, the United
States, Europe and the Middle East, causing the governments of most western countries, including Canada and the United
States, to take certain actions to reduce the spread of the virus. Such actions have included imposing restrictions such as
quarantines, school closures, restrictions on public gatherings, business closures and travel restrictions. While these effects
are expected to be temporary, the duration of the business disruptions internationally and related financial impact cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time. Similarly, Nova cannot estimate whether or to what extent this outbreak and the potential
financial impact may extend to countries outside of those currently impacted. Such public health crises can result in volatility
and disruptions in the supply and demand for Royalty Commodities, global supply chains and financial markets, as well as
declining trade and market sentiment and reduced mobility of people, all of which could affect commodity prices, interest
rates, credit ratings, credit risk and inflation. In particular, commodity prices have significantly weakened in response to the
outbreak of COVID-19.
The risks to Nova of such public health crises also include risks to employee health and safety and a slowdown or temporary
suspension of operations in geographic locations impacted by an outbreak. At this point, the extent to which COVID-19 may
impact Nova is uncertain; however, it is possible that COVID-19 may have a material adverse effect on the Nova’s business,
results of operations and financial condition. Should an employee become infected with a serious illness that has the potential
to spread rapidly, this could place Nova’s workforce at risk. The 2020 outbreak of COVID-19 is one example of such an
illness. There can be no assurance that this virus or another infectious illness will not impact Nova’s personnel and ultimately
its operations.
Natural Disasters, Terrorist Acts, Civil Unrest, Pandemics and Other Disruptions and Dislocations
Natural Disasters, Terrorist Acts, Civil Unrest, Pandemics and Other Disruptions and Dislocations, such as the recent
COVID-19 (coronavirus), may adversely affect Nova. Upon the occurrence of a natural disaster, or upon an incident of war,
riot or civil unrest, the impacted country, province, state or region may not efficiently and quickly recover from such event,
which could have a materially adverse effect Nova and/or its businesses or operations. Terrorist attacks, public health crises
including epidemics, pandemics or outbreaks of new infectious disease or viruses including, most recently, the COVID-19
outbreak, domestic and global trade disruptions, infrastructure disruptions, civil disobedience or unrest (including the most
recent protests and railway blockades in Canada), natural disasters, national emergencies, acts of war, technological attacks
and related events can result in volatility and disruption to local and global supply chains, operations, mobility of people and
the financial markets, which could affect interest rates, credit ratings, credit risk, inflation, business, financial conditions,
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results of operations and other factors relevant to Nova and/or its businesses or operations, which may have a material adverse
effect on Nova’s reputation, business, financial conditions or operating results.
Future Financing; Future Securities Issuances
There can be no assurance that Nova will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that the terms of such financing
will be favourable. Failure to obtain such additional financing could impede the funding obligations of Nova or result in delay
or postponement of further business activities which may result in a material and adverse effect on Nova’s profitability, results
of operations and financial condition. Nova may require new capital to continue to grow its business and there are no
assurances that capital will be available when needed, if at all. It is likely that, at least to some extent, such additional capital
will be raised through the issuance of additional equity, which could result in dilution to shareholders.
Repayment of Current Credit Facility
Nova’s credit facilities and financing agreements, including those which Nova may enter into at some future date, may mature
on various dates. There can be no assurance that such credit facility or financing agreements, or any other credit facilities or
financing agreements that Nova may enter into, will be renewed or refinanced, or if renewed or refinanced, that the renewal
or refinancing will occur on equally favourable terms to Nova. Nova’s ability to continue operating may be adversely affected
if Nova is not able to renew its credit facilities or arrange refinancing, or if such renewal or refinancing, as the case may be,
occurs on terms materially less favorable to Nova than at present. Nova’s current credit facilities and financing agreements
may impose covenants and obligations on Nova. There is a risk that such loans may go into default if there is a breach in
complying with such covenants and obligations, which could result in the lenders realizing on their security and causing the
shareholders to lose some or all of their investment.
Litigation affecting Properties
Potential litigation may arise on a property on which Nova holds or has a royalty interest (for example, litigation between joint
venture partners or between operators and original property owners or neighbouring property owners). Nova will not generally
have any influence on the litigation and will not generally have access to data. Any such litigation that results in the cessation
or reduction of production from a property (whether temporary or permanent) could have a material and adverse effect on
Nova’s profitability, results of operations, financial condition and the trading price of the Common Shares of Nova.
Changes in Tax Laws Impacting Nova
There can be no assurance that new tax laws, regulations, policies or interpretations will not be enacted or brought into being
in the jurisdictions where Nova has interests that could have a material adverse effect on Nova. Any such change or
implementation of new tax laws or regulations could adversely affect Nova’s ability to conduct its business. No assurance can
be given that new taxation rules or accounting policies will not be enacted or that existing rules will not be applied in a manner
which could result in the profits of Nova being subject to additional taxation or which could otherwise have a material adverse
effect on the profitability of Nova, Nova’s results of operations, financial condition and the trading price of the Common
Shares of Nova. In addition, the introduction of new tax rules or accounting policies, or changes to, or differing interpretations
of, or application of, existing tax rules or accounting policies could make Royalties or other investments by Nova less attractive
to counterparties. Such changes could adversely affect the ability of Nova to acquire new assets or make future investments.
Credit and Liquidity Risk
Nova is exposed to counterparty risks and liquidity risks including, but not limited to: (i) through the companies with which
Nova has Royalty agreements with; (ii) through financial institutions that hold Nova’s cash and cash equivalents; (iii) through
companies that have payables to Nova; (iv) through Nova’s insurance providers; and (v) through Nova’s lenders. Nova is also
exposed to liquidity risks in meeting its operating expenditure requirements in instances where cash positions are unable to be
maintained or appropriate financing is unavailable. These factors may impact the ability of Nova to obtain loans and other
credit facilities in the future and, if obtained, on terms favourable to Nova. Also, if these risks materialize, the Company’s
operations could be adversely impacted and the trading price of its securities could be adversely affected.
Information Systems and Cyber Security
Nova’s information systems, and those of its counterparties under the Royalty agreements and vendors, are vulnerable to an
increasing threat of continually evolving cybersecurity risks. Unauthorized parties may attempt to gain access to these systems
or Nova’s information through fraud or other means of deceiving Nova’s counterparties. Nova’s operations depend, in part,
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on how well Nova and its suppliers, as well as counterparties under the Royalty agreements, protect networks, equipment,
information technology systems and software against damage from a number of threats. The failure of information systems or
a component of information systems could, depending on the nature of any such failure, adversely impact Nova’s reputation
and results of operations. Although to date Nova has not experienced any material losses relating to cyber-attacks or other
information security breaches, there can be no assurance that Nova will not incur such losses in the future. Nova’s risk and
exposure to these matters cannot be fully mitigated because of, among other things, the evolving nature of these threats. As a
result, cyber security and the continued development and enhancement of controls, processes and practices designed to protect
systems, computers, software, data and networks from attack, damage or unauthorized access remain an area of attention.
Activist Shareholders
Publicly-traded companies are often subject to demands or publicity campaigns from activist shareholders advocating for
changes to corporate governance practices, such as executive compensation practices, social issues, or for certain corporate
actions or reorganizations. There can be no assurance that Nova will not be subject to any such campaign, including proxy
contests, media campaigns or other activities. Responding to challenges from activist shareholders can be costly and time
consuming and may have an adverse effect on Nova’s reputation. In addition, responding to such campaigns would likely
divert the attention and resources of Nova’s management and board of directors, which could have an adverse effect on Nova’s
business and results of operations. Even if Nova were to undertake changes or actions in response to activism, activist
shareholders may continue to promote or attempt to effect further changes and may attempt to acquire control of Nova. If
shareholder activists are ultimately elected to the board of directors, this could adversely affect Nova’s business and future
operations. This type of activism can also create uncertainty about Nova’s future strategic direction, resulting in loss of future
business opportunities, which could adversely affect Nova’s business, future operations, profitability and Nova’s ability to
attract and retain qualified personnel.
Reputation Damage
Reputational damage can be the result of the actual or perceived occurrence of any number of events, and could include any
negative publicity, whether true or not. While Nova does not ultimately have direct control over how it is perceived by others,
reputational loss could have a material adverse impact on our financial performance, financial condition, cash flows and
growth prospects.
Expansion of Business Model
Nova’s operations and expertise have been focused on the acquisition and management of royalty interests. Nova may pursue
acquisitions outside this area, including acquiring and/or investing in and/or developing resource projects. Expansion of
Nova’s activities into new areas would present challenges and risks that it has not faced in the past, including many of the
risks described under the section Risks Related to Mines and Mining Operations. The failure to manage these challenges and
risks successfully may result in a material and adverse effect on Nova’s profitability, results of operations, financial condition
and the trading price of Nova securities.
Risks Related to Mines and Mining Operations
Risk Factors applicable to Owners and Operators of Properties in which Nova holds an Interest
To the extent that they relate to the production of minerals from or the continued operation of, properties in which Nova holds
a royalty interest, Nova will be subject to the risk factors applicable to the owners and operators of such mines or projects.
Exploration, Development and Operating Risks
Mining involves a high degree of risk. Mines and projects in which Nova has or may enter into a Royalty agreement are
subject to all of the hazards and risks normally encountered in the exploration, development and production of metals,
including weather-related events, unusual and unexpected geology formations, seismic activity, rock bursts, cave-ins, pit-wall
failures, flooding, environmental hazards and the discharge of toxic chemicals, explosions and other conditions involved in
the drilling, blasting and removal of material, any of which could result in damage to, or destruction of, mines and other
producing facilities, damage to property, injury or loss of life, environmental damage, work stoppages, delays in production,
increased production costs and possible legal liability. Any of these hazards and risks and other acts of God could shut down
Mining Operations temporarily or permanently. Mining Operations are subject to hazards such as equipment failure or failure
of retaining dams around tailings disposal areas which may result in environmental pollution and consequent liability for the
owners or operators of the Mining Operations.
- 68 -

The exploration for, development, mining and processing of mineral deposits involves significant risks which even a
combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the discovery of an ore body may
result in substantial rewards, few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Major
expenditures may be required to locate and establish mineral reserves, to develop metallurgical processes and to construct
mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure that the exploration or development programs
planned by the owners or operators of Mining Operations will result in profitable commercial Mining Operations. Whether a
mineral deposit will be commercially viable depends on a number of factors, some of which are: cash costs associated with
extraction and processing, the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity to infrastructure; metal
prices which are highly cyclical; government regulations, including regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure,
land use, importing and exporting of minerals and environmental protection; and political stability. The exact effect of these
factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these factors may result in one or more of the Mining Operations
not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. Accordingly there can be no assurance the Mining Operations which are
not currently in production will be brought into a state of commercial production.
Climate Change
Governments are moving to introduce climate change legislation and treaties at the international, national, state/provincial
and local levels. Regulation relating to emission levels (such as carbon taxes) and energy efficiency is becoming more
stringent. The Paris climate accord was signed by 195 countries in December 2015 and marked a global shift toward a
low-carbon economy.
If the current regulatory trend continues, Nova expects that this will result in increased costs at some of the Mining Operations
which could adversely impact the profitability or viability of such operations and may result in reduction or cessation of
production which in turn would have an impact on the Company’s revenue. In addition, the physical risks of climate change
may also have an adverse effect on some of the Mining Operations. These risks include the following:


sea level rise: changes in sea level could affect ocean transportation and shipping facilities which are used to transport
supplies, equipment and workforce to some of the Mining Operations and products from those operations to world
markets.



extreme weather events: extreme weather events (such as increased frequency or intensity of hurricanes, increased
snow pack, prolonged drought) have the potential to disrupt some of the Mining Operations. Extended disruptions to
supply lines could result in interruption to production.



resource shortages: some of the Mining Operations depend on regular supplies of consumables (diesel, tires, sodium
cyanide, et cetera) and reagents to operate efficiently. In the event that the effects of climate change or extreme
weather events cause prolonged disruption to the delivery of essential commodities, production efficiency at some
of the Mining Operations is likely to be reduced.

There is no assurance that efforts to mitigate the risks of climate changes will be effective and that the physical risk of climate
change will not have an adverse effect on the Mining Operations and their profitability.
Commodity Prices
Metal prices are subject to fluctuation and any future significant decline could result in mines, Mining Operations and project
development to cease. Owners and operators of mines and development projects could be forced to cease operations or
discontinue development of a particular project, which could materially adversely affect Nova’s business operations and
profitability.
Environmental Risks
All phases of mine operation or development are subject to governmental regulation including environmental regulation in
the various jurisdictions in which they operate. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require stricter
standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of
proposed projects and heightened responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. There is no
assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the mines and projects in which
Nova has an interest. Also, unknown environmental hazards may exist on the properties at present which were caused by
previous or existing owners or operators of the properties and which could impair the commercial success, levels of production
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and continued feasibility and project development and mining operations on these properties. One or more of the mining
companies may become liable for such environmental hazards caused by previous owners or operators of the properties.
Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions thereunder,
including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include
corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment or remedial actions. Parties engaged
in mining operations or in the exploration or development of mineral properties may be required to compensate those suffering
loss or damage by reason of the mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of
applicable laws or regulations.
Government Regulation, Permits and Authorizations
The exploration and development activities related to mine operations are subject to extensive laws and regulations governing
exploration, development, production, exports, taxes, labour standards, waste disposal, protection and remediation of the
environment, reclamation, historic and cultural resources preservation, mine safety and occupational health, handling, storage
and transportation of hazardous substances and other matters.
The costs of discovering, evaluating, planning, designing, developing, constructing, operating and closing specific mine
operations in compliance with such laws and regulations are significant. It is possible that the costs and delays associated with
compliance with such laws and regulations could become such that the owners or operators of mines or projects would not
proceed with the development of, or continue to operate, a mine. Moreover, it is possible that future regulatory developments,
such as increasingly strict environmental protection laws, regulations and enforcement policies thereunder and claims for
damages to property and persons resulting from mining operations could result in substantial costs and liabilities for the owners
or operators of mines or projects in the future such that they would not proceed with the development of, or continue to operate,
a mine.
Government approvals, licences and permits are currently, and will in the future be, required in connection with Mining
Operations. To the extent such approvals are required and not obtained, Mining Operations may be curtailed or prohibited
from proceeding with planned operations, which could have an impact on the business and financial condition of Nova. Failure
to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions thereunder,
including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed.
Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining companies, or more
stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on Mining Operations, resulting in increased capital
expenditures or production costs, reduced levels of production at producing properties or abandonment or delays in
development of properties.
Permitting and Access
The operation of a mine or project is subject to receipt and maintenance of permits from appropriate governmental authorities.
The owners and operators of the mines and projects in which Nova has an interest may be subject to delays in connection with
obtaining access to the property and all necessary renewals of permits for existing operations, additional permits for any
possible future changes to operations, or additional permits associated with new legislation. Prior to any development on any
of the properties, permits from appropriate governmental authorities may be required. There can be no assurance that the
owners or operators of the mines or projects will continue to hold all permits necessary to develop or continue operating at
any particular property.
Infrastructure
Natural resource exploration, development and mining activities are dependent on the availability of mining, drilling and
related equipment in the particular areas where such activities are conducted. A limited supply of such equipment or access
restrictions may affect the availability of such equipment to the owners and operators of mines or projects and may delay
exploration, development or extraction activities. Certain equipment may not be immediately available or may require long
lead time orders. The lack of availability on acceptable terms or the delay in the availability of any one or more of these items
could prevent or delay exploration, development or production at a mine or project. Mining, processing, development and
exploration activities depend, to one degree or another, on adequate infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and
water supply are important determinants which affect capital and operating costs. Unusual or infrequent weather phenomena,
sabotage, government or other interference in the maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect
operations at a mine or project.
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Dependence on Operator’s Employees
Production from the properties in which Nova holds an interest depends on the efforts of operators’ employees. There is
competition for persons with mining expertise. The ability of the owners and operators of such properties to hire and retain
geologists and persons with mining expertise is key to those operations. Further, relations with employees may be affected by
changes in the scheme of labour relations that may be introduced by the relevant governmental authorities in the jurisdictions
in which those operations are conducted. Changes in such legislation or otherwise in the relationships of the owners and
operators of such properties with their employees may result in strikes, lockouts or other work stoppages, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on such operations, results of operations and financial condition of Nova. If these factors cause
the owners and operators of such properties to decide to cease production at one or more of the properties, such decision could
have a material adverse effect on the business and financial condition of Nova.
Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates
Mineral reserve and or mineral resource estimates for a specific mine or project may not be correct. The figures for mineral
resources and mineral reserves in this Prospectus are estimates only and were obtained from public disclosure in respect of
the Dumont Deposit and NuevaUnión. There can be no assurance that estimated mineral reserves and mineral resources will
ever be recovered or recovered at the rates as estimated. Mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates are based on sampling
and geological interpretation, and, are uncertain because samples used may not be representative. Mineral reserve and mineral
resource estimates require revision (either to demonstrate an increase or decrease) based on production from the mine or
project. The fluctuations of commodity prices and production costs, as well as changes in recovery rates, may render certain
mineral reserves and mineral resources uneconomic and may result in a restatement of estimated reserves and/or mineral
resources.
Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability. Due to the uncertainty of inferred
mineral resources, there is no assurance that inferred mineral resources will be upgraded to proven and probable mineral
reserves as a result of continued exploration.
Depleted Mineral Reserve Replacement
Mines have a limited time of operation as a result of the proven and probable mineral reserves attributed to a specific mine. A
mining company operating a specific mine will be required to replace and expand mineral reserves depleted by a mine’s
production to maintain production levels over a long-term. It is possible to replace depleted mineral reserves by expanding
known ore bodies through exploration, locating new deposits or acquiring new mines or projects. Mineral exploration is highly
speculative in nature. It can take several years to develop a potential site of mineralization. There is no assurance that current
or future exploration programs conducted by mining companies will be successful. There is a risk that the depletion of mineral
reserves by mining companies that Nova has contracted with will not be replenished by discoveries or acquisitions which
could reduce the income Nova would have expected to receive from a particular Royalty.
Uninsured Risks
The mining industry is subject to significant risks that could result in damage to, or destruction of, mineral properties or
producing facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal
liability. Mining companies may or may not maintain insurance in adequate amounts, including insurance for workers’
compensation, theft, general liability, all risk property, automobile, directors and officers liability and fiduciary liability and
others. Such insurance, however, contains exclusions and limitations on coverage. Accordingly, a mining company’s
insurance policies may not provide coverage for all losses related to their business (and may not cover environmental liabilities
and losses). The occurrence of losses, liabilities or damage not covered by such insurance policies could have a material
adverse effect on the mining companies’ profitability, results of operations and financial condition.
Land Title
Although title to specific mines or projects has been or will be reviewed by or on behalf of Nova, no assurances can be given
that there are no title defects affecting the properties and mineral claims owned or used by specific mines or projects.
Companies may not have conducted surveys of the claims in which they hold direct or indirect interests; therefore, the precise
area and location of such claims may be in doubt. It is possible that a specific mine or project may be subject to prior
unregistered liens, agreements, transfers or claims, including native land claims, and title may be affected by, among other
things, undetected defects. In addition, mining companies may be unable to operate the specific mine or project as permitted
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or to enforce their rights with respect to that specific mine or project which may ultimately impair the ability of these owners
and operators to fulfill their obligations under their agreements with Nova.
International Interests
Certain operations that underlie Nova’s Royalties are conducted, or will be conducted, outside of Canada, and could be
exposed to political, economic or other risks or uncertainties. These types of risks or uncertainties may differ between countries
and can include but are not limited to, terrorism, hostage taking, military repression, crime, political instability, currency
controls, fluctuations in currency exchange rates, inflation rates, labour unrest, risk of war or civil unrest, expropriation and
nationalization, renegotiation or nullification of mining or mineral concessions, licenses, permits, authorizations and contracts,
illegal mining or mineral exploration, taxation changes, modifications, amendments or changes to mining and mineral laws,
regulations, policies, and changes to government regulations in respect of foreign investment and mining.
Changes, if any, in mining or investment policies or shifts in political attitude may adversely affect the operations or
profitability of the Mining Operations in these countries. Operations may be affected in varying degrees by government
regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, currency remittance,
income taxes, expropriation of property, foreign investment, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, land
claims of local people, water use, mine safety and the rewarding of contracts to local contractors or requiring foreign
contractors to employ citizens of, or purchase supplies from, a particular jurisdiction or the imposition of additional local or
foreign parties as joint venture partners with carried or other interests. Failure to comply strictly with applicable laws,
regulations and local practices relating to mineral right applications and tenure, could result in loss, reduction or expropriation,
cancellation or dispute of licenses or entitlements which could result in substantial costs, losses and liabilities in the future.
The occurrence of these various factors and uncertainties related to the economic and political risks for operations in foreign
jurisdictions cannot be accurately predicted and could have an adverse effect on the Mining Operations resulting in substantial
costs, losses and liabilities in the future.
Developing Economies
Certain operators are subject to risks normally associated with the conduct of business in developing economies. Risks may
include, among others, problems relating to power supply, labour disputes, delays or invalidation of governmental orders and
permits, corruption, uncertain political and economic environments, civil disturbances and crime, arbitrary changes in laws or
policies, foreign taxation and exchange controls, nationalization of assets, opposition to mining from environmental or other
non-governmental organizations or changes in the political attitude towards mining, empowerment of previously
disadvantaged people, local ownership requirements, limitations on foreign ownership, power supply issues, limitations on
repatriation of earnings, infrastructure limitations and increased financing costs. The above risks may limit, disrupt or
negatively impact the operator’s business activities.
Permitting, Construction and Development
Nova may hold Royalties over mines and projects that may be in various stages of permitting, construction, development and
expansion. Construction, development and expansion of such mines or projects is subject to numerous risks, including, but
not limited to: delays in obtaining equipment, materials, and services essential to completing construction of such projects in
a timely manner; delays or inability to obtain all required permits; changes in environmental or other government regulations;
currency exchange rates; labour shortages; and fluctuation in metal prices. There can be no assurance that the owners or
operators of such mines or projects will have the financial, technical and operational resources to complete the permitting,
construction, development and expansion of such mines or projects in accordance with current expectations or at all.
Indigenous Peoples
Various international and national laws, codes, resolutions, conventions, guidelines, and other materials relate to the rights of
indigenous peoples. Nova holds royalty interests on operations located in some areas presently or previously inhabited or used
by indigenous peoples. Many of these materials impose obligations on government to respect the rights of indigenous people.
Some mandate that government consult with indigenous people regarding government actions which may affect indigenous
people, including actions to approve or grant mining rights or permits. The obligations of government and private parties
under the various international and national materials pertaining to indigenous people continue to evolve and be defined. The
mining companies’ current or future operations are subject to a risk that one or more groups of indigenous people may oppose
continued operation, further development, or new development on those projects or operations on which Nova holds a royalty
interest. Such opposition may be directed through legal or administrative proceedings or protests, roadblocks or other forms
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of public expression against the Company or the owner/operators’ activities. Opposition by indigenous people to such
activities may require modification of or preclude operation or development of projects or may require the entering into of
agreements with indigenous people. Claims and protests of indigenous people may disrupt or delay activities of the
owners/operators of Nova’s Royalty assets.
Risks Related to the Securities of Nova
Securities of Nova are subject to Price Volatility
Capital and securities markets have a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of securities of many
companies have experienced wide fluctuations in price which have not necessarily been related to the operating performance,
underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. Factors unrelated to the financial performance or prospects of Nova
include macroeconomic developments in North America and globally, and market perceptions of the attractiveness of
particular industries or asset classes. There can be no assurance that continued fluctuations in mineral or commodity prices
will not occur. As a result of any of these factors, the market price of the Common Shares of Nova at any given time may not
accurately reflect the long-term value of Nova.
In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, shareholders have instituted class
action securities litigation against them. Such litigation, if instituted, could result in substantial cost and diversion of
management attention and resources, which could significantly harm profitability and the reputation of Nova.
Limitations on the enforcement of Civil Judgments
A substantial portion of the assets of Nova are located outside of Canada. As a result, it may not be possible for investors in
the securities of Nova to collect on judgments obtained in courts in Canada predicated on the civil liability provisions of
securities legislation of certain of the provinces and territories of Canada.
Dilution
Nova may issue additional securities in the future in connection with acquisitions, strategic transactions, financings or for
other purposes. To the extent additional securities are issued, Nova’s existing securityholders could be diluted and some or all
of Nova’s financial measures could be reduced on a per share basis. Additionally, Nova securities issued in connection with
a transaction may not be subject to resale restrictions and, as such, the market price of Nova’s securities may decline if certain
large holders of Nova securities or recipients of Nova securities in connection with an acquisition, sell all or a significant
portion of such securities or are perceived by the market as intending to sell such securities. In addition, such issuances of
securities may impede Nova’s ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities in the future.
Evolving Corporate Governance and Public Disclosure Regulations
Nova is subject to changing rules and regulations promulgated by a number of United States and Canadian governmental and
self-regulated organizations, including the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, the Canadian Securities
Administrators, the exchanges listing Nova’s securities, and the Financial Accounting Standards Board. These rules and
regulations continue to evolve in scope and complexity making compliance more difficult and uncertain. Nova’s efforts to
comply with these and other new and existing rules and regulations have resulted in, and are likely to continue to result in,
increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from revenue-generating
activities to compliance activities.
Future Sales or Issuances of Debt or Equity Securities
We may sell or issue additional debt or equity securities in offerings to finance our operations, exploration, development,
acquisitions or other projects. Our significant shareholders may also sell the Common Shares or other securities they hold or
may hold in the future.
We cannot predict the size of future sales and issuances of debt or equity securities or the effect, if any, that future sales and
issuances of debt or equity securities will have on the market price of the Common Shares.
Sales or issuances of a substantial number of equity securities, or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely
affect prevailing market prices for the Company’s Common Shares. With any additional sale or issuance of equity securities,
investors will suffer dilution of their voting power and may experience dilution in the Company’s earnings per share. Sales of
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our Common Shares by shareholders might also make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities at a time and price that
we deem appropriate.
Use of Proceeds
While detailed information regarding the use of proceeds from the sale of our securities is provided herein, the Company will
have broad discretion over the use of the net proceeds from the sale of its securities.
Because of the number and variability of factors that will determine the Company’s use of such proceeds, the Company’s
ultimate use might vary substantially from its planned use. You may not agree with how the Company allocates or spends the
proceeds from an offering of its securities. Nova may pursue acquisitions, collaborations or other opportunities that do not
result in an increase in the market value of its securities, including the market value of its Common Shares, and that may
increase its losses.
Liquidity
Shareholders of the Company may be unable to sell significant quantities of Common Shares into the public trading markets
without a significant reduction in the price of their Common Shares, or at all. There can be no assurance that there will be
sufficient liquidity of the Company’s Common Shares on the trading market, and that the Company will continue to meet the
listing requirements of the TSXV, or achieve listing on any other public listing exchange.
Market for Securities
There is currently no market through which our securities may be sold. As a consequence, purchasers may not be able to resell
the Common Shares that they hold. This may affect the pricing of our securities in the secondary market, the transparency and
availability of trading prices, the liquidity of these securities and the extent of issuer regulation. There can be no assurance
that an active trading market for our securities will develop or, if developed, that any such market will be sustained.
TSXV Listing
If the Company fails to list the Securities on the TSXV, the liquidity for its Securities would be significantly impaired, which
may substantially decrease the trading price of the Securities.
In addition, in the future, the Company’s Securities may fail to meet the continued listing requirements to be listed on the
TSXV. If the TSXV delists the Securities from trading on its exchange, the Company could face significant material adverse
consequences, including: a limited availability of market quotations for the Securities; a determination the Securities are a
“penny stock” which will require brokers trading in the Securities to more stringent rules and possibly resulting in a reduced
level of trading activity in the secondary market for the Securities; a limited amount of news and analysts coverage for the
Company; and a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS
To the Company’s knowledge, there are no legal proceedings or regulatory actions material to the Company to which it is a
party, or has been a party to, or of which any of its property is the subject matter of, or was the subject matter of, since the
beginning of the financial year ended December 31, 2019, and no such proceedings or actions are known by the Company to
be contemplated.
There have been no penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court or regulatory authority, and the Company
has not entered into any settlement agreements before any court relating to provincial or territorial securities legislation or
with any securities regulatory authority, since its incorporation.
INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this Prospectus, no director, executive officer or shareholder that beneficially owns, or
controls or directs, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the issued Common Shares, or any of their respective associates
or affiliates, has any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three years before the date of this
Prospectus which has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company or a subsidiary of the
Company.
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AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
The Company’s auditors are Davidson & Company LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants located at 1200-609 Granville
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V7Y 1G6.
The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares in Canada is Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal
offices in Vancouver, British Columbia.
MATERIAL CONTRACTS
There are no contracts of the Company that are material to the Company, other than as set forth below:


the Escrow Agreement dated August 14, 2020 among the Company, the Escrow Agent and each of Alex Tsukernik,
Parviz Farsangi, Robert Leckie and Denis Silva; and



the Nueva Royalty Ltd. shareholders agreement dated February 14, 2020 among the Company, Metalla Royalty &
Streaming Ltd. and Nueva Royalty Ltd.

Copies of the foregoing documents will be available following Listing on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
EXPERTS
Christian Rios, AIPG Certified Professional Geologist is a consultant to the Company and a “qualified person” under
NI 43-101 and has reviewed and approved the scientific and technical disclosure contained in the prospectus. As at the date
of this Prospectus, Mr. Rios beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, less than one percent of the outstanding Common Shares
of the Company.
Davidson & Company LLP, the auditor of the annual financial statements of Nova included in this Prospectus, has advised
the Company that it is independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Professional Conduct of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of British Columbia. As at the date of this Prospectus, the partners and associates of Davidson &
Company LLP, as a group, each beneficially own, directly or indirectly, less than one percent of the outstanding Common
Shares of the Company.
Certain legal matters in respect of this Prospectus have been passed upon on behalf of Nova by DLA Piper (Canada) LLP. As
of date of this Prospectus, the partners and associates of DLA Piper (Canada) LLP, as a group, hold 430,000 (representing
1.21% of the outstanding Common Shares), which shares are held by Denis Silva, a director of the Company.
STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION
Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an agreement
to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus
and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies for
rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price or damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a
misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission, revision of the price or
damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s
province. Purchasers should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of their province for the particulars
of these rights or consult with a legal adviser.
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SCHEDULE A
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A-1

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND
THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION ON July 20, 2018 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Directors of
Nova Royalty Corp. (formerly BatteryOne Royalty Corp.)

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Nova Royalty Corp. (formerly BatteryOne Royalty Corp.) (the
“Company”), which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the statements of
loss and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and period
from incorporation on July 20, 2018 to December 31, 2018, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and for
the period from incorporation on July 20, 2018 to December 31, 2018 in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:








Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP”
Vancouver, Canada
June 26, 2020

Chartered Professional Accountants

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Receivables (Note 3)
Prepaid expenditures
Total current assets
Non- current assets

$

Deferred acquisition costs (Note 4)
Royalty interest (Note 5)
Total non- current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQ UITY
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6 & 8)
Total liabilities
SHAREHOLDERS' EQ UITY
Share capital (Note 7)
Reserves
Subscriptions (receivable) received in advance (Note 7)

157,098 $
6,894
4,167
168,159

1,570,009
2,837
1,572,846

46,154
3,521,049
3,567,203
3,735,362 $

222,725
222,725
1,795,571

262,190 $
262,190

139,295
139,295

$

Deficit
Total shareholders' equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQ UITY

$

3,703,537
775,154
-

1,591,287
18,068
125,000

(1,005,519)
3,473,172
3,735,362 $

(78,079)
1,656,276
1,795,571

Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1)
Events subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2019 (Note 12)

These financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on April 9, 2020.

Approved by the Board of Directors
“Alex Tsukernik”

Director

“Parviz Farsangi”

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

For the period
from incorporation
Year ended on July 20, 2018 to
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
$
5,000 $
-

Revenue and other incom e
General and adm inistrative expenses
Consulting fees (Note 8)

280,132

18,000

Filing fees
Investor relations
Office and administrative expenses
Professional fees (Note 8)
Share-based payments (Note 7 and 8)

2,169
5,480
16,615
140,798
438,604

6,589
18,500
-

Travel and related expenses

47,060
930,858
(925,858)

36,745
79,834
(79,834)

Loss from operations
Interest expense

(2,371)

Foreign exchange gain
Loss and com prehensive loss
Basic and diluted loss per com m on share
W eighted average num ber of com m on shares outstanding

$

789
(927,440) $

1,755
(78,079)

$

(0.04) $

(0.01)

21,422,809

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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-

8,787,903

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

For the period
from incorporation
Year ended on July 20, 2018 to
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
CASH F LOW S F ROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the period
Items not affecting cash:
Share-based payments

$

(927,440) $
438,604

Net change in non-cash working capital items
Receivables
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Prepaid expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH F LOW S F ROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Deferred acquisition costs
Acquisitions of royalty interests
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH F LOW S F ROM F INANCING ACTIVITIES
Shares issued
Subscriptions received in advance
Share issue costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Change in cash
Cash, beginning of period
Cash, end of year

$

-

(4,057)
148,486
(4,167)
(348,574)

(2,837)
67,550
(13,366)

(1,952,244)
(1,952,244)

(100,000)
(100,000)

964,650
(76,743)
887,907

1,539,500
150,000
(6,125)
1,683,375

(1,412,911)
1,570,009
157,098 $

1,570,009
1,570,009

Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flows (Note 11)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(78,079)

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Balance as at incorporation on
Share issuances for cash
Units issued as deferred acquisition costs
Share issue costs
Subscriptions received in advance
Loss for the period
Bal ance as at De ce mbe r 31 , 201 8

Balance as at Decem ber 31, 2018
Shares issued for cash
Units issued - royalty agreement
Shares issued - royalty agreement
Share issuance costs
Share-based payments
Loss for the year
Balance as at Decem ber 31, 2019

Number
of shares
- $

Share
capital
- $

Subscriptions
received
in advance
- $

Equity
Reserves
- $

Deficit
- $

Total
shareholders'
equity
-

12,082,000
1,500,000
13,582,000 $

1,564,500
75,000
(48,213)
1,591,287 $

(25,000)
150,000
125,000 $

18,068
18,068 $

(78,079)
(78,079) $

1,539,500
93,068
(48,213)
150,000
(78,079)
1,656,276

Number
of shares

Share
capital

13,582,000 $
4,458,600
3,669,018
460,000
22,169,618 $

1,591,287 $
1,114,650
917,255
115,000
(34,655)
3,703,537 $

Subscriptions
received
in advance
125,000 $
(150,000)
25,000
- $

Equity
Reserves
18,068
343,482
413,604
775,154 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Deficit
(78,079) $
(927,440)
(1,005,519) $

Total
shareholders'
equity
1,656,276
964,650
1,260,737
115,000
(34,655)
438,604
(927,440)
3,473,172

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

1.

NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS
Nova Royalty Corp. (formerly BatteryOne Royalty Corp.) (the "Company") is a private royalty company focused on nickel and
copper deposits. The Company was incorporated by a Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of the
British Columbia Business Corporations Act on July 20, 2018, and changed its name to Nova Royalty Corp. on June 9, 2020.
The Company’s head office, registered, and records office address is 501 – 543 Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia,
Canada.
These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will be able to meet its
obligations and continue its operations for its next fiscal year. Realization values may be substantially different from the
carrying values shown and these financial statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to the carrying
values and classification of assets and liabilities should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. The Company’s
continuing operations and the ability of the Company to meet commitments are dependent upon the ability of the Company
to continue to raise additional equity or debt financing, or the realization of cash generating royalty interests. At the date of
these financial statements, the Company has not realized cash generating operations on any of its planned royalty interests.
The Company has not achieved profitable operations and has accumulated losses since inception. Management estimates it
has sufficient cash to continue operations for the next 12 months.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease
outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected
workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the
Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business
or ability to raise funds.
The Company is in the process of filing a preliminary prospectus (Note 12)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of Compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).
Basis of Measurement and Presentation
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for assets measured at fair value. In addition,
these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow information. These
financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (“CAD”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
Foreign currency translation
The functional currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates. Determination of functional currency may involve certain judgements to determine the primary
economic environment.
Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recorded at exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company that are denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange at the reporting date while non-monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at historical rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rates approximating those in effect on the
date of the transactions. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation are included in profit or loss.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)
Financial instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. All financial
instruments are initially recorded at fair value and designated as follows:
Cash and receivables are classified as financial assets at amortized cost and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are
classified as financial liabilities at amortized cost. Both financial assets at amortized cost and financial liabilities at amortized
cost are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
The company’s financial assets which are subject to credit risk include cash and receivables. Application of the expected credit
loss model at the date of adoption did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial assets because the Company
determined that the expected credit losses on its financial assets were nominal. There were no impairment losses recognized
on financial assets during the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
Financial liabilities are derecognized only when the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. On
derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount (measured at the date of derecognition) and the consideration
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability obtained) is recognized in profit or loss.
Loss per share
The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share (“EPS”) data for its common shares, calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares issued and
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the loss attributable to equity shareholders and the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares. The
calculation of diluted EPS assumes that the proceeds to be received on the exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants are
used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the period. Diluted EPS does not adjust the loss
attributable to common shareholders or the weighted average number of common shares outstanding when the effect is antidilutive.
Share-based payments
The Company may grant stock options to acquire common shares of the Company to directors, officers, employees, and
consultants. An individual is classified as an employee when the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes or provides
services similar to those performed by an employee.
Stock options granted to directors, officers, and employees are measured at their fair values determined on their grant date,
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and are recognized as an expense over the vesting periods of the options on a
graded basis. Options granted to consultants or other non-insiders are measured at the fair value of goods or services received
from these parties, or at their Black-Scholes fair values if the fair value of goods or services received cannot be measured. A
corresponding increase is recorded to equity reserves for share-based payment recorded.
When stock options are exercised, the cash proceeds along with the amount previously recorded as equity reserves are
recorded as share capital. When the right to receive options is forfeited before the options have vested, any expense previously
recorded is reversed.
Compensatory warrants for good or services provided are recorded at fair value based on the Black-Scholes option pricing
model.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)
Valuation of equity units issued in private placements
The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants issued as private
placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the more easily measurable component based on fair value
and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.
The fair value of the common shares issued in the private placements was determined to be the more easily measurable
component and were valued at their fair value, as determined by the closing quoted bid price on the day prior to the issuance
date. The balance, if any, was allocated to the attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded in
reserves.
Income taxes
Income tax expense consists of current and deferred tax expense. Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss.
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to previous periods.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deferred tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and losses carried forward.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when
the asset is realized, or the liability settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized
in profit or loss in the period that substantive enactment occurs.
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered,
the deferred tax asset is reduced.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Royalty interests
Royalty interests consist of acquired royalty interests pursuant to purchase agreements. Project evaluation costs that are not
related to a specific agreement are expensed in the period incurred.
On acquisition of a royalty interest, an allocation of its cost is attributed to the exploration potential of the interest and is
recorded as an asset on the acquisition date. The value of the exploration potential is accounted for in accordance with IFRS
6, Exploration and Evaluation of Mineral Resources and is not depleted until such time as the technical feasibility and
commercial viability have been established at which point the value of the asset is accounted for in accordance with IAS 16,
Property, Plant and Equipment.
Acquisition costs of production stage royalty interests are depleted using the units of production method over the life of the
related mineral property, which is calculated using estimated reserves. Acquisition costs of royalty interests on exploration
stage mineral properties, where there are no estimated reserves, are not amortized. At such time as the associated exploration
stage mineral interests are converted to estimated reserves, the cost basis is amortized over the remaining life of the mineral
property, using the estimated reserves. The carrying values of exploration stage mineral interests are evaluated for impairment
at such time as information becomes available indicating that production will not occur in the future.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)
Revenue and other income
Revenue is comprised of revenue earned in the period from royalty interests. In the current period all revenue related to
advance minimum royalty payments in accordance with the underlying agreement. In accordance with IFRS 15, the Company
will recognize revenue that depicts the transfer of the relevant commodity to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those commodities. For the Company’s royalty
interests, revenue recognition occurs when the relevant commodity is transferred to the end customer by the operator of the
related property. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable when management can
reliably estimate the amount, pursuant to the terms of the royalty agreement.
In some instances, the Company will not have access to sufficient information to make a reasonable estimate of consideration
to which it expects to be entitled and, accordingly, revenue recognition is deferred until management can make a reasonable
estimate. Differences between estimates and actual amounts are adjusted and recorded in the period that the actual amounts
are known. Under the terms of certain royalty agreements, revenue may be subject to adjustment upon final settlement of
estimated metal prices, weights, and assays. Provisionally-priced revenues are initially recognized based on forward prices.
Adjustments to revenue from metal prices are recorded at each reporting period and other adjustments are recorded on final
settlement and are offset against revenue when incurred.
Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions
are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates.
Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and judgments made by management in preparing the financial
statements are described below. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to
make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are
revised and in any future periods affected.
Critical accounting estimates are estimates and assumptions made by management that may result in a material adjustment
to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and include, but are not limited to, the following:
a) Deferred acquisition costs
Recorded costs for deferred acquisition assets are not intended to reflect present or future values of royalty interests. The
recorded costs are subject to measurement uncertainty and it is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge, that a
change in future conditions could require a material change in the recognized amount.
b) Fair value of share-based payments
The fair values of share-based payments are subject to the limitations of the Black-Scholes option pricing model that
incorporates market data and involves uncertainty in estimates used by management in the assumptions. Because the
Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility of share
prices and option life, changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate.
- 11 -

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)
c) Royalty interest
In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, royalty interests are evaluated on a periodic basis to determine
whether there are any indications of impairment. If any such indication exists, a formal estimate of recoverable amount is
performed and an impairment loss recognized to the extent that carrying amount exceeds recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of a royalty asset is measured at the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The
determination of fair value and value in use requires management to make estimates and assumptions about expected
production and sales volumes, the proportion of areas subject to royalty rights, commodity prices (considering current and
historical prices, price trends and related factors), and reserves. These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and
uncertainty; hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter these projections, which may impact the
recoverable amount of the assets. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying value of the assets may be further
impaired or the impairment charge reduced with the impact recorded in profit or loss.
Accounting standard adopted during the year
Adoption of IFRS 16 Leases
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company has adopted IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) using the modified retrospective application
method, where the 2018 comparatives are not restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 has been recorded
on January 1, 2019 for any differences identified, including adjustments to opening retained earnings balance.
IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to the lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance
leases and requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset (“ROU asset”) and a lease liability at the lease commencement for
all leases, except for short-term leases (lease terms of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets.
In transitioning to IFRS 16, the Company analyzed its contracts to identify whether they are or contain a lease arrangement.
As a result, the Company has determined that the requirements under the new standard do not impact these financial
statements.
New accounting policy for leases under IFRS 16
The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. The Company recognizes a ROU
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, at the commencement
of the lease, with the following exceptions: (a) the Company has elected not to recognize ROU assets and liabilities for leases
where the total lease term is less than or equal to 12 months, or (b) for leases of low value. The payments for such leases are
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The ROU asset is initially measured based on the present value of lease payments, lease payments made at or before the
commencement day, and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. The ROU asset is amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset. The
ROU asset is subject to testing for impairment if there is an indicator of impairment.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses its incremental
borrowing rate. Lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives, and any variable lease payments where
variability depends on an index or rate. When the lease contains an extension or purchase option that the Company considers
reasonably certain to be exercised, the cost of the option is included in the lease payments.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the ROU asset and
lease liability. The related payments are recognized as an expense in the period in which the triggering event occurs and are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

3.

RECEIVABLES
The Company’s receivables arise from goods and services tax receivable from government taxation authorities.

4.

DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS
Costs incurred or accrued prior to the execution of a royalty agreement are deferred. Deferred costs are reallocated to royalty
interests upon signing of a definitive agreement. If management determines not to proceed with a proposed acquisition, the
deferred costs are expensed at that time.
During the year and period ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, the changes in deferred acquisition costs is as
follows:

Balance, July 20, 2018

$

Fair value of common shares issued pursuant to an acquisition agreement

75,000

Fair value of warrants included in units issued pursuant to an acquisition agreement

18,068

Cash deposits

100,000

Professional fees paid or accrued

29,657

Balance, December 31, 2018

222,725

Professional fees paid or accrued

46,154

Re-allocated to royalty interests (Note 5)

(222,725)

Balance, December 31, 2019
5.

-

$

46,154

ROYALTY INTERESTS
Dumont Nickel – Cobalt Project
In January 2019 the Company completed the acquisition of a 2.0% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”) on future production over
metals from Karora Resources Inc. (“KRR”) Dumont Nickel-Cobalt (“Dumont”) project, in Quebec, Canada from two private
royalty holders by way of exercise of an option to purchase agreement. The acquisition price was $2,000,000 in cash of which
$100,000 was included in deferred acquisition costs as at December 31, 2018 and 3,669,018 units of the Company. The common
shares were valued at $0.25 being the subscription price for investors at the time of issuance. The compensatory warrants
were valued at $343,482 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate
of 1.93%, dividend yield of 0%, volatility of 100% and an expected life of 5 years. KRR can buyback 1% of the NSR for $1,000,000.
During the period ended December 31, 2018 the Company acquired the option to purchase the Dumont project by issuing
1,500,000 units of the Company at $0.05 per unit to a private individual. Each unit was comprised of one common share and
one compensatory share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the purchase of one common share of the Company at a
price of $0.10 for 3 years. The common shares were valued at $0.05 being the subscription price for investors at the time of
issuance. The compensatory warrants were valued at $18,068 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.29%, dividend yield of 0%, volatility of 100% and an expected life of 3 years.
The Dumont royalty is subject to advance royalty payments of $5,000 per year, first of which was received by the Company in
October 2019.
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5.

ROYALTY INTERESTS (Cont’d…)
Pacific Empire royalties
In March 2019, the Company acquired a portfolio of royalties from Pacific Empire Minerals Corp. (“PEMC”). The portfolio
includes a 1.0% NSR on all metals and minerals produced from PEMC’s Copper King, NUB East and NWT projects. As part of
the agreement, PEMC also agreed to grant to the Company a right to acquire a 1.0% NSR on all metals and minerals produced
from PEMC’s Pinnacle Reef project in the event the existing option agreement on this property is terminated or expires. PEMC
has also agreed to grant Nova a right of first refusal on any future royalty or streaming transactions on the projects. Pursuant
to the agreement for the royalties, the Company paid $10,000 in cash and issued 345,000 common shares valued at $86,250
or $0.25 per share, which were valued at the subscription price for investors at the time of issuance.
In August 2019 as a result of the termination of the existing option agreement on the Pinnacle Reef property, the Company
exercised its right to acquire the 1% percent NSR on the Pinnacle Reef property. In exchange the Company issued to PEMC
115,000 common shares valued at $28,750 or $0.25 per share, which was the subscription price for investors at the time of
issuance.
During the year and period ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, the changes in royalty interests is as follows:

Dumont Nickel
Balance, July 20 and December 31, 2018
Cash consideration

$

- $
1,870,000

- $
3,334

NUB East
- $
3,333

NWT

Total royalty
interests

Pinnacle Reef

- $
3,333

- $
-

1,880,000

Fair value of common shares issued pursuant to an
acquisition agreement

917,254

28,750

28,750

28,750

28,750

1,032,254

Fair value of warrants included in units issued pursuant
to an acquisition agreement

343,482

-

-

-

-

343,482

4,121

9,697

9,698

9,698

9,374

42,588

222,725

-

-

-

-

222,725

41,781 $

41,781 $

41,781 $

38,124 $

3,521,049

Professional fees
Re-allocation from deferred acquisition costs
Balance, December 31, 2019

6.

Copper King

$

3,357,582 $

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

$

Accrued
liabilitiesof loan payable (Note 7)
Current portion
$
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December 31

December 31

2019

2018

106,061 $

111,622

156,129-

27,673-

262,190 $

139,295

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

7.

SHARE CAPITAL
As at December 31, 2019, the authorized share capital of the Company was an unlimited number of common and preferred
shares without par value.
Issued share capital
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 the Company:









Issued 2,059,600 units of the Company at a price of $0.25 per unit for gross proceeds of $514,900 of which $150,000
was received during the year ended December 31, 2018. Each unit was comprised of one common share and onehalf common share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the
Company at an exercise price of $0.40 per share until January 10, 2021;
Completed the purchase of the Dumont Royalty through the issuance of 3,669,018 units of the Company valued at
$917,255 or $0.25 per share. Each unit was comprised of one common share and one-half common share purchase
warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise price of
$0.25 per share until January 16, 2024;
Issued 2,399,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.25 per unit for gross proceeds of $599,750. Each unit
comprised of one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder
to purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.40 per share until February 22, 2021;
Issued 345,000 common shares of the Company valued at $86,250 or $0.25 per share pursuant to PEMC pursuant
to the Copper King, NUB East and NWT royalty interests; and
Issued 115,000 common shares of the Company valued at $28,750 or $0.25 per share to PEMC pursuant to the
Pinnacle Reef royalty interest.

The Company paid or accrued $32,407 in legal and regulatory costs related to the private placements.
During the period from incorporation to December 31, 2018 the Company completed the following non-brokered private
placements:








3,900,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.01 per unit for gross proceeds of $39,000. Each unit comprised of
one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase
one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.10 per share until July 20, 2021;
2,600,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $130,000. Each unit comprised of
one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase
one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.10 per share until September 10, 2021; and
5,582,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.25 per unit for gross proceeds of $1,395,500. Each unit comprised
of one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to
purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.40 per share with 2,056,000 exercisable until
October 15, 2020 and 735,000 exercisable until December 21, 2020.
As part of the Dumont royalty purchase (Note 4), the Company issued 1,500,000 units of the Company to acquire
the option to purchase. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one-half compensatory common share
purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise
price of $0.10 per share until August 7, 2021.

The Company paid or accrued $48,213 in legal and regulatory costs related to the private placements.
Related to the private placements above, the Company has issued 500,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.05 per unit
for gross proceeds of $25,000 for which the proceeds have not yet been received and included in subscriptions received in
advance (receivable). During the year ended December 31, 2019, these shares were converted to compensation.
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7.

SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d…)
Stock Option Plan
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had a stock option plan that allows the Board of Directors to grant incentive stock
options to the Company’s officers, directors, related company employees and consultants to purchase up to that number of
common shares equal to 10% of its outstanding shares expected at the time of a public listing for a term of up to ten years.
The exercise price of each option is to be not less than the fair market value of the Company’s stock as determined by the
Plan administrator. The vesting terms are determined at the time of the option grant.
During the year and period ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, the change in stock options outstanding is as
follows:
Weigted Average
Exercise Price

Number of Options
Balance, December 31, 2018

- $

-

Granted

3,150,000

0.25

Balance, December 31, 2019

3,150,000 $

0.25

Number of options exercisable as at December 31, 2019

787,500

0.25

$

The following table summarizes the stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2019:

Date Granted
March 1, 2019

Number of
Options

Exercisable

3,150,000

787,500

Exercise Price
$

0.25

Expiry Date
March 1, 2024

Stock options vest 25% every 6 months starting September 1, 2019.

Share-based Payments
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded share-based payment expense of $438,604 (2018 - $Nil),
of which $413,604 represents the fair value of options vested during the year with the offsetting amounts credited to reserves,
and $25,000 (2018 - $Nil) represents the value of 500,000 common shares subscribed to at $0.05 converted to compensation.
The weighted average fair value of the stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 was $0.19 per stock
option (2018 - $Nil). The fair value of stock options granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with
weighted average assumptions as follows: risk-free interest rate of 1.93% (2018 - Nil), dividend yield of 0% (2018 – Nil), volatility
of 100% (2018 – Nil) forfeiture rate of 0% (2018 – Nil) and an expected life of 5 years (2018 – Nil).
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7.

SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d…)
Warrants
During the year and period ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, the Company issued warrants as follows:

Number
Balance, July 20, 2018

Weigted Average
Exercise Price

- $

Granted

-

6,791,000

0.22

Balance, December 31, 2018

6,791,000

0.22

Granted

4,063,810

0.33

Balance, December 31, 2019

10,854,810 $

0.26

The following table summarizes the warrants outstanding at December 31, 2019:

Date Granted

Number of
Warrants

July 20, 2018

1,950,000 $

Exercise Price

Expiry Date

0.10

July 20, 2021

750,000

0.10

August 7, 2021

1,300,000

0.10

September 10, 2023

October 15, 2018

500,000

0.40

October 15, 2020

October 25, 2018

1,556,000

0.40

October 25, 2020

735,000

0.40

December 21, 2020

January 10, 2019

1,029,800

0.40

January 10, 2021

January 16, 2019

1,834,510

0.25

January 16, 2024

165,000

0.40

February 22, 2021

1,034,500

0.40

March 1, 2021

August 7, 2018
September 10, 2018

December 21, 2018

February 22, 2019
March 1, 2019

10,854,810
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8.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
The Company entered into certain transactions with key management personnel, which the Company has defined as Officers
and Directors of the Company. The aggregate value of these transactions and outstanding balances are as follows:

2018

2019
Consulting fees
President and CEO

$

Director

133,562 $

-

-

18,000

128,171

-

Share - based compensation
Management and directors
$

261,733

$

18,000

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company paid or accrued $64,742 (2018 - $Nil) for professional services,
$32,407 (2018 - $37,652) for share issue costs, and $88,743 (2018 – 29,657) in Royalty interest and deferred acquisition costs
to Gowling WLG (Canada) LLP (“Gowling”) a law firm in which a director is a partner.
Also, during the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company paid or accrued $45,000 (2018 - $Nil) to Seabord Services Corp.
(“Seabord”). Seabord provides the following services: A Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), a Corporate Secretary, accounting and
administration staff, and office space to the Company. The CFO and Corporate Secretary are employees of Seabord and are
not paid directly by the Company.
As at December 31, 2019, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $1,847 (2018 - $26,538) to key management
personnel for fees and reimbursable expenses, $45,000 (2018 - $Nil) to Seabord, and $102,741 (2018 - $70,146) to Gowlings.
Included in subscriptions (receivable) received in advance (Note 7) was $Nil (2018 - $10,000) owed to the Company by key
personnel and converted to compensation during the year ended December 31, 2019.
9.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company classified its financial instruments as follows:

December 31

December 31

2019

2018

F inancial as s et s
Fair value through profit or loss:
Cash

$

157,098 $

1,570,009

$

262,190 $

139,295

F inancial liab ilit ies
Amortized cost:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
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9.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d…)
Fair value
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position are classified using a fair value hierarchy that
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
a)
b)
c)

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 - Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A financial instrument is
classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been considered in measuring fair value. The
carrying value of receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximated their fair value because of the shortterm nature of these instruments. Cash is measured at level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
Capital risk management
Capital is comprised of the Company’s shareholders’ equity and any debt that it may issue. The Company’s objectives when
managing capital are to maintain financial strength and to protect its ability to meet its ongoing liabilities, to continue as a
going concern, to maintain creditworthiness and to maximize returns for shareholders over the long term. Protecting the ability
to pay current and future liabilities includes maintaining capital above minimum regulatory levels, current financial strength
rating requirements and internally determined capital guidelines and calculated risk management levels. The Company is not
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a customer or third party to a financial instrument failing to meet its contractual
obligations. The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and receivables. The Company limits exposure to
credit risk by maintaining its cash with large financial institutions.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company
attempts to ensure there is sufficient capital to meet short-term business requirements, after taking into account cash flows
from operations and the Company’s holdings of cash as well as anticipated proceeds from future financings. The Company
believes that these sources are sufficient to cover the likely short-term cash requirements, but that further funding will be
required to meet long-term requirements. All the Company’s financial liabilities are settled within one year.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

10.

INCOME TAXES

For the period
from incorporation

Loss before income taxes

$

Year ended

on July 20, 2018 to

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

(927,440) $

Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates

(78,079)
27.00%

Expected income tax recovery at statutory income tax rate

(250,409)

(21,081)

Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets

132,554

23,207

Permanent differences and other

117,855

(2,126)

Total income tax expense

$

- $

-

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would result from applying Canadian income tax rates to earnings before
income taxes. These differences result from the following items:

Deferred inco me t ax as s et s

December 31

December 31

2019

2018

Deferred tax assets:
Non-capital losses

$

Share issue costs
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
N et d eferred inco me t ax as s et

$

155,762 $

23,207

16,542

10,414

(172,304)

(33,621)

- $

-

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets that have not been included in the statement of financial position
are as follows:

Share issue costs
Non-capital losses

$

December 31

December 31

Expiry

2019
61,265
576,898

2018
38,570
85,954

date range
2023
2040

Tax attributes are subject to review and potential adjustment by tax authorities.

- 20 -

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

11.

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS
Significant non-cash investing and financing transactions during the year ended December 31, 2019 included:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

Issuance of 4,129,018 of common shares valued at $1,032,255 pursuant to royalty interest acquisition agreements;
Issuance of 1,834,510 warrants valued at $343,482 pursuant to royalty interest acquisition agreements;
Re-allocation of $222,725 of deferred acquisition costs to royalty interests on execution of the related acquisition
agreement; and
Re-allocation of subscriptions received in advance of $150,000 related to the Issuance of 600,000 common shares at
$0.25 per share for which the proceeds were received in the prior year.
Included in deferred acquisition cost $46,154 of accrued cost.

Significant non-cash investing and financing transactions during the period ended December 31, 2018 included:
a)
b)
c)

12.

Accrued $42,088 of share issue costs paid subsequent to December 31, 2018;
Recorded subscriptions receivable of $25,000 related to the Issuance of 500,000 common shares at $0.05 per share
for which the proceeds are not yet received; and
Included in deferred acquisition costs $93,068 related to 1,500,000 common shares and 750,000 warrants issued as
part of the Dumont option purchase (Note 4) and $29,657 paid subsequent to December 31, 2018.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company:
a)

Acquired an existing 2.0% NSR on future copper production on the Cantarito claim of the La Fortuna deposit in the
Huasco Province in the Atacama Region of Chile. The acquisition was completed as a joint venture with Metalla Royalty
& Streaming Ltd. (TSXV:MTA) (NYSE American: MTA) (“Metalla”) with the companies having formed a special purpose
vehicle to hold the Cantarito royalty. The total acquisition value is US$8,000,000, with US$3,000,000 cash on closing (paid),
US$1,000,000 cash in 12 months after closing, and US$4,000,000 at commercial production from the Royalty, to be paid
equally in cash and common shares of the purchasers. All acquisition payments including shares issued as finders fees
will be split pro rata with Nova paying 75% and Metalla 25%. Pursuant to the acquisition, the Company issued 425,280
common shares valued at $212,640 as finders’ fees;

b)

Issued 11,693,172 special warrants of the Company for gross proceeds of $5,846,586. Each special warrant had a
subscription price of $0.50 and will be deemed exercised into one unit of the Company for no additional consideration,
on the earlier of (i) becoming a reporting issuer and obtaining a listing of the common shares of the Company on a
recognized stock exchange in Canada; (ii) a transaction that provides holders of the special warrants with comparable
liquidity; or (iii) the date that is four months and one day following the closing. Each unit will consist of one common share
and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant shall entitle the holder thereof to purchase one
common share at an exercise price of $1.00 at any time up to 24 months following the closing subject to an acceleration
clause. As part of the issuance of special warrants the Company issued 239,000 finders warrants, each finder warrant
being exercisable into one common share at an exercise price of $0.50 and expiring 24 months from the date of issuance;

c)

Issued 223,004 common shares to consultants of the Company in exchange for $87,930 in services and settlement of
amounts payable;

d)

Granted 2,700,000 RSU’s to directors, officers, employees, and consultants of the Company; and

- 21 -

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

12.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 (cont’d…)
e)

Filed a preliminary long form prospectus with the securities regulatory authorities in British Columbia and Alberta to
qualify the distribution of the securities underlying 11,693,172 units of the Company (“Qualified Unit”) issuable for no
additional consideration upon the exercise of 11,693,172 special warrants of the Company. Each Qualified Unit consists of
one common share in the capital of the Company and one half of one common share purchase warrant. Each whole
underlying warrant will entitle the holder thereof to acquire one common share at an exercise price of $1.00 per warrant
for a period of 24 months following the date of issuance, subject to acceleration in certain events.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)

MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
Dated: June 26, 2020
(All amounts expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

GENERAL
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) for Nova Royalty Corp. (Formerly BatteryOne
Royalty Corp.) (the “Company” or “Nova”) is intended to help the reader understand the significant factors
that have affected Nova’s performance and such factors that may affect its future performance. This
MD&A, which has been prepared as of June 26, 2020, should be read in conjunction with the Company’s
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the related notes contained therewith.
The Company reports its financial position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”). All dollar amounts included in the following MD&A are in Canadian dollars (“C$”) except
where noted.
Additional information relevant to the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com
and on the Company’s website at www.NovaRoyalty.com.
COMPANY OVERVIEW
Nova is a royalty company focused on nickel and copper deposits, which it sees as central to the continuing
development of electric vehicles and the broader electrification thesis. The Company looks to purchase
royalties from prospectors, mining companies, investment funds, and other entities that hold the assets
of interest.
Since incorporation in June 2018, the Company has acquired the following royalty assets:
Property

Asset Owner(s)

NuevaUnión
Dumont
Copper King
Nub East
NWT
Pinnacle

Newmont Corporation (50%)/Teck Resources (50%)
Chile
Waterton Global Resource Investments (72%)/Karora Resources (28%) Canada
Pacific Empire Minerals (100%)
Canada
Pacific Empire Minerals (100%)
Canada
Pacific Empire Minerals (100%)
Canada
Pacific Empire Minerals (100%)
Canada

Location

Stage

Metal

Terms

Development
Development
Exploration
Exploration
Exploration
Exploration

Copper - Gold
Nickel - Cobalt
Copper - Gold - Silver
Copper - Gold
Copper - Gold
Copper - Gold

2.0% NSR on Copper
2.0% NSR on All Metals
1% NSR on All Metals
1% NSR on All Metals
1% NSR on All Metals
1% NSR on All Metals

SUMMARY OF ROYALTY INTERESTS
NuevaUnion Project – Nova owns a 2.0% NSR on the NuevaUnion project, a 50-50 Joint Venture between
Teck Resources and Newmont Corporation. The NSR relates to copper revenues from the Cantarito Claim
within the La Fortuna deposit. Teck Resources guided for a release of a Bankable Feasibility Study for
NuevaUnion by the first quarter of 2020. As of December 31, 2019, Teck Resources reported Proven and
Probable Reserves at La Fortuna of 682 million tonnes at 0.51% copper and 0.47 g/t gold1.
Dumont Project – Nova owns a 2.0% NSR on the Dumont project in Quebec. The NSR is on a portion of
the deposit, representing approximately 21% of the Measured & Indicated Resources as of July 11, 2019.
Dumont is owned by a Joint Venture of Waterton Global Resource Investments (72%) and Karora
Resources (TSX: KRR.TO) (28%). In July 2019, Dumont published Proven and Probable Reserves of 1.028
billion tonnes grading 0.27% Nickel, Measured Resources of 372 million tonnes grading 0.28% Nickel and
Indicated Resources of 1.293 billion tonnes grading 0.26% Nickel2.

1
2

Source: Teck Annual Information Form dated February 26, 2020.
Source: Dumont Feasibility Study Technical Report NI 43-101 dated July 11, 2019.
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British Columbia Copper Belt – Nova owns 1.0% NSR interests on four early stage exploration properties
in the British Columbia copper belt, which it acquired from 100% project owner, Pacific Empire Minerals,
in March 2019. The properties include:
-

-

-

Copper King: The 4,178-hectare Copper King project is located 45 km south of the Kemess project
controlled by Centerra Gold (TSX: CG.TO). Historical drilling includes 64 meters at 0.17% Cu, 9.2
meters at 0.15% Cu, 4.6 meters at 0.40% Cu, and 10.7 meters at 0.15% Cu.
Nub East: The 1,258-hectare Nub East Property is an alkalic porphyry property in north-central
British Columbia, located 27 kilometers north of Kemess.
NWT: The 5,712-hectare NWT project is a copper-gold project located approximately 65
kilometers northwest of Centerra’s Mount Milligan project and 25 kilometers southeast of the
Stardust project owned by Sun Metals Corp.
Pinnacle Reef: The Pinnacle Reef project is located 3 kilometers southeast of the NWT project

KEY EVENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND SUBSEQUENTLY
REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES: During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded a net
loss of $927,440 (2018 - $78,079). The loss for 2019 was made up of a royalty income of $5,000 (2018 $Nil), general and administration expenditures of $930,858 (2018 - $79,834), of which $438,604 (2018 $Nil) related to share-based compensation, $280,132 (2018 - $18,000) related to consulting fees,
$140,798 (2018 - $18,500) related to Professional fees, and a loss of $1,582 (2018 – gain $1,755) in other
items.
DUMONT ROYALTY AGREEMENT: In January 2019 the Company completed the acquisition of a 2.0% net
smelter return (“NSR”) royalty on future production over metals from the Dumont Nickel-Cobalt project
(“Dumont”), in Quebec, Canada from two private royalty holders by way of exercise of an option to
purchase agreement. The acquisition price was $2,000,000 in cash,3,669,018 common shares of the
Company, and 1,834,510 warrants of the Company at a exercise price of $0.40 per share, which expire in
January 2024. 1% of the NSR can be bought back by the owner of the project for $1,000,000.
PACIFIC EMPIRE MINERALS CORP. ROYALTY AGREEMENT: In March 2019 the Company entered into a
royalty sale purchase agreement with Pacific Empire Minerals Corp. (“PEMC”) to obtain a 1.0% NSR
royalty on all metals and minerals produced under the Copper King, NUB East and NWT projects (the
“Projects”), in exchange the Company issued 345,000 common shares of the Company valued at $86,250
or $0.25 per share, and a cash payment of $10,000.
In August 2019, the Company entered into a royalty purchase and sale agreement with Pacific Empire
Minerals Corp (“PEMC”) to obtain a 1.0% NSR royalty on all metals and minerals produced under the
Pinnacle Reef project. In exchange the Company issued 115,000 common shares of the Company valued
at $28,750 or $0.25 per share.
NUEVAUNION ROYALTY AGREEMENT: In February 2020, the Company acquired an existing 2.0% NSR
royalty on future copper production on the Cantarito claim of the La Fortuna deposit in the Huasco
Province in the Atacama Region of Chile. The acquisition was completed as a joint venture with Metalla
Royalty & Streaming Ltd. (TSXV:MTA) (NYSE American: MTA) (“Metalla”) with the companies having
formed a special purpose vehicle to hold the Cantarito royalty. The total acquisition value is US$8 million,
with US$3 million cash on closing (paid), US$1 million cash in 12 months after closing, and US$4 million at
commercial production from the Royalty, to be paid equally in cash and common shares of the purchasers.
All acquisition payments will be split pro rata with Nova paying 75% and Metalla 25%.
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SPECIAL WARRANTS FINANCING: In February 2020, the Company issued 11,693,172 special warrants of
the Company for gross proceeds of $5,846,586. Each special warrant had a subscription price of $0.50 and
will be deemed exercised into one unit of the Company for no additional consideration, on the earlier of
(i) becoming a reporting issuer and obtaining a listing of the common shares of the Company on a
recognized stock exchange in Canada; (ii) a transaction that provides holders of the special warrants with
comparable liquidity; or (iii) the date that is four months and one day following the Closing. Each Unit
consists of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant shall
entitle the holder thereof to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $1.00 at any time up to
24 months following the closing subject to an acceleration clause.
PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS: Filed a preliminary long form prospectus with the securities regulatory
authorities in British Columbia and Alberta to qualify the distribution of the securities underlying
11,693,172 units of the Company (“Qualified Unit”) issuable for no additional consideration upon the
exercise of 11,693,172 special warrants of the Company. Each Qualified Unit consists of one common
share in the capital of the Company and one half of one common share purchase warrant. Each whole
Underlying Warrant will entitle the holder thereof to acquire one Common Share at an exercise price of
$1.00 per Warrant Share for a period of 24 months following the date of issuance, subject to adjustment
in certain events
FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The Company considers items included in shareholders’ equity as capital. The Company’s objective when
managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had a working capital deficit of $94,031 (December 31, 2018 –
surplus $1,433,551). Working capital decreased due to cash used in operating activities of $348,574
compared to $13,366, and cash used in investing activities of $1,952,244 compared to $100,000 for the
comparative year. Working capital decreases were offset from cash provided by financing activities of
$887,907 compared 1,683,375 in the comparative period, which was comprised of $964,650 (2018 $1,539,500) in proceeds from the issuance of shares, $NIL (2018 – 150,000) in subscription received in
advance offset with $76,743 (2018 - $6,125) in share issue costs.
The Company has granted 3,150,000 incentive stock options, of which 787,500 are exercisable as at
December 31, 2019 to management, directors, consultants, and an advisor of the Company pursuant to
the Company’s stock option plan and may receive option payments in cash related to property
agreements. Subsequent to December 31, 2019 the Company completed a private placement raising an
aggregate of $5.85 million. See "Risks and Uncertainties" and “Forward looking statements” in this MD&A
for risks related to the Company's expectations and ability to obtain sources of funding. Nova has no fixed
cash payment obligations on any of its projects. There has been no change in approach to managing capital
in the past twelve months and management believes it will have sufficient working capital to undertake
its current business and the budgets associated with those plans for the next twelve months.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements as at December 31, 2019.
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had cash of $157,098. Management of cash balances is conducted
in-house based on internal investment guidelines. Cash is deposited with major Canadian financial
institutions. Cash required for immediate operations is held in a chequing account and excess funds may
be invested in accordance with the Company’s capital resource objectives.
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Cash Used in Operating Activities
Cash used in operations was $348,574 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 (2018 - $13,366)
and represents expenditures primarily on general and administrative expenses for both periods. The main
reason for the increase in cash used in operations was the year ended December 31, 2019 being the first
full fiscal year since incorporation, as well as increased due diligence work on prospective royalty interests.
Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was $1,952,244
compared to cash used in investing activities of $100,000 for the comparative year. The significant
increase in cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 is directly related
to the timing and acquisition of royalty interests.
Cash Generated by Financing Activities
Cash generated by financing activities for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was $887,907
(2018 – $1,683,375) and consisted of $964,650 (2018 - $1,539,500) in proceeds from the sale of common
shares less $76,743 (2018 - $6,125) from share issuance costs.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Selected Annual Information
The following table summarizes selected financial data from the Company’s audited financial statements
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and should be read in conjunction with such statements
and related notes, contained in this MD&A:
December 31,
2019

As at
Financial position
Working capital
Current assets
Royalty Interest
Total assets
Current liabilities
Share capital
Reserves
Deficit
Number of shares outstanding

$

5

(94,031) $
168,159
3,521,049
3,735,362
262,190
3,703,537
775,154
(1,005,519)
22,169,618

December 31,
2018

1,433,551
1,572,846
1,795,571
139,295
1,591,287
18,068
(78,079)
13,582,000

December 31,
2019

Year ended
Financial results
Loss from operations
Loss and comprehensive loss for the year
Basic and diluted loss per common share

$

(925,858) $
(927,440)
(0.04)

December 31,
2018

(79,834)
(78,079)
(0.01)

The Company’s net loss varies mainly due to the level of operations activities and due diligence
undertaken on new prospects, as well as the timing of share-based compensation.
Year ended December 31, 2019
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company incurred a net loss of $927,440 (2018 - $78,079).
The loss for the year then ended was comprised of a royalty income of $5,000 related to an annual AMR
of $5,000 on the Dumont NSR, $930,858 (2018 - $79,834) of general and administration expenditures, and
a loss from other items of $1,582 (2018 – gain of $1,755). Some items to note from year to year include
the following:
Professional fees consist of audit and legal fees and are dependent on activity of the Company with most
legal fees related to royalty agreement due diligence. During the year ended December 31, 2019 the
Company incurred $140,798 in professional fees compared to $18,500 in the comparative year ended
December 31, 2018. Costs incurred for due diligence work is expensed should the company not proceed
with the acquisition. As such, it is expected professional fees would increase with the increase in due
diligence work.
Included in general and administrative expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $280,132
(2018 - $18,000) in compensation to consultants. The increase in the current period relates to the year
ended December 31, 2019 being the first fiscal year of operations since incorporation.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded share-based compensation expense
of $438,604 (2018 - $Nil), which represents the fair value of options vested during the year with the
offsetting amount credited to reserves. In the comparative year ended December 31, 2018, the Company
did not grant stock options.
It should be noted that many of our personnel and professional expenditures companywide are
denominated in United States dollars (“USD”) and an increase or decrease in the value of the USD
compared to the Canadian dollar, which is our reporting currency, will increase or decrease expenditures.
Selected Quarterly Information
Quarterly information for periods prior to December 31, 2019 have not been presented as there is no
requirement to present financial information for interim periods prior to the Company becoming a
reporting issuer if the Company has not previously prepared financial statements for those periods.
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OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.
ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Accounting standards adopted during the year
Please refer to the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 on
SEDAR at www.Sedar.com.
Accounting pronouncements not yet effective
Please refer to the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 on
SEDAR at www.Sedar.com.
RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Please refer to the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 on
SEDAR at www.Sedar.com.
Critical Accounting Judgments and Significant Estimates and Uncertainties
Please refer to the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 on
SEDAR at www.Sedar.com.
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The Company entered into certain transactions with key management personnel, which the Company has
defined as Officers and Directors of the Company. The aggregate value of these transactions and
outstanding balances are as follows:
December 31,
2019

Year ended
Consulting fees
Alex Tsukernik, President and CEO
Parviz Farsangi, Director

$

Share - based compensation
Alex Tsukernik
Parviz Farsangi
Denis Silva
Robert Leckie
$

December 31,
2018

133,562 $
-

18,000

75,651
19,695
13,130
19,695
261,733 $

18,000

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company paid or accrued $64,742 (2018 - $Nil) for
professional services, $32,407 (2018 - $37,652) for share issue costs, and $88,743 (2018 – 29,657) in Royalty
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interest and deferred acquisition costs to Gowling WLG (Canada) LLP (“Gowling”) a law firm in which a
director is a partner.
Also, during the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company paid or accrued $45,000 (2018 - $Nil) to
Seabord Services Corp. (“Seabord”). Seabord provides the following services: A Chief Financial Officer
(“CFO”), a Corporate Secretary, accounting and administration staff, and office space to the Company. The
CFO and Corporate Secretary are employees of Seabord and are not paid directly by the Company.
As at December 31, 2019, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $1,847 (2018 -$26,538) to
key management personnel for fees and reimbursable expenses, $45,000 (2018 - $Nil) to Seabord, and
$102,741 (2018 - $70,146) to Gowlings.
Included in subscriptions (receivable) received in advance (Note 7) was $Nil (2018 - $10,000) owed to the
Company by key personnel and converted to compensation during the year ended December 31, 2019.
There were no changes to the Company’s board of directors or management during, or subsequent to the
year ended December 31, 2019.
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Company has identified the following risks and uncertainties which are consistent with those risks
and uncertainties identified in the Company’s prospectus: Changes in Commodity Prices that underlie
Royalties, the Impact of the current COVID-19 pandemic may significantly impact Nova, Nova Has No
Control Over Mining Operations, Variations in Foreign Exchange Rates, Delay Receiving or Failure to
Receive Payments, Third Party Reporting, Disclosure Regarding Operations, Strategy for Acquisitions,
Nova Cash Flow Risk, Rights of other Interest Holders, Defects in Royalties, Change in Material Assets,
Dependence on Key Personnel, Negative Cash Flow from Operations, Dividends, Competition, Project
Operators may not Respect Contractual Obligations, Unknown Defects, Enforceability, Conflicts of
Interest, Global Financial Conditions, Public Health Crisis, Natural Disasters, Terrorist Acts, Civil Unrest,
Pandemics and Other Disruptions and Dislocations, Future Financing; Future Securities Issuances,
Litigation affecting Properties, Changes in Tax Laws Impacting Nova, Credit and Liquidity Risk, Information
Systems and Cyber Security, Activist Shareholders, Reputation Damage, Expansion of Business Model, and
Risks Related to Mines and Mining Operations including Risk Factors applicable to Owners and Operators
of Properties in which Nova holds an Interest, Exploration, Development and Operating Risks, Climate
Change, Commodity Prices, Environmental Risks, Government Regulation, Permits and Authorizations,
Permitting and Access, Infrastructure, Dependence on Operator’s Employees, Mineral Resource and
Mineral Reserve Estimates, Depleted Mineral Reserve Replacement, Uninsured Risks, Land Title,
International Interests, Developing Economies, Permitting, Construction and Development, and
Indigenous Peoples.
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares and preferred
shares without par value. As at the date of this MD&A, the Company has 23,717,902 common shares
issued and outstanding. There are also 3,150,000 stock options with expiry date on March 1, 2024, and
11,093,810 warrants outstanding with expiry dates ranging from October 15, 2020 to January 16, 2024.
As of the date of this MD&A, the Company has also issued 11,693,172 special warrants of the Company.
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Each special warrant will be deemed exercised into one unit of the Company for no additional
consideration, on the earlier of (i) becoming a reporting issuer and obtaining a listing of the common
shares of the Company on a recognized stock exchange in Canada; (ii) a transaction that provides holders
of the special warrants with comparable liquidity; or (iii) the date that is four months and one day
following the closing. Each unit will consist of one common share and one-half of one common share
purchase warrant. Each warrant shall entitle the holder thereof to purchase one common share any time
up to 24 months following the closing subject to an acceleration clause.
QUALIFIED PERSON
Technical information contained in this MD&A has been reviewed and approved by Christian Rios, AIPG
Certified Professional Geologist, Advisor to Nova and a Qualified Person as defined in National Instrument
43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This MD&A contains “forward-looking information” and “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation. The forward-looking statements herein are made
as of the date of this MD&A only and the Company does not assume any obligation to update or revise
them to reflect new information, estimates or opinions, future events or results or otherwise, except as
required by applicable law.
Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”,
“expects”, “is expected”, “budgets”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “predicts”, “projects”,
“intends”, “targets”, “aims”, “anticipates” or “believes” or variations (including negative variations) of
such words and phrases or may be identified by statements to the effect that certain actions “may”,
“could”, “should”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. Forward-looking information
in this MD&A includes, but is not limited to, statements with respect to future events or future
performance of Nova, disclosure regarding any payments to be paid to Nova by property owners or
operators of mining projects pursuant to net smelter returns and other royalty agreements of Nova,
management’s expectations regarding Nova’s growth, results of operations, estimated future revenues,
carrying value of assets, future dividends, and requirements for additional capital, production estimates,
production costs and revenue, future demand for and prices of commodities, expected mining sequences,
business prospects and opportunities, other statements regarding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
and measures taken to reduce the spread of COVID-19 on the Company’s operations and overall business,
statements regarding the temporary duration of the COVID-19 pandemic. Such forward-looking
statements reflect management’s current beliefs and are based on information currently available to
management.
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which
may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different
from any future results, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements. A number of factors could cause actual events or results to differ materially from any forwardlooking statements, including, without limitation: fluctuations in the prices of the primary commodities
that drive royalty agreements; fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and any other currency in which
revenue may be generated, relative to the Canadian dollar; changes in national and local government
legislation, including permitting and licensing regimes and taxation policies and the enforcement thereof;
regulatory, political or economic developments in any of the countries where properties in which the
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Company holds a royalty interest are located or through which they are held, measures taken by the
Company, governments or partner operators in response to the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise that,
individually or in the aggregate, materially affect the Company’s ability to operate its business, risks
related to the operators of the properties in which the Company holds a royalty interest, including changes
in the ownership and control of such operators; influence of macroeconomic developments; business
opportunities that become available to, or are pursued by the Company; reduced access to debt and
equity capital; litigation; title, permit or license disputes related to interests on any of the properties in
which the Company holds a royalty interest; whether or not the Company is determined to have “passive
foreign investment company” (“PFIC”) status as defined in Section 1297 of the United States Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; the ability to maintain adequate controls as required by law;
potential changes in Canadian tax treatment of offshore revenues (if any); excessive cost escalation as
well as development, permitting, infrastructure, operating or technical difficulties on any of the properties
in which the Company holds a royalty interest; the possibility that actual mineral content may differ from
the reserves and resources contained in technical reports; rate and timing of production differences from
resource estimates, other technical reports and mine plans; risks and hazards associated with the business
of development and mining on any of the properties in which the Company holds a royalty interest,
including, but not limited to unusual or unexpected geological and metallurgical conditions, slope failures
or cave-ins, flooding and other natural disasters, terrorism, civil unrest or an outbreak of contagious
diseases including COVID-19; the integration of acquired assets; as well as other factors identified and as
described in more detail under the heading “Risk Factors” in this MD&A.
The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are based on reasonable assumptions that have
been made by management as at the date of such information and is subject to unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual actions, events or results to be materially
different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking information, including, without
limitation: the impact of general business and economic conditions; the ongoing operation of the
properties in which the Company holds a royalty interest by the owners or operators of such properties
in a manner consistent with past practice; the accuracy of public statements and disclosures made by the
owners or operators of such underlying properties; no material adverse change in the market price of the
commodities that underlie the asset portfolio; the Company’s ongoing income and assets relating to
determination of its PFIC status; no material changes to existing tax treatment; no adverse development
in respect of any significant property in which the Company holds a royalty interest; the accuracy of
publicly disclosed expectations for the development of underlying properties that are not yet in
production; the world-wide economic and social impact of COVID-19 is managed and the duration and
extent of the coronavirus pandemic is minimized or not long-term; disruptions related to the COVID-19
pandemic or other health and safety issues, or the responses of governments, communities, partner
operators, the Company and others to such pandemic or other issues; integration of acquired assets;
actual results of mining and current exploration activities; conclusions of economic evaluations and
changes in project parameters as plans continue to be refined; problems inherent to the marketability of
precious metals; stock market volatility; competition; and the absence of any other factors that could
cause actions, events or results to differ from those anticipated, estimated or intended.
Although Nova has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or
results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking information, there may be other
factors that cause actions, events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be
no assurance that such information will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could
differ materially from those anticipated in such information. Investors are cautioned that forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance. The Company cannot assure investors that actual
10

results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. Accordingly, investors should not place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements or information.
This MD&A contains future-orientated information and financial outlook information (collectively, “FOFI”)
about the Company’s revenues from royalty interests, other projects which are subject to the same
assumptions, risk factors, limitations and qualifications set forth in the above paragraphs. FOFI contained
in this MD&A was made as of the date of this MD&A and was provided for the purpose of providing further
information about the Company’s anticipated business operations. Nova disclaims any intention or
obligation to update or revise any FOFI contained in this MD&A, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, unless required pursuant to applicable law. FOFI contained in this MD&A
should not be used for the purposes other than for which it is disclosed herein.
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INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)

CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

March 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash

$

Receivables (Note 3)
Prepaid expenditures
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Deferred acquisition costs (Note 4)
Royalty interest (Note 5)
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQ UITY
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6 & 8)
Total liabilities
SHAREHOLDERS' EQ UITY
Share capital (Note 7)
Reserves
Deficit

$

Total shareholders' equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQ UITY

$

2,814,759 $

157,098

86,753
4,247
2,905,759

6,894
4,167
168,159

7,856,796
7,856,796
10,762,555 $

46,154
3,521,049
3,567,203
3,735,362

1,492,317 $
1,492,317

262,190
262,190

4,366,177
6,449,833
(1,545,772)

3,703,537
775,154
(1,005,519)

9,270,238
10,762,555 $

3,473,172
3,735,362

Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1)
Events after the reporting date (Note 11)

These condensed interim financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on June 24, 2020.

Approved by the Board of Directors
“Alex Tsukernik”

Director

“Parviz Farsangi”

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020
March 31, 2019
General and adm inistrative expenses
Consulting fees (Note 8)

74,917

13,291

2,500
2,240

-

Office and administrative expenses
Professional fees (Note 8)
Share-based payments (Note 7 and 8)

9,326
53,793
517,325

1,274
1,819
75,220

Travel and related expenses

7,390
667,491

12,494
104,098

Loss from operations

(667,491)

(104,098)

Foreign exchange gain

127,238

1,144

Filing fees
Investor relations

Loss and com prehensive loss for the period

$

(540,253) $

(102,954)

Basic and diluted loss per com m on share

$

(0.02) $

(0.01)

W eighted average num ber of com m on shares outstanding

23,231,557

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements.
-3-

19,299,337

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

March 31, 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the period

$

(540,253) $

(102,954)

Items not affecting operating activities:
Unrealized foreign exchange effect on cash

(142,536)

-

517,325

75,220

Items not affecting cash:
Share-based payments
Net change in non-cash working capital items
Receivables

(53,279)

(1,900)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

167,403

(113,512)

Prepaid expenses

(80)

-

(51,420)

(143,146)

Acquisitions of royalty interests

(3,040,809)

(1,879,999)

Net cash used in investing activities

(3,040,809)

(1,879,999)

Net used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Shares issued
Special warrants issued for cash
Special warrant and share issue costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Change in cash
Cash, beginning of period
Cash, end of period

$

-

964,650

5,846,586

-

(239,232)

(1,070)

5,607,354

963,580

142,536

-

2,657,661

(1,059,565)

157,098
2,814,759 $
-

Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flows (Note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements.
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1,570,009
510,444
-

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
Subscriptions
received
in advance

Total
shareholders'
equity

Number
of shares

Share
capital

13,582,000 $
4,458,600
3,669,018
345,000
-

1,591,287 $
1,114,650
917,255
86,250
(1,070)

125,000 $
(150,000)
-

18,068 $
343,482
-

(78,079) $
-

1,656,276
964,650
1,260,737
86,250
(1,070)

22,054,618 $

3,708,372 $

25,000
- $

50,220
411,770 $

(102,954)
(181,033) $

75,220
(102,954)
3,939,109

Number
of shares

Share
capital

Balance as at Decem ber 31, 2019

22,169,618 $

3,703,537 $

Special warrants issued for cash (Note 7)
Shares issued - royalty agreement
Special warrant issue costs - cash
Share-based payments
Loss for the period
Balance as at March 31, 2020

425,280
900,000
23,494,898 $

212,640
450,000
4,366,177 $

Bal ance as at De ce mbe r 31 , 201 8

Share issuances for cash
Units issued - royalty agreement
Shares issued - royalty agreement
Share issuance costs
Share-based payments
Loss for the period
Bal ance as at March 31 , 201 9

Equity
Reserves

Deficit

Subscriptions
received
in advance
- $
- $

Total
Equity
Reserves

Deficit

775,154 $

(1,005,519) $

3,473,172

5,846,586
(239,232)
67,325
6,449,833 $

(540,253)
(1,545,772) $

5,846,586
212,640
(239,232)
517,325
(540,253)
9,270,238

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements.
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shareholders'
equity

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS
Nova Royalty Corp. (formerly BatteryOne Royalty Corp.) (the "Company") is a private royalty company focused on nickel and copper
deposits. The Company was incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the British Columbia Business Corporations Act on July 20, 2018
and changed its name to Nova Royalty Corp. on June 9, 2020. The Company’s head office, registered, and records office address is 501
– 543 Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.
These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will be able to meet its obligations
and continue its operations for its next fiscal year. Realization values may be substantially different from the carrying values shown and
these financial statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to the carrying values and classification of assets
and liabilities should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. The Company’s continuing operations and the ability of
the Company to meet commitments are dependent upon the ability of the Company to continue to raise additional equity or debt
financing, or the realization of cash generating royalty interests. At the date of these financial statements, the Company has not realized
cash generating operations on any of its planned royalty interests. The Company has not achieved profitable operations and has
accumulated losses since inception. Management estimates it has sufficient cash to continue operations for the next 12 months.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak,
which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies,
and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration
or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds.
The Company is in the process of filing a preliminary prospectus (Note 12)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation and measurement
These unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These unaudited condensed interim consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS
34”). Accordingly, certain disclosures included in the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS have been condensed
or omitted. These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s
audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019.
The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these unaudited condensed interim financial statements are consistent with those
applied and disclosed in the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, except for those noted
below. The Company’s interim results are not necessarily indicative of its results for a full year.
New accounting policy for interests in Joint Arrangements
A joint arrangement can take the form of a joint venture or joint operation. All joint arrangements involve a contractual arrangement
that establishes joint control, which exists only when decisions about the activities that significantly affect the returns of the investee
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint operation is a joint arrangement in which we have rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement in which we have rights to only the
net assets of the arrangement.
Joint operations are accounted for by recognizing our share of the assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and cash flows of the joint
operation in our consolidated financial statements. The Company has no joint arrangements accounted for as a joint venture.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

3. RECEIVABLES
The Company’s receivables arise from goods and services tax receivable from government taxation authorities and amounts due from
a joint operating partner.
March 31

December 31

2020
GST and HST recoverable

$

Due from joint operating partner

12,001

2019
$

6,894

86,753 $

6,894

74,752
$

-

4. DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS
Costs incurred or accrued prior to the execution of a royalty agreement are deferred. Deferred costs are reallocated to royalty interests
upon signing of a definitive agreement. If management determines not to proceed with a proposed acquisition, the deferred costs are
expensed at that time.
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the changes in deferred acquisition costs is as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2019

$

Re-allocated to royalty interests (Note 5)

46,154
(46,154)

Balance, March 31, 2020

$

-

5. ROYALTY INTERESTS
NuevaUnion
In February 2020, the Company acquired an existing 2.0% net smelter returns royalty (“NSR”) on future copper production on the
Cantarito claim of the La Fortuna deposit in the Huasco Province in the Atacama Region of Chile. The acquisition was completed as a
joint operation with Metalla Royalty & Streaming Ltd. (TSXV:MTA) (NYSE American: MTA) (“Metalla”) with the companies having formed
a special purpose vehicle to hold the Cantarito royalty. The total acquisition value was US$8,000,000, with $3,996,030 (US$3,000,000)
cash paid on closing, $1,332,000 (US$1,000,000) to be paid 12 months after closing, and US$4,000,000 at commercial production, to be
paid equally in cash and common shares of the purchasers. All acquisition payments will be split pro rata with the Company paying 75%
and Metalla 25%. As part of the acquisition the Company paid a 2% finder’s fee through the issuance of 425,280 common shares valued
at $212,640.
Dumont Nickel - Cobalt Project
In January 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of a 2.0% “NSR” on future production over metals from Karora Resources Inc.
(“KRR”) Dumont Nickel-Cobalt (“Dumont”) project, in Quebec, Canada from two private royalty holders by way of exercise of an option
to purchase agreement. The acquisition price was $2,000,000 in cash of which $100,000 was included in deferred acquisition costs as at
December 31, 2018 and 3,669,018 units of the Company. The compensatory warrants were valued at $343,482 using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.93%, dividend yield of 0%, volatility of 100% and an
expected life of 5 years. KRR can buyback 1% of the NSR for $1,000,000. The Dumont royalty is subject to advance royalty payments of
$5,000 per year, first of which was received by the Company in October 2019.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

5. ROYALTY INTERESTS (Continued)
Pacific Empire royalties
In March 2019, the Company acquired a portfolio of royalties from Pacific Empire Minerals Corp. (“PEMC”). The portfolio includes a 1.0%
NSR on all metals and minerals produced from PEMC’s Copper King, NUB East and NWT projects. As part of the agreement, PEMC also
agreed to grant to the Company a right to acquire a 1.0% NSR on all metals and minerals produced from PEMC’s Pinnacle Reef project
in the event the existing option agreement on this property is terminated or expires. PEMC has also agreed to grant the Company a
right of first refusal on any future royalty or streaming transactions on the projects. Pursuant to the agreement for the royalties, the
Company paid $10,000 in cash and issued 345,000 common shares valued at $86,250.
In August 2019 as a result of the termination of the existing option agreement on the Pinnacle Reef property, the Company exercised
its right to acquire the 1% percent NSR on the Pinnacle Reef property. In exchange the Company issued to PEMC 115,000 common
shares valued at $28,750.
During the three-month period ended March 31, 2020 the changes in royalty interests is as follows:
Dumont
Nickel Copper King
Balance, December 31, 2019

$ 3,357,582 $

NUB East

NWT Pinnacle Reef Nueva Union

41,781 $

41,781 $

41,781 $

38,124

$

-

Total royalty
interests
$ 3,521,049

Cash consideration

-

-

-

-

-

2,992,638

2,992,638

Accrual for staged acquisition payments

-

-

-

-

-

1,062,724

1,062,724

Shares issued as finders fees

-

-

-

-

-

186,060

186,060

Professional fees and other expenses

-

-

-

-

-

48,171

48,171

Re-allocation from deferred acquisition
costs

-

-

-

-

-

46,154

46,154

41,781 $

41,781 $

41,781 $

Balance, March 31, 2020

$ 3,357,582 $

38,124

$ 4,335,747 $ 7,856,796

6. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

$

Accrued liabilities
Payable on NuevaUnion Acquistion (Note 5)

March 31

December 31

2020

2019

328,123 $

106,061

101,470

156,129

1,062,724
$
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1,492,317 $

262,190

NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

7. SHARE CAPITAL
As at March 31, 2020, the authorized share capital of the Company was an unlimited number of common and preferred shares without
par value.
Issued share capital
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company:


Issued 11,693,172 special warrants of the Company for gross proceeds of $5,846,586. Each special warrant had a subscription
price of $0.50 and will be deemed exercised into one unit of the Company for no additional consideration, on the earlier of (i)
becoming a reporting issuer and obtaining a listing of the common shares of the Company on a recognized stock exchange
in Canada; (ii) a transaction that provides holders of the special warrants with comparable liquidity; or (iii) the date that is four
months and one day following the closing. Each unit will consist of one common share and one-half of one common share
purchase warrant. Each warrant shall entitle the holder thereof to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $1.00 at
any time up to 24 months following the closing subject to an acceleration clause.
As part of the issuance of special warrants the Company incurred $302,298 in share issue costs as follows:
o
o




Paid or accrued $239,232 in cash; and
Issued 239,000 broker warrants valued at $63,066. Each broker warrant being exercisable into one common share
at an exercise price of $0.50 and expiring 24 months from the date of issuance. The fair value of brokers warrants
was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with weighted average assumptions as follows: risk-free
interest rate of 1.52%, dividend yield of 0%, volatility of 100%, forfeiture rate of 0%, and an expected life of 2 years.

Issued 425,280 common shares valued at $212,640 or $0.50 per share as finders’ fees for the Nueva Union royalty acquisition
(Note 5); and
Issued 900,000 common shares valued at $450,000 pursuant to the vesting of Restricted Share Units (“RSU”).

During the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company:








Issued 2,059,600 units of the Company at a price of $0.25 per unit for gross proceeds of $514,900 of which $150,000 was
received during the year ended December 31, 2018. Each unit was comprised of one common share and one-half common
share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise
price of $0.40 per share until January 10, 2021;
Completed the purchase of the Dumont Royalty through the issuance of 3,669,018 units of the Company valued at $917,255
or $0.25 per share. Each unit was comprised of one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each full
warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.25 per share until
January 16, 2024;
Issued 2,399,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.25 per unit for gross proceeds of $599,750. Each unit comprised of
one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase one
common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.40 per share until February 22, 2021; and
Issued 345,000 common shares of the Company valued at $86,250 or $0.25 per share pursuant to PEMC pursuant to the
Copper King, NUB East and NWT royalty interests.

The Company paid or accrued $1,070 in legal and regulatory costs related to the private placements.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

7. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Share Compensation Plan
On January 3, 2020, the Board adopted the amended and restated share compensation plan. The Share Compensation Plan is a fixed
plan pursuant to which the number of Common Shares which may be issued pursuant to restricted share units (“RSUs”) and stock
options granted under the Share Compensation Plan is a maximum of 6,952,558 in aggregate or such additional amount as may be
approved from time to time by the shareholders of the Company and the exchange on which the common shares trade.
Stock options
The total maximum number of Common Shares that may be issued on exercise of Options, together with any other share compensation
arrangements of the Company, shall not exceed 3,476,279. The exercise price of each option is to be not less than the fair market value
of the Company’s stock as determined by the plan administrator. The vesting terms are determined at the time of the option grant.
There were no changes to the stock options outstanding during the three months ended March 31, 2020.
The following table summarizes the stock options outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2020:

Number of
Options

Date Granted
March 1, 2019

Exercisable

3,150,000

1,575,000

Exercise Price
$

Expiry Date

0.25

March 1, 2024

Stock options vest 25% every 6 months starting September 1, 2019.

The weighted average remaining useful life of exercisable stock options is 3.92 years (December 31, 2019 – 4.17 years).
Restricted Share Units
The RSU’s entitle employees, directors, or officers to common shares of the Company upon vesting based on vesting terms determined
by the Company’s Board of Directors at the time of grant. A total of 3,476,279 RSU’s are reserved for issuance under the plan.
During the three-month period ended March 31, 2020, the changes in RSU’s outstanding is as follows:
Granted

December 31, 2019

January 3, 2020

-

Granted

Vested

900,000

900,000

Expired/Cancelled
-

March 31, 2020
-

Share-based payments
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company recorded share-based payment expense of $517,325 (2019 - $75,220),
of which $67,325 (2019 - $50,220) represents the fair value of options vested during the year with the offsetting amounts credited to
reserves, $Nil (2019 - $25,000) represents the value of 500,000 common shares subscribed to at $0.05 converted to compensation, and
$450,000 (2019- $Nil) represents the fair value of RSU’s vesting during the period.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

7. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Warrants
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company issued warrants as follows:

Number
Balance, December 31, 2019
Granted
Balance, March 31, 2020

Weigted Average
Exercise Price

10,854,810 $

0.26

239,000

0.50

11,093,810 $

0.27

The following table summarizes the warrants outstanding at March 31, 2020:

Date Granted

Number of Warrants

July 20, 2018

1,950,000

August 7, 2018

Exercise Price
$

0.10

Expiry Date
July 20, 2021

750,000

0.10

August 7, 2021

1,300,000

0.10

September 10, 2021

October 15, 2018

500,000

0.40

October 15, 2020

October 25, 2018

1,556,000

0.40

October 25, 2020

735,000

0.40

December 21, 2020

January 10, 2019

1,029,800

0.40

January 10, 2021

January 16, 2019

1,834,510

0.25

January 16, 2024

165,000

0.40

February 22, 2021

1,034,500

0.40

March 1, 2021

239,000

0.50

February 19, 2022

September 10, 2018

December 21, 2018

February 22, 2019
March 1, 2019
February 19, 2020 - Broker warrants

11,093,810
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
The Company entered into certain transactions with key management personnel, which the Company has defined as Officers and
Directors of the Company. The aggregate value of these transactions and outstanding balances are as follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020
March 31, 2019
Consulting fees
President and CEO

$

39,515 $

13,291

Share - based compensation
Management and directors

274,236
$

313,751

24,347
$

37,638

During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid or accrued $15,438 (2019 - $Nil) for professional services and $46,312
(2019 - $350) for share issue costs to Gowling WLG (Canada) LLP (“Gowling”) a law firm in which a director is a former partner.
Also, during the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid or accrued $15,000 (2019 - $Nil) to Seabord Services Corp.
(“Seabord”). Seabord provides the following services: A Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), a Corporate Secretary, accounting and
administration staff, and office space to the Company. The CFO and Corporate Secretary are employees of Seabord and are not paid
directly by the Company.
As at March 31, 2020, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $615 (December 31, 2019 - $1,847) to key management
personnel for fees and reimbursable expenses, $60,000 (December 31, 2019 - $45,000) to Seabord, and $159,078 (December 31, 2019 $102,741) to Gowlings.
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company classified its financial instruments as follows:
March 31

December 31

2020

2019

F inancial as s et s
Fair value through profit or loss:
Cash

$

2,814,759 $

157,098

Amortized cost:
Due from Joint operating partner

74,752

-

$

2,889,511 $

157,098

$

1,492,317 $

262,190

F inancial liab ilit ies
Amortized cost:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects
the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:




Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 - Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A financial instrument is classified to
the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been considered in measuring fair value. The carrying value of
receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximated their fair value because of the short-term nature of these
instruments. Cash is measured at level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
Capital risk management
Capital is comprised of the Company’s shareholders’ equity and any debt that it may issue. The Company’s objectives when managing
capital are to maintain financial strength and to protect its ability to meet its ongoing liabilities, to continue as a going concern, to
maintain creditworthiness and to maximize returns for shareholders over the long term. Protecting the ability to pay current and future
liabilities includes maintaining capital above minimum regulatory levels, current financial strength rating requirements and internally
determined capital guidelines and calculated risk management levels. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a customer or third party to a financial instrument failing to meet its contractual obligations.
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and receivables. The Company limits exposure to credit risk by maintaining
its cash with large financial institutions. Amounts due from joint operating partner are subject to normal credit terms.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company attempts to
ensure there is sufficient capital to meet short-term business requirements, after taking into account cash flows from operations and the
Company’s holdings of cash as well as anticipated proceeds from future financings. The Company estimates that these sources are
sufficient to cover operations for the upcoming year. All the Company’s financial liabilities are settled within one year.
10. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS
Significant non-cash investing and financing transactions during the three months ended March 31, 2020 included:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Issuance of 425,280 common shares as finders fees pursuant to the Nueva Union royalty acquisition (Note 5). The shares were
valued at $212,640 or $0.50 with $186,060 included in the royalty balance and $26,580 due from a joint operating partner;
Issuance of 239,000 brokers warrants valued at $63,066 recorded to reserves;
Reallocation of $46,154 from deferred acquisition costs to royalty interests on completion of the Nueva acquisition agreement;
and
Accrual of $1,062,724 in accounts payable for staged royalty acquisition payments.
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (FORMERLY BATTERYONE ROYALTY CORP.)
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

10. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS (Continued)
Significant non-cash investing and financing transactions during the three months ended March 31, 2019 included:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Issuance of 4,014,018 of common shares valued at $1,003,505 pursuant to royalty interest acquisition agreements;
Issuance of 1,834,510 warrants valued at $343,482 pursuant to royalty interest acquisition agreements;
Re-allocation of $222,725 of deferred acquisition costs to royalty interests on execution of the related acquisition agreement;
and
Re-allocation of subscriptions received in advance of $150,000 related to the Issuance of 600,000 common shares at $0.25 per
share for which the proceeds were received in the prior year.

11. COMMITMENTS
The Company may be required to make payments related to its royalty interests (Note 5), including milestone payments subject to
certain triggers being met related to the NuevaUnion royalty acquisition.
12. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Subsequent to March 31, 2020, the Company:
a)

Filed a preliminary long form prospectus with the securities regulatory authorities in British Columbia and Alberta to qualify
the distribution of the securities underlying 11,693,172 units of the Company (“Qualified Unit”) issuable for no additional
consideration upon the exercise of 11,693,172 special warrants of the Company. Each Qualified Unit consists of one common
share in the capital of the Company and one half of one common share purchase warrant. Each whole underlying warrant will
entitle the holder thereof to acquire one common share at an exercise price of $1.00 per warrant for a period of 24 months
following the date of issuance, subject to acceleration in certain events;

b)

Issued 223,004 common shares to consultants of the Company in exchange for $87,930 in services and settlement of amounts
payable; and

c)

Granted 1,800,000 RSU’s to directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company.
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SCHEDULE D
INTERIM MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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NOVA ROYALTY CORP. (Formerly BatteryOne Royalty Corp.)
MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE
THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020

GENERAL
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) for Nova Royalty Corp. (formerly BatteryOne
Royalty Corp.) (the “Company” or “Nova”) is intended to help the reader understand the significant factors
that have affected Nova’s performance and such factors that may affect its future performance. This
MD&A, which has been prepared as of June 26, 2020, should be read in conjunction with the Company’s
financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and the related notes contained
therewith. The Company reports its financial position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”). All dollar amounts included in the following MD&A are in Canadian dollars
(“C$”) except where noted.
Additional information relevant to the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com
and on the Company’s website at www.NovaRoyalty.com
COMPANY OVERVIEW
Nova is a royalty company focused on nickel and copper deposits, which it sees as central to the continuing
development of electric vehicles and the broader electrification thesis. The Company looks to purchase
royalties from prospectors, mining companies, investment funds, and other entities that hold the assets
of interest.
Since incorporation in June 2018, the Company has acquired the following royalty assets:
Property

Asset Owner(s)

NuevaUnión
Dumont
Copper King
Nub East
NWT
Pinnacle

Newmont Corporation (50%)/Teck Resources (50%)
Chile
Waterton Global Resource Investments (72%)/Karora Resources (28%) Canada
Pacific Empire Minerals (100%)
Canada
Pacific Empire Minerals (100%)
Canada
Pacific Empire Minerals (100%)
Canada
Pacific Empire Minerals (100%)
Canada

Location

Stage

Metal

Terms

Development
Development
Exploration
Exploration
Exploration
Exploration

Copper - Gold
Nickel - Cobalt
Copper - Gold - Silver
Copper - Gold
Copper - Gold
Copper - Gold

2.0% NSR on Copper
2.0% NSR on All Metals
1% NSR on All Metals
1% NSR on All Metals
1% NSR on All Metals
1% NSR on All Metals

SUMMARY OF ROYALTY INTERESTS
NuevaUnion Project – Nova owns a 2.0% NSR on the NuevaUnion project, a 50-50 Joint Venture between
Teck Resources and Newmont Corporation. The NSR relates to copper revenues from the Cantarito Claim
within the La Fortuna deposit. Teck Resources guided for a release of a Bankable Feasibility Study for
NuevaUnion by the first quarter of 2020. As of December 31, 2019, Teck Resources reported Proven and
Probable Reserves at La Fortuna of 682 million tonnes at 0.51% copper and 0.47 g/t gold1.
Dumont Project – Nova owns a 2.0% NSR on the Dumont project in Quebec. The NSR is on a portion of
the deposit, representing approximately 21% of the Measured & Indicated Resources as of July 11, 2019.
Dumont is owned by a Joint Venture of Waterton Global Resource Investments (72%) and Karora
Resources Inc. (TSX: KRR.TO) (28%). In July 2019, Dumont published Proven and Probable Reserves of
1.028 billion tonnes grading 0.27% Nickel, Measured Resources of 372 million tonnes grading 0.28% Nickel
and Indicated Resources of 1.293 billion tonnes grading 0.26% Nickel2.

1
2

Source: Teck Annual Information Form dated February 26, 2020.
Source: Dumont Feasibility Study Technical Report NI 43-101 dated July 11, 2019.
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British Columbia Copper Belt – Nova owns 1.0% NSR interests on four early stage exploration properties
in the British Columbia copper belt, which it acquired from 100% project owner, Pacific Empire Minerals,
in March 2019. The properties include:
-

-

-

Copper King: The 4,178-hectare Copper King project is located 45 km south of the Kemess project
controlled by Centerra Gold (TSX: CG.TO). Historical drilling includes 64 meters at 0.17% Cu, 9.2
meters at 0.15% Cu, 4.6 meters at 0.40% Cu, and 10.7 meters at 0.15% Cu.
Nub East: The 1,258-hectare Nub East Property is an alkalic porphyry property in north-central
British Columbia, located 27 kilometers north of Kemess.
NWT: The 5,712-hectare NWT project is a copper-gold project located approximately 65
kilometers northwest of Centerra’s Mount Milligan project and 25 kilometers southeast of the
Stardust project owned by Sun Metals Corp.
Pinnacle Reef: The Pinnacle Reef project is located 3 kilometers southeast of the NWT project

KEY EVENTS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND SUBSEQUENTLY
REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES: During the three months ended March 31, 2020 (“Q1”), the Company
recorded a net loss of $540,253. The loss for Q1 was made up of general and administration expenditures
of $667,491, of which $517,325 was related to share-based compensation, $74,917 related to consulting
fees, $53,793 related to Professional fees. These were offset by a gain of $127,238 in other items of which
related to an unrealized foreign exchange gain.
NUEVAUNION ROYALTY AGREEMENT: In February 2020, the Company acquired an existing 2.0% NSR
royalty on future copper production on the Cantarito claim of the La Fortuna deposit in the Huasco
Province in the Atacama Region of Chile. The acquisition was completed as a joint venture with Metalla
Royalty & Streaming Ltd. (TSXV:MTA) (NYSE American: MTA) (“Metalla”) with the companies having
formed a special purpose vehicle to hold the Cantarito royalty. The total acquisition value is US$8 million,
with US$3 million cash on closing (paid), US$1 million cash in 12 months after closing, and US$4 million at
commercial production from the Royalty, to be paid equally in cash and common shares of the purchasers.
All acquisition payments will be split pro rata with Nova paying 75% and Metalla 25%.
SPECIAL WARRANTS FINANCING: In February 2020, the Company issued 11,693,172 special warrants of
the Company for gross proceeds of $5,846,586. Each special warrant had a subscription price of $0.50 and
will be deemed exercised into one unit of the Company for no additional consideration, on the earlier of
(i) becoming a reporting issuer and obtaining a listing of the common shares of the Company on a
recognized stock exchange in Canada; (ii) a transaction that provides holders of the special warrants with
comparable liquidity; or (iii) the date that is four months and one day following the Closing. Each Unit
consists of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant shall
entitle the holder thereof to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $1.00 at any time up to
24 months following the closing subject to an acceleration clause.
PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS: Filed a preliminary long form prospectus with the securities regulatory
authorities in British Columbia and Alberta to qualify the distribution of the securities underlying
11,693,172 units of the Company (“Qualified Unit”) issuable for no additional consideration upon the
exercise of 11,693,172 special warrants of the Company. Each Qualified Unit consists of one common
share in the capital of the Company and one half of one common share purchase warrant. Each whole
Underlying Warrant will entitle the holder thereof to acquire one Common Share at an exercise price of
$1.00 per Warrant Share for a period of 24 months following the date of issuance, subject to adjustment
in certain events
3

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The Company considers items included in shareholders’ equity as capital. The Company’s objective when
managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.
As at March 31, 2020, the Company had a working capital of $1,413,442 (December 31, 2019 – deficit
$94,031). Working capital increased due to cash provided by financing activities of $5,607,354 (2019 –
963,580) net of share issue costs, offset with cash used in operating activities of $51,420 (2019 –
$143,146), and cash used in investing activities of $3,040,809 (2019 - $1,879,999). Cash provided by
financing activities relates to the issuance of Special Warrants in Q1 (2019 – issue of common shares), and
cash used in investing activities relates to the purchase of royalty interests for both periods.
The Company has granted 3,150,000 incentive stock options, of which 1,575,000 are exercisable as at
March 31, 2020 to management, directors, and consultants of the Company pursuant to the Company’s
stock option plan and may receive option payments in cash related to property agreements. The Company
also has 11,093,810 warrants outstanding with a weighted average exercise price of $0.27 per share. See
"Risks and Uncertainties" and “Forward looking statements” in this MD&A for risks related to the
Company's expectations and ability to obtain sources of funding. Nova has no fixed cash payment
obligations on any of its projects. There has been no change in approach to managing capital in the past
twelve months and management believes it will have sufficient working capital to undertake its current
business and the budgets associated with those plans for the next twelve months.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements as at March 31, 2020.
As at March 31, 2020, the Company had cash of $2,814,759. Management of cash balances is conducted
in-house based on internal investment guidelines. Cash is deposited with major Canadian financial
institutions. Cash required for immediate operations is held in a chequing account and excess funds may
be invested in accordance with the Company’s capital resource objectives.
Management believes it will have sufficient working capital to undertake its current business and the
budgets associated with those plans for the next twelve months and the foreseeable future.
Cash Used in Operating Activities
Cash used in operating activities was $51,420 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 (2019 –
$143,146) and represents expenditures primarily on general and administrative expenses for both
periods. The decrease in cash used in operations from the prior period was the result of the accumulation
of payables settled subsequent to the three months ended March 31, 2020.
Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2020 was $3,040,809 compared
to cash used in investing activities of $1,879,999 for the comparative year. Cash used in investing activities
is highly dependent on the timing and acquisition of royalty interests. For Q1 2020 the Company closed
the acquisition of the NuevaUnion NSR royalty, whereas in Q1 2019 the Company closed the Dumont NSR
royalty.
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Cash Generated by Financing Activities
Cash generated by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2020 was $5,607,354 (2019
– $963,580) and consisted of $5,846,586 (2019 - $964,650) in proceeds from the sale of special warrants
(2019 - common shares) less $239,232 (2019 - $1,070) is share issuance costs.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Summary of Quarterly Results
The following table provides selected financial information for the three months ended March 31, 2020
and 2019. Quarterly information for periods prior to December 31, 2019 have not been presented as there
is no requirement to present financial information for interim periods prior to the Company becoming a
reporting issuer if the Company has not previously prepared financial statements for those periods.
Quarter Ended
Financial results
General and administration costs (not included share - based payments)
Share-based payments
Net loss
Net loss per share-basic and diluted

March 31, 2020
$

150,166 $
517,325
540,253
0.02

March 31, 2019
28,878
75,220
102,954
0.01

The Company’s net loss varies mainly due to the level of operations activities and due diligence
undertaken on new prospects, as well as the timing of share-based compensation.
Three Months Ended March 31, 2020
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company incurred a net loss of $540,253 (2019 $102,954). The loss for the three months then ended was comprised of $667,491 (2019 - $104,098) of
general and administration expenditures including share – based payments of $517,325 (2019 - $75,220),
and a gain from other items of $127,238 (2019 – $1,144). Some items to note from year to year include
the following:
Included in general and administrative expenditures for the three months ended March 31, 2020 was
$74,917 (2019 - $13,291) in compensation to management and consultants. The Company updated and
implemented a compensation plan in the latter half of the year ended December 31, 2019. As such, certain
management and consultants are receiving compensation not in place for the comparative three months
ended.
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company recorded share-based compensation
expense of $517,325 (2019 - $75,220), which represents the fair value of options and RSU’s vested during
the period. In the three months ended March 31, 2020, 900,000 RSU’s vested with a value of $0.50 per
share. There was no comparative RSU’s vested in the three months ended March 31, 2019. The balance
of share-based payments being $67,325 (2019 - $50,220) relates to the vesting of stock options, and $Nil
(2019 - $25,000) for the reallocation of subscription receivable to compensation.
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During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company also had a gain of $127,238 (2019 - $1,144)
for foreign exchange. This was directly the result of holding significant USD cash balances as at March 31,
2020. The USD cash was generated from the sale of special warrants in the period, combined with the
strengthening USD against the CAD which is the Company’s reporting currency.
It should be noted that many of our personnel and professional expenditures companywide are
denominated in United States dollars (“USD”) and an increase or decrease in the value of the USD
compared to the Canadian dollar, which is our reporting currency, will increase or decrease expenditures.
OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The Company entered into certain transactions with key management personnel, which the Company has
defined as Officers and Directors of the Company. The aggregate value of these transactions and
outstanding balances are as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31, 2020

March 31, 2020

Consulting fees
Alex Tsukernik

March 31, 2019

$

39,515 $

13,291

$

210,687
28,206
17,137
18,206
313,751 $

17,971
2,391
1,594
2,391
37,638

Share - based compensation
Alex Tsukernik
Parviz Farsangi
Denis Silva
Robert Leckie

During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid or accrued $15,438 (2019 - $Nil) for
professional services and $46,312 (2019 - $350) for share issue costs to Gowling WLG (Canada) LLP
(“Gowling”) a law firm in which a director is a former partner.
Also, during the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid or accrued $15,000 (2019 - $Nil)
to Seabord Services Corp. (“Seabord”). Seabord provides the following services: A Chief Financial Officer
(“CFO”), a Corporate Secretary, accounting and administration staff, and office space to the Company.
The CFO and Corporate Secretary are employees of Seabord and are not paid directly by the Company.
As at March 31, 2020, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $615 (December 31, 2019 $1,847) to key management personnel for fees and reimbursable expenses, $60,000 (December 31, 2019
- $45,000) to Seabord, and $159,078 (December 31, 2019 - $102,741) to Gowlings.
There were no changes to the Company’s board of directors or management during, or subsequent to the
three months ended March 31, 2020.
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COMMITMENTS
The Company may be required to make payments related to its royalty interests, including milestone
payments subject to certain triggers being met related to the NuevaUnion royalty acquisition.
ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Accounting standards adopted during the period
Please refer to the Company’s unaudited financial statements for the three months ended March 31,
2020 on SEDAR at www.Sedar.com.
Accounting pronouncements not yet effective
Please refer to the Company’s unaudited financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2020
on SEDAR at www.Sedar.com.
RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Please refer to the Company’s unaudited financial statements for the three months ended March 31,
2020 on SEDAR at www.Sedar.com.
Critical Accounting Judgments and Significant Estimates and Uncertainties
Please refer to the Company’s unaudited financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2020
on SEDAR at www.Sedar.com.
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Company has identified the following risks and uncertainties which are consistent with those risks
and uncertainties identified for the year ended December 31, 2019: Changes in Commodity Prices that
underlie Royalties, the Impact of the current COVID-19 pandemic may significantly impact Nova, Nova Has
No Control Over Mining Operations, Variations in Foreign Exchange Rates, Delay Receiving or Failure to
Receive Payments, Third-Party Reporting, Disclosure Regarding Operations, Strategy for Acquisitions,
Nova Cash Flow Risk, Rights of other Interest-Holders, Defects in Royalties, Change in Material Assets,
Dependence on Key Personnel, Negative Cash Flow from Operations, Dividends, Competition, Project
Operators may not Respect Contractual Obligations, Unknown Defects, Enforceability, Conflicts of
Interest, Global Financial Conditions, Public Health Crisis, Natural Disasters, Terrorist Acts, Civil Unrest,
Pandemics and Other Disruptions and Dislocations, Future Financing; Future Securities Issuances,
Litigation affecting Properties, Changes in Tax Laws Impacting Nova, Credit and Liquidity Risk, Information
Systems and Cyber Security, Activist Shareholders, Reputation Damage, Expansion of Business Model, and
Risks Related to Mines and Mining Operations including Risk Factors applicable to Owners and Operators
of Properties in which Nova holds an Interest, Exploration, Development and Operating Risks, Climate
Change, Commodity Prices, Environmental Risks, Government Regulation, Permits and Authorizations,
Permitting and Access, Infrastructure, Dependence on Operator’s Employees, Mineral Resource and
Mineral Reserve Estimates, Depleted Mineral Reserve Replacement, Uninsured Risks, Land Title,
International Interests, Developing Economies, Permitting, Construction and Development, and
Indigenous Peoples.
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OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares and preferred
shares without par value. As at the date of this MD&A, the Company has 23,717,902 common shares
issued and outstanding. There are also 3,150,000 stock options with expiry date on March 1, 2024, and
11,093,810 warrants outstanding with expiry dates ranging from October 15, 2020 to January 16, 2024.
As of the date of this MD&A, the Company has also issued 11,693,172 special warrants of the Company.
Each special warrant will be deemed exercised into one unit of the Company for no additional
consideration, on the earlier of (i) becoming a reporting issuer and obtaining a listing of the common
shares of the Company on a recognized stock exchange in Canada; (ii) a transaction that provides holders
of the special warrants with comparable liquidity; or (iii) the date that is four months and one day
following the closing. Each unit will consist of one common share and one-half of one common share
purchase warrant. Each warrant shall entitle the holder thereof to purchase one common share any time
up to 24 months following the closing subject to an acceleration clause.
QUALIFIED PERSON
Technical information contained in this MD&A has been reviewed and approved by Christian Rios, AIPG
Certified Professional Geologist, Advisor to Nova and a Qualified Person as defined in National Instrument
43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This MD&A contains “forward-looking information” and “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation. The forward-looking statements herein are made
as of the date of this MD&A only and the Company does not assume any obligation to update or revise
them to reflect new information, estimates or opinions, future events or results or otherwise, except as
required by applicable law.
Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”,
“expects”, “is expected”, “budgets”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “predicts”, “projects”,
“intends”, “targets”, “aims”, “anticipates” or “believes” or variations (including negative variations) of
such words and phrases or may be identified by statements to the effect that certain actions “may”,
“could”, “should”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. Forward-looking information
in this MD&A includes, but is not limited to, statements with respect to future events or future
performance of Nova, disclosure regarding any payments to be paid to Nova by property owners or
operators of mining projects pursuant to net smelter returns and other royalty agreements of Nova,
management’s expectations regarding Nova’s growth, results of operations, estimated future revenues,
carrying value of assets, future dividends, and requirements for additional capital, production estimates,
production costs and revenue, future demand for and prices of commodities, expected mining sequences,
business prospects and opportunities, other statements regarding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
and measures taken to reduce the spread of COVID-19 on the Company’s operations and overall business,
statements regarding the temporary duration of the COVID-19 pandemic. Such forward-looking
statements reflect management’s current beliefs and are based on information currently available to
management.

8

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which
may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different
from any future results, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements. A number of factors could cause actual events or results to differ materially from any forwardlooking statements, including, without limitation: fluctuations in the prices of the primary commodities
that drive royalty agreements; fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and any other currency in which
revenue may be generated, relative to the Canadian dollar; changes in national and local government
legislation, including permitting and licensing regimes and taxation policies and the enforcement thereof;
regulatory, political or economic developments in any of the countries where properties in which the
Company holds a royalty interest are located or through which they are held, measures taken by the
Company, governments or partner operators in response to the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise that,
individually or in the aggregate, materially affect the Company’s ability to operate its business, risks
related to the operators of the properties in which the Company holds a royalty interest, including changes
in the ownership and control of such operators; influence of macroeconomic developments; business
opportunities that become available to, or are pursued by the Company; reduced access to debt and
equity capital; litigation; title, permit or license disputes related to interests on any of the properties in
which the Company holds a royalty interest; whether or not the Company is determined to have “passive
foreign investment company” (“PFIC”) status as defined in Section 1297 of the United States Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; the ability to maintain adequate controls as required by law;
potential changes in Canadian tax treatment of offshore revenues (if any); excessive cost escalation as
well as development, permitting, infrastructure, operating or technical difficulties on any of the properties
in which the Company holds a royalty interest; the possibility that actual mineral content may differ from
the reserves and resources contained in technical reports; rate and timing of production differences from
resource estimates, other technical reports and mine plans; risks and hazards associated with the business
of development and mining on any of the properties in which the Company holds a royalty interest,
including, but not limited to unusual or unexpected geological and metallurgical conditions, slope failures
or cave-ins, flooding and other natural disasters, terrorism, civil unrest or an outbreak of contagious
diseases including COVID-19; the integration of acquired assets; as well as other factors identified and as
described in more detail under the heading “Risk Factors” in this MD&A.
The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are based on reasonable assumptions that have
been made by management as at the date of such information and is subject to unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual actions, events or results to be materially
different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking information, including, without
limitation: the impact of general business and economic conditions; the ongoing operation of the
properties in which the Company holds a royalty interest by the owners or operators of such properties
in a manner consistent with past practice; the accuracy of public statements and disclosures made by the
owners or operators of such underlying properties; no material adverse change in the market price of the
commodities that underlie the asset portfolio; the Company’s ongoing income and assets relating to
determination of its PFIC status; no material changes to existing tax treatment; no adverse development
in respect of any significant property in which the Company holds a royalty interest; the accuracy of
publicly disclosed expectations for the development of underlying properties that are not yet in
production; the world-wide economic and social impact of COVID-19 is managed and the duration and
extent of the coronavirus pandemic is minimized or not long-term; disruptions related to the COVID-19
pandemic or other health and safety issues, or the responses of governments, communities, partner
operators, the Company and others to such pandemic or other issues; integration of acquired assets;
actual results of mining and current exploration activities; conclusions of economic evaluations and
changes in project parameters as plans continue to be refined; problems inherent to the marketability of
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precious metals; stock market volatility; competition; and the absence of any other factors that could
cause actions, events or results to differ from those anticipated, estimated or intended.
Although Nova has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or
results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking information, there may be other
factors that cause actions, events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be
no assurance that such information will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could
differ materially from those anticipated in such information. Investors are cautioned that forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance. The Company cannot assure investors that actual
results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. Accordingly, investors should not place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements or information.
This MD&A contains future-orientated information and financial outlook information (collectively, “FOFI”)
about the Company’s revenues from royalty interests, other projects which are subject to the same
assumptions, risk factors, limitations and qualifications set forth in the above paragraphs. FOFI contained
in this MD&A was made as of the date of this MD&A and was provided for the purpose of providing further
information about the Company’s anticipated business operations. Nova disclaims any intention or
obligation to update or revise any FOFI contained in this MD&A, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, unless required pursuant to applicable law. FOFI contained in this MD&A
should not be used for the purposes other than for which it is disclosed herein.
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SCHEDULE E
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER
1.0

PURPOSE

1.1

The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) is a standing committee of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Nova
Royalty Corp. (the “Company”) charged with assisting the Board in fulfilling its financial oversight responsibilities
by reviewing the financial reports and other financial information provided by the Company to regulatory authorities
and shareholders, the Company’s systems of internal controls regarding finance and accounting and the Company’s
auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes. Consistent with this function, the Committee will encourage
continuous improvement of, and should foster adherence to, the Company’s policies, procedures and practices at all
levels. The Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to:

(a)

serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the Company’s financial reporting and internal
control system and review the Company’s financial statements;

(b)

review and appraise the performance of the Company’s external auditors; and

(c)

provide an open avenue of communication among the Company’s auditors, financial and senior
management and the Board.

2.0

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

2.1

The Board shall annually elect a minimum of three (3) directors to the Committee, a majority of whom shall be
financially literate, independent of management and free from any material relationship with the Company, that in
the opinion of the Board, would interfere with the director’s exercise of independent judgment as a member of the
Committee. Unless a chair of the Committee (“Chair”) is elected by the full Board, the members of the Committee
may designate a Chair by a majority vote of the full Committee membership.

2.2

If the Company ceases to be a “venture issuer” (as that term is defined in National Instrument 52-110 – Audit
Committees (“NI 52-110”)), then all of the members of the Committee shall be independent (as that term is defined
in NI 52-110).

2.3

If the Company ceases to be a “venture issuer” (as that term is defined in NI 52-110), then all members of the
Committee shall be financially literate. All members of the Committee that are not financially literate will work
towards becoming financially literate to obtain a working familiarity with basic finance and accounting practices.
For the purposes of this Charter of the Audit Committee (the “Charter”), the definition of “financially literate” is
the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of
accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can presumably be
expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements.

3.0

MEETINGS

3.1

The Committee shall meet a least four (4) times annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate. As part of its
job to foster open communication, the Committee will meet at least annually with the external auditors.

3.2

A quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Committee shall be two (2) members.

4.0

RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Committee shall:
4.1

Documents/Reports Review
(a)

review this Charter annually and recommend any changes to the Board; and

(b)

review the Company’s financial statements, management discussion and analysis and any annual and
interim earnings press releases before the Company publicly discloses this information, and any reports or
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other financial information (including quarterly financial statements), which are submitted to any
governmental body, or to the public, including any certification, report, opinion, or review rendered by the
external auditors.
4.2

External Auditors

(a)

annually review the performance of the external auditors who shall be ultimately accountable to the Board
and the Committee as representatives of the shareholders of the Company;

(b)

annually obtain a formal written statement of external auditors setting forth all relationships between the
external auditors and the Company, consistent with Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 –
Independence Discussions with Audit Committees;

(c)

review and discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or services that may impact the
objectivity and independence of the external auditors;

(d)

take appropriate action to oversee the independence of the external auditors, including the resolution of
disagreements between management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting;

(e)

recommend to the Board the selection and, where applicable, the replacement of the external auditors
nominated annually for shareholder approval;

(f)

recommend to the Board the compensation to be paid to the external auditors;

(g)

at least once per year, consult with the external auditors, without the presence of management, about the
quality of the Company’s accounting principles, internal controls and the completeness and accuracy of the
Company’s financial statements;

(h)

review and approve the Company’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and
employees of the present and former external auditors of the Company;

(i)

review with management and the external auditors the audit plan for the year-end financial statements and
intended template for such statements; and

(j)

review and pre-approve all audit and audit-related services and the fees and other compensation related
thereto;

(k)

review and pre-approve any non-audit services provided by the Company’s external auditors, subject to the
following:
(i)

the pre-approval requirement shall be satisfied with respect to the provision of non-audit services
if the following criteria (as set forth in Section 2.4 of NI 52-110) are met:
(A)

the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to the Company constitutes
not more than five percent of the total amount of fees paid by the Company (and its
subsidiary entities) to its external auditors during the fiscal year in which the non-audit
services are provided;

(B)

such services were not recognized by the Company (or the subsidiary entity) at the time
of the engagement to be non-audit services;

(C)

such services are promptly brought to the attention of the Committee and approved, prior
to the completion of the audit, by the Committee or by one or more members of the
Committee who are members of the Board to whom authority to grant such approvals has
been delegated by the Committee (with such delegation being in compliance with
Section 2.5 of NI 52-110); and
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(ii)

4.3

4.4

the Committee may delegate to the Chair or any other independent member of the Committee the
authority to pre-approve non-audit services, provided such pre-approved non-audit services are
presented to the Committee at the next scheduled Committee meeting following such pre-approval.

Financial Reporting Processes

(a)

in consultation with the external auditors, review with management the integrity of the Company’s financial
reporting process, both internal and external;

(b)

consider the external auditors’ judgments about the quality and appropriateness of the Company’s
accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting;

(c)

consider and approve, if appropriate, changes to the Company’s auditing and accounting principles and
practices as suggested by the external auditors and management;

(d)

review significant judgments made by management in the preparation of the financial statements and the
view of the external auditors as to the appropriateness of such judgments;

(e)

following completion of the annual audit, review separately with management and the external auditors any
significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, including any restrictions on the scope of
work or access to required information;

(f)

review any significant disagreement among management and the external auditors in connection with the
preparation of the financial statements;

(g)

review with the external auditors and management the extent to which changes and improvements in
financial or accounting practices have been implemented;

(h)

review any complaints or concerns about any questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or
auditing matters;

(i)

establish a procedure for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and

(j)

establish a procedure for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

Internal Control

(a)

consider the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system;

(b)

understand the scope of external auditors’ review of internal control over financial reporting, and obtain
reports on significant findings and recommendations, together with management’s responses;

(c)

review external auditors’ management letters and management’s responses to such letters;

(d)

as requested by the Board, discuss with management and the external auditors the Company’s major risk
exposures (whether financial, operational or otherwise), the adequacy and effectiveness of the accounting
and financial controls, and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures;

(e)

annually review the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, including any significant deficiencies
in, or material non-compliance with, such controls and procedures; and

(f)

discuss with the Chief Financial Officer and, as is in the Committee’s opinion appropriate, the President and
Chief Executive Officer, all elements of the certification required pursuant to National
Instrument 52-109 - Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.
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4.5

Other

(a)

review any related-party transactions;

(b)

engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties;

(c)

set and pay compensation for any independent counsel and other advisors employed by the Committee; and

(d)

communicate directly with the internal and external auditors.
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SCHEDULE E
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER
1.0

PURPOSE

1.1

The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) is a standing committee of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Nova
Royalty Corp. (the “Company”) charged with assisting the Board in fulfilling its financial oversight responsibilities
by reviewing the financial reports and other financial information provided by the Company to regulatory authorities
and shareholders, the Company’s systems of internal controls regarding finance and accounting and the Company’s
auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes. Consistent with this function, the Committee will encourage
continuous improvement of, and should foster adherence to, the Company’s policies, procedures and practices at all
levels. The Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to:
(a)

serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the Company’s financial reporting and internal
control system and review the Company’s financial statements;

(b)

review and appraise the performance of the Company’s external auditors; and

(c)

provide an open avenue of communication among the Company’s auditors, financial and senior
management and the Board.

2.0

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

2.1

The Board shall annually elect a minimum of three (3) directors to the Committee, a majority of whom shall be
financially literate, independent of management and free from any material relationship with the Company, that in
the opinion of the Board, would interfere with the director’s exercise of independent judgment as a member of the
Committee. Unless a chair of the Committee (“Chair”) is elected by the full Board, the members of the Committee
may designate a Chair by a majority vote of the full Committee membership.

2.2

If the Company ceases to be a “venture issuer” (as that term is defined in National Instrument 52-110 – Audit
Committees (“NI 52-110”)), then all of the members of the Committee shall be independent (as that term is defined
in NI 52-110).

2.3

If the Company ceases to be a “venture issuer” (as that term is defined in NI 52-110), then all members of the
Committee shall be financially literate. All members of the Committee that are not financially literate will work
towards becoming financially literate to obtain a working familiarity with basic finance and accounting practices.
For the purposes of this Charter of the Audit Committee (the “Charter”), the definition of “financially literate” is
the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of
accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can presumably be
expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements.

3.0

MEETINGS

3.1

The Committee shall meet a least four (4) times annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate. As part of its
job to foster open communication, the Committee will meet at least annually with the external auditors.

3.2

A quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Committee shall be two (2) members.

4.0

RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Committee shall:
4.1

Documents/Reports Review
(a)

review this Charter annually and recommend any changes to the Board; and

(b)

review the Company’s financial statements, management discussion and analysis and any annual and
interim earnings press releases before the Company publicly discloses this information, and any reports or
other financial information (including quarterly financial statements), which are submitted to any
governmental body, or to the public, including any certification, report, opinion, or review rendered by the
external auditors.
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4.2

External Auditors
(a)

annually review the performance of the external auditors who shall be ultimately accountable to the Board
and the Committee as representatives of the shareholders of the Company;

(b)

annually obtain a formal written statement of external auditors setting forth all relationships between the
external auditors and the Company, consistent with Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 –
Independence Discussions with Audit Committees;

(c)

review and discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or services that may impact the
objectivity and independence of the external auditors;

(d)

take appropriate action to oversee the independence of the external auditors, including the resolution of
disagreements between management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting;

(e)

recommend to the Board the selection and, where applicable, the replacement of the external auditors
nominated annually for shareholder approval;

(f)

recommend to the Board the compensation to be paid to the external auditors;

(g)

at least once per year, consult with the external auditors, without the presence of management, about the
quality of the Company’s accounting principles, internal controls and the completeness and accuracy of the
Company’s financial statements;

(h)

review and approve the Company’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and
employees of the present and former external auditors of the Company;

(i)

review with management and the external auditors the audit plan for the year-end financial statements and
intended template for such statements; and

(j)

review and pre-approve all audit and audit-related services and the fees and other compensation related
thereto;

(k)

review and pre-approve any non-audit services provided by the Company’s external auditors, subject to the
following:
(i)

(ii)

4.3

the pre-approval requirement shall be satisfied with respect to the provision of non-audit services
if the following criteria (as set forth in Section 2.4 of NI 52-110) are met:
(A)

the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to the Company constitutes
not more than five percent of the total amount of fees paid by the Company (and its
subsidiary entities) to its external auditors during the fiscal year in which the non-audit
services are provided;

(B)

such services were not recognized by the Company (or the subsidiary entity) at the time
of the engagement to be non-audit services;

(C)

such services are promptly brought to the attention of the Committee and approved, prior
to the completion of the audit, by the Committee or by one or more members of the
Committee who are members of the Board to whom authority to grant such approvals has
been delegated by the Committee (with such delegation being in compliance with
Section 2.5 of NI 52-110); and

the Committee may delegate to the Chair or any other independent member of the Committee the
authority to pre-approve non-audit services, provided such pre-approved non-audit services are
presented to the Committee at the next scheduled Committee meeting following such pre-approval.

Financial Reporting Processes
(a)

in consultation with the external auditors, review with management the integrity of the Company’s financial
reporting process, both internal and external;
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4.4

4.5

(b)

consider the external auditors’ judgments about the quality and appropriateness of the Company’s
accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting;

(c)

consider and approve, if appropriate, changes to the Company’s auditing and accounting principles and
practices as suggested by the external auditors and management;

(d)

review significant judgments made by management in the preparation of the financial statements and the
view of the external auditors as to the appropriateness of such judgments;

(e)

following completion of the annual audit, review separately with management and the external auditors any
significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, including any restrictions on the scope of
work or access to required information;

(f)

review any significant disagreement among management and the external auditors in connection with the
preparation of the financial statements;

(g)

review with the external auditors and management the extent to which changes and improvements in
financial or accounting practices have been implemented;

(h)

review any complaints or concerns about any questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or
auditing matters;

(i)

establish a procedure for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and

(j)

establish a procedure for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

Internal Control
(a)

consider the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system;

(b)

understand the scope of external auditors’ review of internal control over financial reporting, and obtain
reports on significant findings and recommendations, together with management’s responses;

(c)

review external auditors’ management letters and management’s responses to such letters;

(d)

as requested by the Board, discuss with management and the external auditors the Company’s major risk
exposures (whether financial, operational or otherwise), the adequacy and effectiveness of the accounting
and financial controls, and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures;

(e)

annually review the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, including any significant deficiencies
in, or material non-compliance with, such controls and procedures; and

(f)

discuss with the Chief Financial Officer and, as is in the Committee’s opinion appropriate, the President and
Chief Executive Officer, all elements of the certification required pursuant to National
Instrument 52-109 - Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.

Other
(a)

review any related-party transactions;

(b)

engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties;

(c)

set and pay compensation for any independent counsel and other advisors employed by the Committee; and

(d)

communicate directly with the internal and external auditors.

E-3

SCHEDULE F
COMPENSATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE CHARTER
MEMBERSHIP
The Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee (the “Committee”) of Nova Royalty Corp. (the “Company”) will
be comprised of three directors of the Company, who shall have relevant skills and/or experience in the Committee’s areas of
responsibility and a majority of whom shall be independent as defined under National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees.
A Committee member shall be independent of the Company’s management and free from any interest and any business or
other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act with
a view to the best interests of the Company, other than interests and relationships arising from shareholdings.
Committee members shall be appointed and replaced by the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”). The Committee
will select its own Chair.
MANDATE
The Committee’s purpose will be to:
(a)

discharge the Board’s responsibilities relating to compensation of the Company’s executive officers. Among
other things, the Committee will establish and administer the Company’s policies, programs and procedures
for compensating and providing incentives to its executive officers;

(b)

identify individuals qualified to become Board members;

(c)

recommend qualified candidates to fill Board vacancies and newly created director positions;

(d)

recommend whether incumbent directors should be nominated for re-election to the Board upon expiration
of their terms; and

(e)

advise the Board of the appropriate corporate governance procedures that should be followed by the
Company and the Board and monitor whether they comply with such procedures.

RESPONSIBILITIES AND AUTHORITY
(a)

The Committee has the authority to engage and terminate independent legal, accounting or other advisors
or consultants.

(b)

The Company will provide for appropriate funding, as recommended by the Committee, for payment of
compensation to any consultants and to any other advisors employed by the Committee, but such funding
will not exceed $25,000 annually without the prior approval of the Board.

(c)

The Committee will have the authority to engage and terminate compensation consultants to assist in the
evaluation of Director or executive officer compensation and, subject to paragraph (b) above, the authority
to approve the fees and other retention terms of such compensation consultants.

(d)

The Committee will have the sole authority to engage search firms to assist in the identification of Director
candidates and the sole authority to set the fees and other retention terms of such firms.

(e)

The Committee will review and assess the adequacy of this Charter annually and recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval.

(f)

The Committee will review executive compensation and corporate governance disclosure before publicly
disclosing such information.

(g)

The Committee will annually review its own performance.
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(h)

The Committee will perform any other duties or responsibilities delegated to it by the Board.

MEETINGS
(a)

The Committee shall meet in person or by conference call as frequently as necessary to carry out its
responsibilities under this Charter, but in no event less than once per year.

(b)

With the assistance of the corporate secretary of the Company (the “Corporate Secretary”), the Committee
Chair shall be responsible for calling the meetings of the Committee, establishing meeting agenda with input
from management and supervising the conduct of the meetings.

(c)

Notice of the time and place of every meeting shall be given in writing or by e-mail or facsimile
communication to each member of the Committee at least 24 hours prior to the time fixed for such meeting;
provided, however, that a member may in any manner waive a notice of a meeting and attendance of a
member at a meeting is a waiver of notice of the meeting, except where a member attends a meeting for the
express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting is not
lawfully called.

(d)

The Chair shall develop and set the Committee’s agenda, in consultation with other members of the
Committee, the Board and senior management. The agenda and information concerning the business to be
conducted at each Committee meeting shall, to the extent practical, be communicated to the members of the
Committee sufficiently in advance of each meeting to permit meaningful review.

(e)

The Committee shall have the power to delegate its authority and duties to subcommittees or individual
members of the Committee as it considers appropriate.

(f)

The chief executive officer (the “CEO”) of the Company shall be available to advise the Committee, shall
receive notice of all meetings of the Committee and may attend meetings at the invitation of the Chair of
the Committee.

(g)

The minutes of all meetings shall be recorded by the Corporate Secretary or such other person as appointed
by the Chair of the Committee.

(h)

A majority of the independent members of the Committee will constitute a quorum for conducting business
at a meeting of the Committee.

The Committee may request any officer or other employee of the Company, or any representative of the Company’s legal
counsel or other advisors, to attend a meeting or to meet with any members or representatives of the Committee.
ESTABLISHMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION POLICIES AND PROGRAMS
(a)

The Committee will review all compensation arrangements for the CEO, chief financial officer (the “CFO”)
and other executive officers of the Company, including salaries, bonus, cash-incentive and equity-based
incentive compensation, and make recommendations to the Board for their approval.

(b)

Without limiting the foregoing, the Committee will review all proposed employment and retention
agreements with any executive officer of the Company, as well as severance agreements that provide
benefits in excess of those set forth in any severance and termination plans previously approved by the
Committee or the Board.

REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION
The Committee will evaluate annually the performance of the CEO, CFO and other executive officers and set compensation
levels based on those evaluations and any other factors as it deems appropriate.
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RATIFICATION OF INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLANS BY THE BOARD
The Committee will submit to the Board for approval any of the following:
(a)

cash incentive compensation and equity-based incentive plans of the Company; and

(b)

all other plans of the Company that require the approval of shareholders under any requirement of an
applicable stock exchange or otherwise by law.

REVIEW DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
The Committee will review director compensation levels and practices, and recommend, from time to time, changes in such
compensation levels and practices to the Board.
IDENTIFICATION OF NEW DIRECTOR CANDIDATES
1.

The Committee will identify individuals believed to be qualified to become Board members and recommend
candidates to the Board to fill new or vacant positions.

2.

In recommending candidates to the Board, the Committee shall first consider such factors as it deems appropriate,
including potential conflicts of interest, professional experience, personal character, diversity, outside commitments
(for example, service on other boards) and particular areas of expertise – all in the context of the needs of the Board.

EVALUATE INCUMBENT DIRECTORS
The Committee will evaluate and advise the Board whether an incumbent director should be nominated for re-election to the
Board upon expiration of such director’s term.
SIZE AND COMPOSITION
The Committee in consultation with the Board will make recommendations to the Board regarding the composition and the
appropriate size of the Board.
COMMITTEE CHARTERS
The Committee will annually review the Company’s Committee Charters and recommend revisions to the Board as necessary.
ORIENTATION AND CONTINUING EDUCATION PROGRAMS
The Committee will provide, with the assistance of management, suitable programs for the orientation of new directors and
the continuing education of incumbent directors, which include, among other things, reviewing background materials, strategic
plans of the Company and meeting with Senior Management.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Committee will develop and monitor the overall approach to corporate governance issues and, subject to approval by the
Board, implement and administer a system of corporate governance which reflects superior standards of corporate governance
practices.
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS
The Committee will to review and assess the design and competitiveness of the Company’s employment agreements, including
the severance and change of control provisions.
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COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
The Committee will carry out such periodic reviews to ensure that the Company and Board have in effect adequate policies
and procedures to allow the Company to meet all of its continuous disclosure requirements including reviewing and approving
the executive compensation disclosure in the Company’s management proxy circular
REPORTS TO THE BOARD
1.

The Committee will periodically apprise the Board of any significant developments in the course of performing its
Charter responsibilities.

2.

The Chair of the Committee will periodically report to the Board, the Company’s findings and recommendations.

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT
The Committee will annually review its own performance and effectiveness.
PUBLIC DISCLOSURE
This Charter will be included on the Company’s website.
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SCHEDULE G
INVESTMENT POLICY OF THE COMPANY
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Suite 501 - 543 Granville Street
Vancouver, BC V6C 1X8
Canada
INVESTMENT POLICY
Investment Objectives
Nova Royalty Corp.’s (the “Company”) investment objectives are to seek:
a) high return on investment opportunities, using a royalty structure;
b) provide exposure to copper and nickel, and to copper and nickel price movement; and
c) to preserve capital and limit downside risk by accumulating a diversified portfolio
royalties while achieving a reasonable rate of return.
The Company declares dividends as approved by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”)
in accordance with the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). It also plans to reinvest the
profits of its investments to further the growth and development of the Company’s investment
portfolio, and/or the return of profits to shareholders through dividends or capital returns
depending from time to time on the market conditions and available opportunities. The target ratio
for the Company will be to pay, after G&A and tax, 50% of free cash flow in dividends, and 50% to
reinvest in more accretive transactions.
Investment Strategy
In light of the numerous investment opportunities across the entire natural resources sector, the
Company aims to adopt a flexible approach to investment targets without placing unnecessary
limits on potential returns on its investment. This approach is demonstrated in the Company’s
proposed investment strategy set out below.
Investment Sector: Natural resources industry. Focused on battery metals with a priority on
copper and nickel.
Investment Types: Royalties, equity, debt, net profit interests, derivatives and any other
investment structures or instruments that could be acquired or created to give the Company
exposure to copper and nickel.
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Commodities: Copper and nickel.
Jurisdictions: All countries are permissible depending on the risk assessment of the Board and
Management at the time the investment is made and the risk-reward relationship associated with
each investment in a particular jurisdiction.
Investment Size: Target investment size is between $5M -$100M in value per asset or group of
assets being acquired.
Investment Timeline: Not limited.
Investment Targets: Interests in mining operations, development projects, and exploration
projects in the form of a royalty, stream or other derivative facility. Investments in public or private
corporations, partnership or other legal entities which own, or propose to own, natural resource
assets or derivatives of natural resource assets. Distressed situations where a change of
management or other restructuring is required to realize the value of the asset.
Investment Review: Will seek to maintain the ability to actively review and revisit all of
investments on an ongoing basis.
Liquidity: Will evaluate the liquidity of investments and seek to realize value from same in
a prudent and orderly fashion.
Composition of Investment Portfolio
The nature and timing of the Company's investments will depend, in part, on available capital at
any particular time and the investment opportunities identified and available to the Company.
Subject to the availability of capital, the Company intends to maintain a diversified portfolio of
investments. The composition of its investment portfolio will vary over time depending on its
assessment of a number of factors including the performance of financial markets and credit risk.
Procedures and Implementation
The senior officers and other management of the Company (“Management”) and the Board and
the respective members thereof shall work jointly and severally to uncover appropriate investment
opportunities. These individuals have a broad range of business experience and their own
networks of business partners, financiers, venture capitalists and finders through whom potential
investments may be identified.
Prospective investments will be channeled through Management. Management shall make an
assessment of whether the proposal fits with the investment and corporate strategy of the
Company in accordance with the investment objectives and strategy set out in this policy, and
then proceed with preliminary due diligence, leading to a decision, after consultation with the
Board, to reject or move the proposal to the next stage of detailed due diligence. This process
may involve the participation of outside professional consultants.
The Company will obtain detailed knowledge of the relevant business the investment shall be
made in, as well as the investee corporation, their management team, quality of asset(s) and risks
associated as applicable.
Once a recommendation has been reached to invest in a particular situation, a summary of the
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rationale behind the investment recommendation shall be prepared by Management and
submitted to the Board. This summary should include, among other things, the estimated return
on investment, timeline of investment, guidelines against which future progress can be measured,
and risks associated with the investment. The summary should also disclose any finder’s or
agent’s fees payable.
All investments shall be submitted to the Board for final approval. Management will select all
investments for submission to the Board and monitor the Company’s investment portfolio on an
ongoing basis, and will be subject to the direction of the Board. Management will present an
overview of the state of the investment portfolio to the Board on a quarterly basis.
Negotiation of terms of participation is a key determinant of the ultimate value of any opportunity
to the Company. Negotiations may be ongoing before and after the performance of due diligence.
The representative(s) of the Company involved in these negotiations will be determined in each
case by the circumstances of the investment opportunity.
Compliance
All investments shall be made in compliance with applicable laws in relevant jurisdictions, and
shall be made in accordance with and governed by the rules and policies of applicable regulatory
authorities.
From time to time, the Board may authorize such additional investments outside of the guidelines
described herein as it sees fit for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders.
The Company is a royalty company that relies on the exemption from registration and other
requirements under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, provided
by Section 3(c)(9) of such Act. The Company intends that this Investment Policy be interpreted
in a manner, and that its investments and activities hereunder be, consistent with the requirements
of such exemption.
Management Participation
The Company may, from time to time, seek a more active role in the corporations in which it
invests, and provide such corporations with financial and personnel resources, as well as strategic
counsel. The Company may also ask for board representation in cases where it makes a significant
investment in the business of an investee corporation. The Company’s nominee(s) shall be
determined by the Board as appropriate in such circumstances.
Conflicts of Interest
The Company has no restrictions with respect to investing in corporations in which a Board
member may already have an interest. Any potential investments where there is a material conflict
of interest involving an employee, officer or director of the Company may only proceed after
receiving approval from the disinterested directors of the Board. The Company is also subject to
the “related party” transaction policies of the TSX Venture Exchange, which mandates
disinterested shareholder approval and valuations to certain transactions.
Prior to making any investment commitment, the Company shall adopt procedures for checking
for potential conflicts of interest, which shall include but not be limited to a circulation of the names
of a potential target corporation and its affiliates to the Board and Management.
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All members of the Board shall be obligated to disclose any interest in the potential investment.
In the event a conflict is detected, the target corporation shall be notified of the potential conflict in
writing. The members of the Board and its advisors shall be responsible for detecting a potential
conflict.
Where a conflict is determined to exist within Management or the Board, the individual having a
conflicting interest shall provide full disclosure of their interest in the potential investment and, if
such person is a Board member, shall abstain from voting on the investment decision but may
participate in discussions regarding the potential investment opportunity.
Amendment
The Company’s investment objectives, strategy and restrictions and other provisions of this
Investment Policy may be amended from time to time on the recommendation of Management
and approval by the Board. Unless required by the TSX Venture Exchange, approval by the
Company’s shareholders of any such amendments is not required.
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CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY
Dated: August 14, 2020
This prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities previously issued by
Nova Royalty Corp. as required by the securities legislation of British Columbia and Alberta.

(signed) “Alex Tsukernik”
Alex Tsukernik
Chief Executive Officer

(signed) “Douglas Reed”
Douglas Reed
Chief Financial Officer

On Behalf of the Board of Directors
(signed) “Parviz Farsangi”
Parviz Farsangi
Director

(signed) “Denis Silva”
Denis G. Silva
Director
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